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Take a closer look.

Yes, we're still Deluxe Corporation, the com-
pany that's been printing checks for almost
90 years. But if that's the only way you know
us, you're missing a big piece of the story.
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The integrity of our internal controls and
financial statements continues to be a top
priority at Deluxe. Rather than elaborote
here, | refer you to the enclosed 10-K. It
documents our compliance with Section 404
of the Sarbanes-Oxley legislation, along
with the independent registered public
accounting firm’s report.

New board members
Deluxe added three new board members in
2004:

*Williom A. Hawkins, 111, President and
Chief Operating Officer of Medtronic,
Inc.

*T. Michael Glenn, Executive Vice
President - Market Development and
Corporate Communications with FedEx
Corporation, and President and Chief
Executive Officer, FedEx Corporate
Services

* Isaich (lke) Harris, Jr., President,
BellSouth Enterprises.

I'm very pleased that we were able to add
three individuals of this caliber to our board
within a single year. Their bios are printed
in the enclosed proxy statement.
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Salipante, who is not standing for re-
election this year. Bob has been on Deluxe's
board since 1996, and was chair of the
audit committee at o time when U.S.
corporate accounting practices came
under intense scrutiny. Through Bob's
leadership and support, Deluxe estab-
lished best practices for our accounting
and auditing functions. Thanks, Bob.
You will be missed.

Thank you

Before closing, | want fo thank all 9,000
Deluxe employees for an excellent year,
with a special thanks going out to those
people who worked so tirelessly on the
NEBS acquisition and subsequent integra-
tion. It hasn’t even been a year yet, but
we've made tremendous strides in bringing
two great companies together. I think the
slogan being used in some of our facilities
says it all: Working together, winning
together!

Happy birthday to us!

Between the time you read this shareholder
letter and the next one, Deluxe will turn 90
years old (November 23, 2005). As the
business world becomes more global, and
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companies that barely resemble the origins
ones, it's quite an honor to reach this mile
stone. | believe W.R. Hotchkiss, Deluxe’s
tounder, would be proud of the
Company we've become.

| have mixed emotions knowing
won't be the one writing next
year’s letter. | publidy announcs
my intent to retire, as both CEQ
and chairman, some time in 2005. As you
read the contents of this folder and cast yo
proxy vote, Deluxe’s board of directors is
actively seeking my successor. | am confide
my replacement will possess impeccable
skills and character, and that he or she wil
lead Deluxe into a future that is as bright
and productive as the Company’s first 90
years.

| wish each one of you the best.
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savings. The shared services concept is sim-
ple: bring together functions that are fre-
quently duplicated across the company and
then offer these services more efficiently
and at a lower cost.

The benefits of shared services include:
* Greater efficiencies.
» Standardized processes.
* Continued improvements.
* Reduced waste.
* The ability of one part of the business
to benefit from another’s successes.

Still lean

Our operating approath continues fo focus
on being “lean"—delivering customer
value in a process that eliminates waste.
We have implemented lean concepts in
manufacturing, the function most often
associated with lean. We've taken lean fur-
ther, however, streamlining our processes in
finance and human resources as well. We
believe we will continue fo realize the ben-
efits of lean principles as we introduce

them to our call centers, supply chain, and
IT.

Further consolidations

Efficiencies gained through the shared serv-
ices model are helping us do more with
less; they contributed to the consolidation
of six facilities in 2004—Anniston, Ala.
(Designer Checks); San Jose, Calif.; Dallas,
Texas; Indianapolis, Ind.; Pitisburgh, Pa.
(Financial Services); and Tucker, Ga.
(NEBS). In January of 2005, we announced
our intention to close two additional facili-
ties: Athens, Ohio and Commerce (LA),
Calif. {both NEBS).

Product and service updates
Deluxe recently introduced two products to
address identity theft, one of foday’s
fastest-growing crimes. Identity theft fre-
quently is a fraumatic experience for con-
sumers and can create a liability for Fls.

ID TheftBlock™
After a successful pilot, Financial Services
launched Deluxe ID TheftBlock, a suite of

-

that includes:

* Check order screening.

* Daily credit monitoring.

* Assistance in resolving fraud issues.

* Identity theft insurance.

* A comprehensive membership kit that
indludes, among other items, an initial
credit report.

We are marketing Deluxe ID ThefiBlock on
behalf of our Fl clients through proadtive
promotional channels during the check-
ordering process. The service will generate
additional revenue for Fls and be particu-
larly appealing to smaller banks and credit
unions that lack the resources to imple-
ment idenfity theft protection solutions of
their own.

Deluxe Detect™

While Deluxe's ID TheftBlock service is
aimed at consumers, a second fraud-pre-
vention product, Deluxe Detect, is geared
toward Fls. This relationship-screening tool
enables Fls to reduce fraud at their first
line of defense—the new accounts desk.
Deluxe Defect alerts Fls to high-risk
deposits and payments, as well as suspi-
Cious identities; it's possible due to a
strategic alliance between Financial
Services and Primary Payment Systems Inc.
(PPS), an affiliate of First Data Corp. New
account applicants are screened against the
PPS Early Warning® databases, which con-
tain both public and non-public informa-
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data, but also allows them to open more
accounts with confidence, and earns them
revenue when information they've con-
tributed to the database benefits another Fl.

Deluxe Knowledge Exchange Series
Financial Services continues to differentiate
itself from the competition through its
Deluxe Knowledge Exchange Series—
events, quarterly publications, and Web
seminars designed to identify and solve cus-
tomer issues intrinsic to the financial servic-
es industry. Since its inception in 2003, the
Knowledge Exchange has acquired nearly
3,000 subscribers.

A higher dividend

Early in 2005 we increased our regular
quarterly dividend, a decision that reflects
the strong cash flows generated by our busi-
nesses. Our annual dividend is now $1.60
per share.

As things change, some stay
the same

While Deluxe is a lot different today

than it was a year ago, there are a number
of qualities that are so fundamental to the
Company, they will never change. For
example, the shared values I've talked
about in previous shareholder letters.
Recently, we've updated our Business
Alignment Model to reflect the integrated
NEBS and Deluxe cultures.

Business Alignment Model
Shared Values

Openness, Recognition Respect Customer Partnering
Trust, and and and Dignity Focus for the Innovation
Integrity Celebration for All Common Goal

Vision




New England Business Service (NEBS) in
June of 2004. The acquisition:

* Expanded our small business customer
base from 3 million to more than 6
million.

* Substantially broadened the quantity
and breadth of our product offerings.
We believe we now have the most com-
prehensive collection of business forms,
stationery, promotional products, pack-
aging, checks, and related products for
small businesses.

* Added many industry-leading brands
and a very dedicated group of employ-
ges.

* Expanded our presence in the channels
we use to reach small business cus-
tomers, and increased our ability to
serve existing cus-
tomers more effectively.

* Pasitions us as a lead-
ing resource in the
small business products
and services space.

The NEBS acquisition met all the criteria
we established in the acquisition strategy
we communicated. It will benefit Deluxe
from a corporate-wide perspective, allow-
ing us fo:

* Leverage our core competencies, gener-
ate profitable revenue growth, and
increase our operating efficiencies.

*Grow as a single company more rapidly
and profitably than as two separate
ones.

* Deliver value for our shareholders.

Integration benefits in the last half of the
year exceeded our expectations. Employees
from both organizations jumped into the
myriad of tasks that
accompany such an
acquisition, allowing us
to identify and quickly
realize both synergies
and opportunities for
the new organization.
Our efforts paid off in
Deluxe’s year-end

Meeting the needs
of small businesses

earnings per share of $3.92. The
NEBS businesses contributed $363
million to our year-over-year rev-
enue increase, and $23 million of
the $29 million increase in operating
income.

We expect the synergies to continue
to deliver cost efficiencies and gener-
ate at least $25 million dollars in
annual cost savings in 2005.

In the first six months after the
acquisition, we divested the France
and United Kingdom portion of the
NEBS business, a result of our strate-
gy to focus on customers and clients in
North America. In addition, we have
announced our intent to sell PremiumWear,
a NEBS business that designs and supplies
apparel and accessories to the promotional
products and golf industries. This divesti-
ture will allow us to devote our resources
to the many critical initiatives underway in
our Small Business Services segment.

Why small businesses?

Based on raw numbers and the outlook for
growth, small business is big business. The
U.S. government estimaes there are 24 mil-
lion small businesses in the United States. We
believe we serve about one fourth of them.
While 25 percent is a substantial reach, the
75 percent that aren't current customers rep-
resents o huge untapped potential. We antici-
pate that, beginning in 2006, growth in our
Small Business Services segment will offset
the expected revenue decline in Financial
Services and Direct Checks related fo the
gradual reduction in the number of checks
being written.

Marketing checks and
of financial institutions  related products directly
to end consumers

Although we have heightened our focus on
small businesses and our more diverse
product mix will significantly increase our
non-check revenues, the thousands of rela-
tionships we have with financial institutions
(Fls) are critical to our future. Our Fl clients
will benefit from the NEBS acquisition
because the small business customer
prospects they refer to us will be served
more effectively and have access to our
expanded line of products and services.

A new company structure:
similar, but different

If you were to look at a visual representa-
tion of Deluxe before and after the acquisi-
tion, you wouldn't see a lot of change.
We're still organized into three business
segments. Financial Services and Direct
Checks are the same. Our third segment,
Small Business Services, consists of our for-
mer Business Services segment plus the
NEBS companies.

A shared
services
operations model
We continue to move
toward a shared services
environment, something
we started in 1998. With
the recent NEBS acquisi-
tion, this approach cre-




Deluxe Corporation

' , 3680 Victoria Street N.
. Shoreview, MN 55126-2966
® P.O. Box 684235

DELUXE St. Paul, MN 55164-0235

www.deluxe.com

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
TO BE HELD APRIL 27, 2005

To the Shareholders of Deluxe Corporation:

The 2005 annual meeting of shareholders will be held at the Deluxe Corporation headquarters
located at 3680 Victoria Street North, Shoreview, Mlnnesota on Wednesday, April 27, 2005, at 2:00 p:m.
Central Daylight Time for the followmg purposes:

1. To elect ten directors to hold office until the 2006 annual meeting of shareholder's.

2. To consider and act upon a proposal to ratify the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
. as independent auditors of Deluxe for the year ending December 31, 2005.

3. To take action on any other business that may properly come before the meeting and any
adjournment thereof.

Shareholders of record at the close of business on March 7, 2005 are entitled to vote at the
meeting and at any adjournment thereof.

Whether or not you expect to be present at the meeting, please complete, sign, date and
return the enclosed proxy card as soon as possible or follow the instructions on the proxy card
for voting via telephone or over the internet to ensure the presence of a quorum and save Deluxe
further solicitation expense. For your convenience, a return envelope is enclosed that requires no
postage if mailed in the United States. If you decide to attend the meeting and vote in person, you
may withdraw your proxy.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Anthony C. Scarfone
Secretary

March 25, 2005
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INFORMATION CONCERNING, SOLICITATION AND VOTING

What is the purpose of the meeting?

At our annual meeting, shareholders will act upon the matters disclosed in the Notice of Annual
" Meeting of Shareholders that preceded this proxy statement. There are two proposals scheduled to be
voted on at the meeting:

s Elect ten directors;
o Ratify the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Deluxe’s independent auditors.

We will also consider any other business that may properly be presented at the meeting, and
management will report on Deluxe’s performance during the last ﬂscal year and respond to questions
from shareholders.

The Board of Directors of Deluxe is asking you to vote on the proposed items of business. This
proxy statement and form of proxy, along with our annual report to shareholders, are first being sent to
shareholders on or about March 28, 2005.

How does the Board recommend that | vote?
The Board of Directors recommends a vote:

e FOR all of the nominees for director;

¢ FOR the ratification of the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Deluxe's
independent auditors for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2005.

Who is entitled to vote at the meeting?

The Board has set March 7, 2005, as the record date for the meeting.. If you were a shareholder
of record at the close of business on March 7, 2005, you are entitled to vote at the meeting. You have
one vote for each share of common stock you held on the record date.

As of the record date, 50,505,120 shares of Deluxe common stock were outstanding. Deluxe
does not have any other class of capital stock outstanding.

How many shares must be present to hold the meeting?

A quorum is necessary to hold the meeting and conduct business. The presence of shareholders
who can direct the vote (with respect to the election of directors) of at least a majority of the outstanding
shares of common stock as of the record date is con3|dered a quorum. A shareholder is counted present
at the meeting if:

e the shareholder is present and votes in person at the meeting; or
» the shareholder has properly submitted a proxy or voted by telephone or via the internet.

What is the difference between a shareholder of record and a “street name” holder?
If your shares are registered directly in your name, you are considered the shareholder of record
with respect to those shares , .

* If your shares are held in a stock brokerage account or by a bank or other nominee, you are
considered the beneficial owner of the shares, and your shares are held in “street name”.

How do | vote my shares?
If you are a shareholder of record, you can give a proxy to be voted at the meeting either:
e overthe telephohe by calling 1-800-240-6326;
» electronically, using the internet at http://www.eproxy.com/dIx; or

e by mailing the enclosed proxy card.
’ 1



The telephone and internet voting procedures have been set up for your convenience. The
procedures have been designed to authenticate your identity, to allow you to give voting instructions, and
to confirm that those instructions have been recorded properly. If you are a shareholder of record and
you would like to vote by telephone or by using the internet, please refer to the specific instructions on the
enclosed proxy card. If you wish to vote using the paper proxy card, please return your signed proxy card
to us before the meeting. You may also vote in person at the meeting. ‘

If you hold your shares in street name, you must vote your shares following the procedures '
indicated to you by your broker or nominee on the enclosed voting instruction card.

What does it mean if | receive more than one proxy card?

It means you hold shares registered in more than one account. To ensure that all of your shares
are voted, sign and return each proxy card or, if you vote by telephone or via the internet, vote once for
each proxy card you receive. If you wish to consolidate your accounts, please contact our stock transfer
agent, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., at P.O. Box 64854, St. Paul, Minnesota 55164 or by telephone at 800-
468-9716 (toll-free).

In addition to a proxy card, you may also receive a “voting instructions” card which appears very
similar to a proxy card. Voting instructions are prepared by brokers, banks or other nominees for
shareholders who hold shares in street name.

Can | vote my shares in person at the meeting?

Yes. If you are a shareholder of record, you may vote your shares at the meeting by completing
a ballot at the meeting. However, even if you currently plan to attend the meeting, we recommend that
you submit your proxy ahead of time so that your vote will be counted if, for whatever reason, you later
decide not to attend the meeting.

If you hold your shares in street name, you may vote your shares in person at the meeting only if
you obtain a signed proxy from your broker, bank or other nominee giving you the right to vote such
shares at the meeting.

What vote is required to elect directors?
In accordance with Minnesota law, directors are elected by a plurality of votes cast. The ten
nominees receiving the highest number of votes will be elected.

What vote is required on proposals other than the election of directors?

With respect to each item of business to be voted on at the meeting other than the election of
directors, the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares present and entitled to vote with respect to that
item is required for the approval of the item (provided that the total number of shares voted in favor of the
proposal constitutes more than 25% of the outstanding shares).

How are votes counted?

Shareholders may either vote “FOR” or “WITHHOLD" authority to vote for the nominees for the
Board of Directors. Shareholders may also vote “FOR,” “AGAINST” or “ABSTAIN" on the other
proposals.

If you vote ABSTAIN or WITHHOLD, your shares will be counted as present at the meeting for
the purposes of determining a quorum.

. If you ABSTAIN from voting on the proposals, your abstention has the same effect as a vote
against those proposals. If you WITHHOLD authority to vote for one of the directors, this has the same
effect as a vote against the director(s).

~ If you hold your shares in street name and do not provide voting instructions to your broker or
nominee, your shares will not be voted on any proposal for which your broker does not have discretionary
authority to vote. In this situation, a “broker non-vote” occurs. Shares that constitute broker non-votes
will be present at the meeting for the purpose of determining a quorum, but are not considered as entitled
to vote on the proposal in question. :




What if | do not specify how | want my shares voted?

If you do not specify on your returned proxy card (or when giving your proxy by telephone or via
the internet) how you want to vote your shares, we will vote them:

» FOR the election of all-of the nominees for director;

¢ FOR the ratification of the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Deluxe's
independent auditors for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2005.

Can | change my vote?

Yes. You may change your vote and revoke your proxy at any time before it is voted at the
meeting in any of the following ways: )

» by sending a written notice of revocation to the Corporate Secretary 5f Deluxe;

s by submitting another properly signed proxy card at a later date to the Corporate Secretary;
e by submitting another proxy by telephone or via the internet at a later date; or

e by voting in person at the meeting.

Who pays the cost of proxy preparation and solicitation?
' Deluxe pays for the cost of proxy preparation and solicitation, including the charges and
expenses of brokerage firms or other nominees for forwarding proxy materials to beneficial owners. We
have retained Georgeson Shareholder Communications, Inc., a proxy solicitation firm, to assist in the
solicitation of proxies for a fee of approximately $7,000, plus associated costs and expenses.

We are soliciting proxies primarily by mail. In addition, proxies may be solicited by telephone or
facsimile, or personally by directors, officers and regular employees of Deluxe. These individuals receive
no compensation (other than their regular salaries) for these services.

STOCK OWNERSHIP ANDREPORTING

Director and Executive Officer Ownership Guidelines

The Board has established stock ownership guidelines for directors and executive officers.
These guidelines set ownership targets for each director and executive officer, with the expectation that
the target be achieved within five years of the time the individual first became a non-employee director or
executive officer, whichever is applicable. The Board also maintains guidelines restricting a director's or
officer's ability to sell shares received upon the exercise of options or vesting of other stock-based awards
until they have achieved their ownership targets. The ownership target for non-employee directors is
shares having a value of at least five (5) times the current Board retainer. Executive officers have targets
based on a multiple of annual base salary, as follows: five times base salary for the chief executive
officer; three times base salary for the chief operating officer; and two times base salary for all other
executives. All directors and executive officers either have achieved their targets or are on track to
achieve their targets within the required timeframe.



Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

The following table shows, as of March 7, 2005 (unless otherwise noted), the number of shares of
common stock beneficially owned by (1) each person who is known by Deluxe to beneficially own more
than five percent of Deluxe’s outstanding common stock, (2) each director and nominee for director of -
Deluxe, (3) each executive officer named in the Summary Compensation Table that appears elsewhere in
this proxy statement, and (4) all of the current directors, nominees and executive officers of Deluxe as a
group. Except as otherwise indicated, the shareholders listed in the table have sole voting and
investment powers with respect to the common stock owned by them.

Amount and Nature
of Beneficial

Name of Beneficial Owner Ownership Percent of Class
Barclays .., 6,495,553 12.86
Lawrence J. Mosner® ... ‘. 662,061 1.31
Ronald E. Eilers® oo 193,297 v
Douglas J. Treff® 145,060 .
Guy C. Feltz® ..., e, 85,159 *
Richard L. Schulte® ..., 125,152 *
T. Michael Glenn™ ..ot ‘ 1,329 .
Charles A. Haggerty® ..o, 17,797 o
Isaiah Harris, Jr.%..........cccoomiinicens 1,329 :
William A. Hawkins, 1109 2,338 *
Cheryl ‘Mayberry McKissack!™ ... 6,884 *
Stephen P. Nachtsheim™........... e, 17,938 *
Mary Ann O'Dwyer M, 3,486 *
Martyn R. Redgrave™ ..o, 10,903 o
Robert C. Salipante™ ... 15,332 * |
All directors, nominees and executivé officers
as a group (19 persons)™® ... ‘ 1,512,581 -3.00

* Less than 1%.




(1) Based on a Schedule 13G filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 10, 2004,
reporting beneficial ownership as of December 31, 2004 by Barclays Global Investors, NA.,
(3,883,191 shares), Barclays Global Fund Advisors (2,001,018 shares), Barclays Global Investors,
Ltd. (580,544 shares), and Palomino Limited (30,800 shares). These entities (the “Barclays
Reporting Group”) each have sole voting and dispositive power with respect to the number of shares
indicated after their respective names and the members of the Barclays Reporting Group are,
collectively, the beneficial owners of an aggregate of 6,495,553 shares of common stock.

(2) Includes 551,667 shares receivable upon the exercise of options that are currently exercisable or will
become exercisable within 60 days, and 5,200 shares of restricted stock.

(3) Includes 150,216 shares receivabie upon the exercise of options that are currently exercisable or will
become exercisable within 60 days, and 2,170 shares of restricted stock.

(4) Includes 122,285 shares receivable upon the exercise of options that are currently exercisable or will
become exercisable within 60 days, and 1,125 shares of restricted stock.

(5) Includes 68,467 shares receivable upon the exercise of options that are currently exercisable or will
become exercisable within 60 days, and 1,125 shares of restricted stock.

(8) Includes 109,718 shares receivable upon the exercise of options that are currently exercisable or will
become exercisable within 60 days, and 854 shares of restricted stock.

(7) Includes 1,000 shares of restricted stock that vest in equal instaliments on the dates of Deluxe’s next
three annual shareholder meetings.

(8) Includes 2,001 shares receivable upon the exercise of options that are currently exercisable or will
become exercisable within 60 days, and 4,796 restricted stock units received in lieu of director’s fees
pursuant to the deferral option under the Deluxe Corporation Non-Employee Director Stock and
Deferral Plan (the “Director Plan”). .

(9) Includes 1,000 shares of restricted stock that vest in equal installments on the dates of Deluxe’s next
three annual shareholder meetings, and 329 restricted stock units received in lieu of director's fees
pursuant to the deferral option under the Director Plan.

{10) Includes 1,000 shares of restricted stock that vest in equal installments on the dates of Deluxe’s next
three annual shareholder meetings, 334 shares receivable upon the exercise of options that are
currently exercisable or will become exercisable within 60 days, and 1,004 restricted stock units
received in lieu of director’s fees pursuant to the deferral option under the Director Plan.

(11) Includes 2,001 shares receivable upon the exercise of options that are currently exercisable or will
become exercisable within 60 days.

(12) Includes 4,001 shares receivable upon the exercise of options that are currently exercisable or will
become exercisable within 60 days, 1,000 shares held by the Nachtsheim Family Trust, and 9,966
restricted stock units received in lieu of director’'s fees pursuant to the deferral option under the
Director Plan. :

(13) Includes 667 shares of restricted stock that vest in equal installments on the dates of Deluxe’s next
two annual shareholder meetings, 334 shares receivable upon the exercise of options that are
currently exercisable or will become exercisable within 60 days, and 2,152 restricted stock units
received in lieu of director’s fees pursuant to the deferral option under the Director Plan.

(14) Includes 2,001 shares receivable upon the exercise of options that are currently exercisable or will
become exercisable within 60 days, and 5,902 restricted stock units received in lieu of director’s fees
pursuant to the deferral option under the Director Plan.

(15) Includes 3,001 shares receivable upon the exercise of options that are currently exercisable or will
become exercisable within 60 days.

(16) Includes 1,198,605 shares receivable upon the exercise of options that are currently exercisable or
will become exercisable within 60 days, 13,326 shares of restricted stock, and 24,149 restricted
stock units received in lieu of directors’ fees pursuant to the deferral option under the Director Plan.



Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Cohpliance

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and
related regulations, require Deluxe’s directors, executive officers and any persons holding more than 10%
of Deluxe’s common stock (collectively, “Reporting Persons”) to report their initial ownership of securities
of Deluxe and any subsequent changes in that ownership to the Securities and Exchange Commission.
‘The Commission has established specific due dates for these reports, and Deluxe is required to disclose
in this proxy statement any failure of a Reporting Person to file a required report by the applicable due
date. Based sclely on a review of the copies of these reports and written representations from the
executive officers and directors, we believe that all Reporting Persons.timely filed all required reports for
fiscal year 2004. ‘

ITEM 1: ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

'Nominees for Election

There are currently eleven individuals serving on the Board of Directors. As of the date of the
meeting, the Board has set the size of the Board at ten directors and recommends that the individuals
presented on the following pages be elected to serve-on the Board until the 2006 annual meeting of
‘shareholders. All of the nominees are current directors. In addition, with the exception of Messrs.

- Mosner and Eilers, all nominees have been determined by the Board to meet the independence
standards of the New York Stock Exchange (see the discussion of Director Independence in the “BOARD
STRUCTURE AND GOVERNANCE” section of this proxy statement). The only current director not
standing for reelection to the Board is Robert C. Salipante, who will be retiring from the Board effective as
of the meeting. ' ’

All of the nominees have consented to being named as a nominee in this proxy statement and
have indicated a willingness to serve if elected. However, if any nominee becomes unable to serve
before the election, the shares represented by proxies may be voted for a substitute designated by the
Board, unless a contrary instruction is indicated on the proxy. )

Mr. Mosner has previously announced his intention to retire in 2005, whereupon he would resign
as Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer. The Board of Directors has engaged
an executive search firm to identify Mr. Mosner’s successor as Chief Executive Officer, and Mr. Mosner
has agreed to continue in his roles as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer until his successor is named.
‘As a result, if the Board appoints a new Chief Executive Officer prior to the annual meeting, Mr. Mosner's
intention is to resign and not stand for reelection to the Board. If the Board does not appoint a new Chief
Executive Officer prior to the annual meeting, Mr. Mosner will stand for, reelection and resign at such time
_as his replacement is appointed by the Board.




RONALD E. EILERS ‘ : Age 57
Director Since August 2000.

President and Chief Operating Officer of Deluxe

Mr. Eilers has served as Deluxe’s Chief Operating Officer since December
2000. From August 1997 to December 2000, he was a Senior Vice President of
Deluxe and managed its Paper Payment Systems business. From February
1997 to August 1997, Mr. Eilers was President of Deluxe Direct, Inc., a
subsidiary of Deluxe, and from October 1996 to February 1997 was Vice
President of Deluxe Direct, Inc. '

T. MICHAEL GLENN Age 49
Director Since August 2004.

Executive Vice President, Market Development and Corporate Communications, FedEx Corporation

Mr. Glenn has served as Executive Vice President of Market Development and
Corporate Communications at FedEx Corporation (“FedEx") since February
1998. He is responsible for the corporation’s worldwide marketing and sales,
strategic planning and corporate communications at its six subsidiaries, as well
as overall management responsibility for the company’s information technology
function. He has been with FedEx since 1981.

CHARLES A. HAGGERTY Age 63
Director Since December 2000.

Chairman (Rétired), Western Digital Corporation

Mr. Haggerty was Chairman of the Board of Western Digital Corporation from
July 1983 until his retirement in June 2000. Mr. Haggerty was also Chief
Executive Officer of Western Digital from July 19983 to January 2000, and was
President from June 1992 to July 1993. Western Digital is a manufacturer of
hard disk drives. Mr. Haggerty is also a director of Beckman Coulter, Inc.,
Pentair, Inc., Imation Corp. and Engenio Information Technologies, a subsidiary
of LSI Logic Corporation.




ISAIAH HARRIS, JR. Age 52
Director Since August 2004. v

President, BellSouth Advertising & Publishing Group, Inc.

In December 2004, Mr. Harris was named President of BellSouth Advertising &
Publishing Group (A&P), a subsidiary of BellSouth Corporation (‘BellSouth”).
A&P is responsible for the marketing and publishing of The Real Yellow Pages®
from BellSouth, and includes BellSouth Advertising & Publishing Corporation,
The Berry Company, Stevens Graphics and IntelliVentures. He is also
responsible for the corporation’s European wireless telecommunications
operations. He has been with BellSouth since 1997 serving in various
executive positions, including President of BellSouth Enterprises from January
to December 2004, President of Consumer Services from September 2000 to
December 2003, and Vice President of Finance from January to September
2000.

WILLIAM A. HAWKINS, Il Age 51
Director 'since May 2004.

President and Chief Operating Officer, Medtronic, Inc.

In May 2004, Mr. Hawkins was named President and Chief Operating Officer of
Medtronic, Inc., 2 medical device company. From January 2002 until his
appointment as Chief Operating Officer, Mr. Hawkins served as Senior Vice
President of Medtronic, and President of its vascular business. Prior to joining
Medtronic, Mr. Hawkins served as Chief Executive Officer of Novoste

‘ Corporation, a medical device company, from 1998 to 2001.

CHERYL MAYBERRY McKISSACK Age 49
Director Since December 2000.

Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer, Nia Enterprises, LLC

Nia Enterprises, LLC is an interactive communications company for diversity
marketing and database services, of which Ms. Mayberry McKissack is also the
founder. From November 1997 to November 2000, Ms. Mayberry McKissack
served as Senior Vice President and General Manager of worldwide sales and
marketing for Open Port Technology, Inc., a provider of internet infrastructure
messaging solutions. Ms. Mayberry McKissack also serves as director of
Private Bancorp, Inc. :




LAWRENCE J. MOSNER Age 63
Director Since August 1999. ~

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Deluxe

Prior to being named Deluxe’s Chairman and Chief Executive in December
2000, Mr. Mosner served as Vice Chairman, a position he assumed in August
1999. Before being named Vice Chairman, Mr. Mosner served as Executive
Vice President of Deluxe with overall responsibility for Deluxe’s day-to-day
operations from July 1997 until April 1999, at which point he was designated to
lead Deluxe’s initiative to restructure Deluxe’s various businesses and evaluate
strategic alternatives for enhancing shareholder value. From February to July
1997, Mr. Mosner was Senior Vice President of Deluxe and served as President
of its Paper Payment Systems business. From November 1995 until February
1997, Mr. Mosner served as Senior Vice President of Deluxe and President of
Deluxe Direct, Inc., a subsidiary of Deluxe that included all of its business units
selling direct to consumers and direct to small business customers.

STEPHEN P. NACHTSHEIM , | Age 60
Director Since November 1995.

Vice President (Retired), Intel Corporation

Mr. Nachtsheim was a Corporate Vice President of Intel Corporation, a designer
and manufacturer of integrated circuits, microprocessors and other electronic
components, and the co-director of Intel Capital from 1998 until his retirement in
July 2001, From 1994 until 1998, Mr. Nachtsheim served as the General
Manager of Intel's Mobile/Handheld Products Group.

MARY ANN O’'DWYER Age 49
Director Since October 2003. :

Senior Vice President - Finance and Operétions and Chief Financial Officer, Wheels, inc.

Ms. O’'Dwyer joined Wheels, Inc. in 1991 and has been their chief financial
officer since 1994. She also has held the position.of Senior Vice President —
Finance and Operations since 2000. Wheels, Inc. is a major provider of
automotive fleet management services. Ms. O’'Dywer also serves as a director
of Wheels, Inc.




MARTYN R. REDGRAVE . Age 52
Director Since August 2001. ’

Executive Vice President and Chief Administrative Officer, Limited Brands, Inc.

In March of this year, Mr. Redgrave became Executive Vice President and Chief
Administrative Officer of Limited Brands, Inc., an international operator of
specialty retail stores and direct marketing organization. Prior to joining Limited
Brands, Mr. Redgrave served for eleven years as the Executive Vice President-
Finance and Chief Financial Officer of Carlson Companies, Inc., a worldwide
provider of hospitality, travel and marketing services.

The Board of Directors recommends that you vote FOR the election of each nominee
named above.

[Left blank intentionally]
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BOARD STRUCTURE AND GOVERNANCE

Board Oversight and Director Independence

Deluxe’s business, property and affairs are managed under the general direction of our Board of
Directors. In providing this oversight, the Board adheres to a set of Corporate Governance Guidelines
designed to ensure that the Board has access to relevant information, and is structured and operates in a
manner allowing it to exercise independent business judgment. The complete text of Deluxe’s Corporate
Governance Guidelines is posted on the Investor Relations page of our website at www.deluxe. com
under the “Corporate Governance” caption.

A critical component of our corporate governance philosophy is that a majority of our directors,
and preferably a substantial majority, be individuals who meet strict standards of independence, meaning
that they have no relationship with Deluxe, directly or indirectly, that could impair their ability to make
objective and informed judgments regarding all matters of significance to Deluxe and its shareholders.
The listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange (*NYSE") require that a majority of our directors be
independent, and that our Corporate Governance, Audit and Compensation Committees be comprised
entirely of independent directors. In order to be deemed independent, a director must be determined by
the Board to have no material relationship with Deluxe other than as a director. In accordance with the
NYSE listing standards, our Board has adopted formal Director Independence Standards setting forth the
specific criteria by which the independence of our directors will be determined, including restrictions on
the nature and extent of any affiliations directors and their immediate family members may have with
Deluxe, its independent auditors, or any commercial or not-for-profit entity with which Deluxe has a
relationship. Consistent with regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), our
Director Independence Standards also prohibit Audit Committee members from accepting, directly or
indirectly, any consulting, advisory or other compensatory fee from Deluxe, other than in their capacity as
Board or Committee members. The complete text of our Director Independence Standards is attached as
Appendix A to this proxy statement and also is posted on the Investor Relations page of our website at
www.deluxe.com under the “Corporate Governance” caption.

The Board has determined that every director and nominee, with the exceptions of Messrs.
Mosner and Eilers, satisfies our Director independence Standards. The Board also has determined that

every member of its Corporate Governance, Audit and Compensation Committees is an mdependent
durector

Meetings and Committees of the Board of Directors

There were seven (7) meetings of the Board of Directors in 2004. Each director attended, in
person or by telephone, at least 75% of the aggregate of all meetings of the Board and its committees on
which he or she served during the year. It also is our policy that directors attend our annual shareholder
meetings, and all such directors are expected to be in attendance at this year's meeting. All individuals
then serving as directors attended last year's annual meeting of shareholders.

The Board of Directors has four standing committees:
¢ Audit Committee
¢ Compensation Committee
e Corporate Governance Committee
¢ Finance Committee
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Each of the Board committees has a written charter, approved by the Board, establishing the
authority and responsibilities of the committee. Each committee’s charter is posted on the Investor
Relations page of our website at www.deluxe.com under the “Corporate Governance” caption. The
following tables provide a summary of each committee’s responsibilities, the number of meetings of each
committee during the last fiscal year and the names of the directors currently serving on each committee.

Audit Committee

Responsibilities

Appoints and replaces the independent auditor, subject to ratification by
our shareholders, and oversees the work of the independent auditor.
Pre-approves all auditing services and permitted non-audit services to be
performed by the independent auditor, including related fees.

Reviews and discusses with management and the independent auditor
our annual audited financial statements and recommends to the Board
whether the audited financial statements should be mcluded in Deluxe’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Reviews and discusses with management and the independent auditor
our quarterly financial statements and the associated earnings news .
releases.

Reviews and discusses with management and the independent auditor
significant reporting issues and judgments relating to the preparation of
our financial statements, including the adequacy of internal controls.
Reviews and discusses with the independent auditor our critical
accounting policies and practices, alternative treatments of financial
information within generally accepted accounting principles that have
been discussed with management, and other material written
communications between the independent auditor and management.
Discusses with management Deluxe’'s major financial risk exposures.
Oversees the work of our internal auditors.

‘'Reviews the effectiveness of Deluxe’s legal and ethical compliance
programs and maintains procedures for the receipt, retention and handling

of complaints by employees regarding accounting, internal controls and
auditing matters.

Compensation Committee

Number of meetings in
2004: 10

Directors who serve on the
committee:

Martyn R. Redgrave, Chair
Isaiah Harris, Jr.

William A. Hawkins, Ili
Cheryl Mayberry McKissack
Mary Ann O'Dwyer

Responsibilities

Develops our executive compensation philosophy.

Evaluates and recommends incentive compensation plans for executive
officers and other key managers, and all equity-based compensation
plans, and oversees the administration of these and other employee
compensation and benefit plans.

Reviews and approves corporate goals and objectives relating to the
CEO’s compensation, leads an annual evaluation of the CEQ’s
performance in light of those goals and objectives, and determines the
CEO’s compensation based on this evaluation.

Reviews and approves other executive officers’ compensatlon
Establishes incentive compensation goals and performance
measurements applicable to our executive officers.

Number of meetings in
2004: 5

Directors who serve on the
committee:

" Robert C. Salipante, Chair
T. Michael Glenn

William A. Hawkins, [l|
Cheryl Mayberry McKissack
Stephen P. Nachtsheim




Corporate Governance Committee

Responsibilities

Reviews and recommends the size and composition of the Board, including

. the mix of employee and independent directors.

[ ]

Establishes criteria and procedures for identifying and evaluating potential
Board candidates. '

Reviews nominations received from the Board or shareholders, and
recommends candidates for election to the Board, after consultation with the
CEO. '
Establishes policies and procedures to ensure the effectiveness of the
Board, including policies regarding term limits, review of qualifications of
incumbent directors, and conflicts of interest.

Establishes guidelines concerning the conduct and format of Board
meetings.

Oversees the annual assessment of the Board's performance.

In consultation with the CEO, reviews and recommends to the Board the
amount and form of all compensation paid to directors.

Recommends to the Board the size, composition and responsibilities of ali
Board committees.

Reviews and recommends candidates for executive officer positions and
monitors management succession plans developed by the CEO.
Develops and recommends corporate governance guidelines, policies and
procedures.

Finance Committee

Number of meetings in
2004: 5

Directors who serve on the

committee:

Stephen P. Nachtsheim,
Chair

Charles A. Haggerty

Isaiah Harris, Jr.

Cheryl Mayberry McKissack

Responsibilities

Evaluates the financial impact of acquisitions and divestitures valued in
excess of $5 million and reviews other material transactions outside the
scope of normal on-going business activity.

Reviews and recommends policies concerning corporate finance matters,
including capitalization, investment of assets and debt/equity guidelines.
Reviews and recommends policy relating to declarations of shareholder
dividends.

Reviews and recommends the financial strategy concerning the sale,
repurchase or split of Deluxe securities. . |

Number of meetings in
2004: 10

Directors who serve on the
committee: ‘
Charles A. Haggerty, Chair

T. Michael Glenn

Mary Ann O’'Dwyer

Martyn R. Redgrave

Robert C. Salipante

Corporate Governance Principles

As indicated above, our Board has adopted a set of Corporate Governance Guidelines to assist it
in carrying out its oversight responsibilities.” These Guidelines address a broad range of topics, including
director qualifications, director nomination processes, term limits, Board and committee structure and
process, Board evaluations, director education, CEO evaluation, management succession planning and
conflicts of interest. The complete text of the Guidelines is posted on the Investor Relations page of our
website at www.deluxe.com under the “Corporate Governance” caption.
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Code of Ethics and Business Conduct

All of our directors and employees, including our chief executive officer, chief financial officer,
chief accounting officer and other senior executives, are required to comply with our Code of Ethics and
Business Conduct (“Code of Ethics”) to help ensure that our business is conducted in accordance with
the highest standards of legal and ethical behavior. Our Code of Ethics requires strict adherence to the
letter and spirit of all laws and regulations applicable to our business and covers all areas of professional
conduct, including customer relationships, respect for co-workers, conflicts of interest, insider trading, the
integrity of our financial recordkeeping and reporting, and the protection of our intellectual property and
* confidential information. Employees are required to bring any violations and suspected violations of the

Code of Ethics to Deluxe's attention through management or Deluxe’s legal counsel, or by using our
confidential compliance Hotline. .

The full text of our Code of Ethics is posted on the Investor Relations page of our website at
www.deluxe.com under the “Corporate Goverhance” caption.

Board Composition and Qualifications

Our Corporate Governance Commitiee oversees the process for identifying and evaiuating
candidates for the Board of Directors. Directors and nominees for director should be qualified individuals
with diverse backgrounds who possess the experience and knowledge to enable them to contribute
effectively to the evaluation of our business strategies and to the Board’s oversight role. The Corporate
Governance Committee believes that the predominance of Board members should have a background in
business and should include both actively employed and retired senior corporate officers, and that
directors should range in age so as to maintain a sound balance of board tenure and experience, as well
as staggered retirement dates. ‘

The Board of Directors has established the following specific guidelines for nominees
to the Board: :

e A majority of the Board must be comprised of independent directors, the current standards for
which are discussed above under “Board Oversight and Director Independence.”

» No non-employee nominee should be over the age of 67 on the date of their initial election to
the Board, and no director should be nominated for reelection to the Board after his or her
72™ birthday.

+« Non-employee directors méy not be nominated for reelection to the Board following the
twelfth anniversary of their initial election to the Board, with certain exceptions.

* A non-employee director who ceases to hold the employment position held at the time of
election to the Board, or who has a significant change in position, should offer to resign. The
Corporate Governance Committee will then consider whether the change of status is likely to
impact the director's qualifications and make a recommendation to the Board as to whether
the resignation should be accepted.

o -Employee directors who terminate employment with Deluxe should offer to resign. The '
Board will then decide whether to accept the director’s resignation, provided that no more
than one former chief executive officer should serve on the Board at any one time.

Other selection criteria used to evaluate potential candidates may include successful senior level
business management experience or experience that fulfills a specific need, prior experience and proven
accomplishment as a director of a public company, commitment to attending Board and committee
meetings, a reputation for honesty and integrity, interest in serving the needs of shareholders, employees
and communities in which we operate, and compatibility with existing directors.
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Director Selection Process

- All Board members are elected annually by our shareholders, subject to the Board’s right to fill
vacancies in existing or new director positions on an interim basis. Based on advice from the Corporate
Governance Committee, each year the Board will recommend a slate of directors to be presented for
election at the annual meeting of shareholders.

The Corporate Governance Committee will consider candidates submitted by members of the
Board and our shareholders, and the Committee will review such candidates in accordance with our
bylaws and applicable legal and regulatory requirements. Candidates nominated by shareholders are
evaluated in accordance with the same criteria and using the same procedures as candidates submitted
by Board members or the chief executive officer.

When a vacancy or a new position on the Board needs to be filled, the chief executive officer in
consultation with the Chair of the Corporate Governance Committee will draft a profile of the candidate he
or she believes would provide the most meaningful contributions to the Board as a whole. The profile will
be submitted to the Corporate Governance Committee for approval. The Corporate Governance
Committee has made it a practice in recent years to engage third-party search firms to assist it in
identifying suitable candidates. The firm(s) selected, as well as the specific terms of the engagement,
depend on the specific search criteria established by the Committee. Members of the Board also are
given the opportunity to submit names of potential candidates based on the profile developed. Each
candidate will be subject to an initial screening process after which the Corporate Governance Committee
will select the candidates that it wishes to interview. The Chair of the Board, chief executive officer and at
least a majority of the Corporate Governance Committee will interview each candidate and, concurrently

-with the interviews, the candidate will confirm his or her availability for regularly scheduled Board and

committee meetings. The Committee will also assess each candidate’s potential conflicts of interest. The
Committee will review the interviewers’ reports and recommendations, and make the final determination
as to which candidates will be recommended for election at the next Board meeting or annual meeting of
shareholders.

Our bylaws stipulate that if a shareholder wishes to nominate a candidate at the annual meeting
of shareholders, the shareholder must give written notice of the nomination to our chief executive officer
or Secretary no later than the deadline for submitting shareholder proposals for the applicable annual
meeting. The shareholder must attend the meeting with the candidate and propose the candidate's
nomination for election to the Board at the meeting. The shareholder's notice must set forth as to each
nominee (1) the name, age, business address and residence address of the person, (2) the principal
occupation or employment of the person, (3) the number of shares of our stock owned by the person, (4)
the written and acknowledged statement of the person that such person is willing to serve as a director,
and (5) any other information relating to the person that would be required to be disclosed in a solicitation
of proxies for election of directors pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended, if the candidate had been nominated by or on behalf of the Board. No shareholders
submitted director nominations in connection with this year's meeting. Any shareholders desiring to
present a candidate at the 2006 annual meeting of shareholders must do so prior to November 25, 2005.

Lead Independent Director; Executive Sessions

The Chair of our Corporate Governance Committee, Stephen Nachtsheim, currently is our
designated “Lead Independent Director.” In that role, Mr. Nachtsheim moderates all meetings or
executive sessions of the independent directors, and serves as the principal liaison between the
independent directors and the chief executive officer with respect to Board governance issues. Our
independent directors make it a practice tc meet in executive session without management present at
each Board meeting. Likewise, all Board committees regularly meet in executive session without

management.
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Communications with Directors

Any shareholders having concerns about our governance or business practices, or otherwise
wishing to communicate with our independent directors in their capacity as a shareholder, may submit
their concerns in writing to the Lead Independent Director or the independent directors as a group in the
care of the office of the Corporate Secretary at Deluxe’s headquarters.

Audit Committee Expertise; Complaint-Handling Procedures

In addition to meeting the independence requirements of the NYSE and the SEC, all members of
the Audit Committee have been determined by the Board to meet the financial literacy requirements of
the NYSE's listing standards. The Board also has determined that at least one member of the Audit
Committee, including Martyn Redgrave, the Committee Chair, is an “audit committee financial expert” as
defined by SEC regulations.

In accordance with federal law, the Audit Committee has adopted procedures governing the
receipt, retention and handling of complaints regarding accounting and auditing matters. These
procedures include a means for employees to submit concerns on a confidential and anonymous basis,
through Deluxe’s compliance Hotline.

Director Compensation

Directors who are employees of Deluxe do not receive compensation for their service on the
Board other than their compensation as employees. Non-employee directors each receive a $50,000
annual Board retainer, payable quarterly. The Board's Lead Independent Director receives an
incremental annual retainer, also payable quarterly, which was $5,000 in 2004, and was increased to
$20,000 effective January 1, 2005.

In order to fairly compensate non- employee directors for their service on Board committees, the
elements and responsibilities of which will fluctuate from time to time, committee members are paid fees
for each committee meeting attended, with the chair of each commiittee also receiving an annual retainer
for serving as the chair. In 2004, the chair of each committee received an annual retainer of $5,000, and
all committee members received $1,500 for each meeting attended in person and $750 for each meeting
attended telephonically. Effective as of January 1, 2005, the committee fee structure is as foliows:

Audit Committee Other Standing Committees
Chair Retainer $15,000 $5,000
In-Person Meeting Attendance $ 2,000 $1,500
Telephonic Meeting Attendance $ 1,000 - $ 750

Neon-employee directors also receive $1,500 for each approved site visit and director education
program attended, up to a maximum of five per year, and may receive additional compensation for the
performance of duties assigned by the Board or its committees that are considered beyond the scope of
the ordinary responsibilities of directors or committee members. For 2004, the only additional
compensation paid to directors related to the time and travel required by certain members of the
Corporate Governance Committee to interview potential Board candidates. These activities were
compensated at a per diem rate of $1,500, and no director received more than $6,000 for these services
in 2004.

Deluxe maintains a Non-Employee Director Stock and Deferral Plan (the “Director Plan”), which
was approved by shareholders as part of Deluxe’s 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended (the “Stock
Incentive Plan”). The purpose of the Director Plan is to provide an opportunity for non-employee directors
to increase their ownership of Deluxe’s common stock and thereby align their interest in the long-term
success of Deluxe with that of other shareholders. Under the Director Plan, each non-employee director
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must irrevocably elect to receive, in lieu of cash, shares of common stock having a fair market value equal
to at least 50% of his or her annual cash retainer and meeting fees. The shares of common stock
receivable pursuant to the Director Plan are issued quarterly or, at the option of the director, credited to
the director in the form of deferred restricted stock units. These restricted stock units vest and are
converted into shares of common stock on the earlier of the tenth anniversary of February 1st of the year
following the year in which the non-employee director ceases to serve on the Board or such other date as
is elected by the director in his or her deferral election (for example, upon termination of service as a
director). Each restricted stock unit entitles the holder to receive dividend equivalent payments equal to
the dividend payment on one share of common stock. Any restricted stock units issued pursuant to the
Director Plan will vest and be converted into shares of common stock in connection with certain defined
changes of control of Deluxe. All shares of common stock issued pursuant to the Director Plan are issued
under Deluxe’s Stock Incentive Plan and must be held by the non-employee director for a minimum
period of six months from the date of issuance.

Each new non-employee director elected to the Board receives a one-time grant of 1,000 shares
of restricted stock under the Stock Incentive Plan as of the date of his or her initial election to the Board.
The restricted stock vests in equal installments on the dates of Deluxe’s annual shareholder meetings in
each of the three years following the date of grant, provided that the director remains in office immediately
following the annual meeting. Restricted stock awards also vest immediately upon a non-employee

director’s retirement from the Board in accordance with Deluxe’s policy with respect to mandatory
retirement.

Under the terms of the Stock Incentive Plan, non-employee directors also are eligible to receive
non-qualified options to purchase shares of Deluxe's common stock to further assist them in achieving
and maintaining their established share ownership targets. All options granted to non-empioyee directors
have an exercise price equal to the fair market value of Deluxe's common stock on the date of grant and
otherwise are subject to the same material terms and conditions applicable to options then being awarded
to executive officers. All non-employee directors elected at the 2004 annual shareholders meeting were
granted 1,000 options upon their election, and it is anticipated that all non-employee directors elected or
reelected at this year's meeting will be granted another 1,000 options in 2005. The amount of future
grants will be at the discretion of the Compensation Committee (in consultation with the Corporate
Governance Committee), but may not exceed 5,000 options in any one year.

Non-employee directors who were elected to the Board prior to October 1997 also are eligible for
certain retirement payments under the terms of a Board retirement plan that has since been replaced by
the Director Plan. Under this predecessor plan, non-employee directors with at least five years of Board
service who retire, resign or otherwise are not nominated for reelection are entitled to receive an annual
payment equal to the annual Board retainer in effect on July 1, 1997 ($30,000 per year) for the number of
years during which he or she served on the Board prior to October 31, 1997. In calculating a Director's
eligibility for benefits under this plan, partial years of service are rounded up to the nearest whole number.
Retirement payments do not extend beyond the lifetime of the retiree and are contingent upon the
retiree's remaining available for consultation with management and refraining from engaging in any
activity in competition with Deluxe. Directors Nachtsheim and Salipante are eligible for benefits under this
plan.
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COMPENSATION OF EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Compensation Committee Report on Executive Compensation
Introduction

Deluxe is committed to an executive compensation approach that attracts, motivates and retains the best
possible executive taient for the benefit of our shareholders, supports Deluxe’s business objectives, and
aligns the interests of the executive officers with the long-term interests of our shareholders. We believe
these objectives are achieved by:

¢ Continually evaluating the competitiveness of our compensation programs relative to other
comparable organizations.

e Emphasizing performance-based pay through annual incentive opportunities that are leveraged
based on the achievement of specific business objectives.

e Providing equity-based incentives that promote long-term shareholder value creation.

e Delivering the majority of total compensation through performance-based pay linked to financial
results and shareholder returns.

¢ Ensuring that the executive officers hold meaningful equity stakes in Deluxe.

The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors (sometimes referred to in this report as the
“Committee”) has responsibility for our executive compensation philosophy and the design of executive
compensation programs. The Committee also determines the compensation paid to the chief executive
officer and reviews and approves compensation paid to other executive officers. The Committee is
composed entirely of “independent directors” as defined in the New York Stock Exchange corporate
governance rules.

The Committee has engaged, and regularly meets with, independent compensation consultants regarding
executive compensation levels and practices. For 2004, the Committee commissioned a competitive
market review of Deluxe’s executive compensation, retirement and benefit programs, as well as
severance arrangements. After éxtensive study and deliberation of an appropriate peer group, the
Committee used comparative data from a group of publicly-traded companies in the printing and
publishing industry to serve as a benchmark on the appropriate mix of compensation elements, overall
compensation levels, benefit practices and severance programs. In addition, data was drawn from
multiple published surveys of broader general industry practices, with a particular focus on industrial
companies with revenues comparable to Deluxe.

Executive Officer Compensation Program

Base salaries — The Committee annually reviews the base salaries of Deluxe’s executive officers. During
2004, base salaries of our executive officers were generally set at or near the median of salaries paid to
executive officers in similar positions. For the most recent fiscal year, three executive officers received
base salary increases averaging 4.2%. Mr. Schulte also received a base salary adjustment during 2004,
in recognition of his new responsibilities as President of Small Business Services. ‘

Annual incentive compensation — Executive officers and other management employees selected by the
Committee participate in Deluxe’s Annual Incentive Plan, which has been approved by the shareholders.
For 2004, all executive officers received performance-based payouts under the Annual [ncentive Plan as
disclosed in the Summary Compensation Table.

The 2004 target amounts approved by the Committee under the Annual incentive Plan were intended to
provide annual cash compensation (i.e., base salary plus bonus) approximating the median of the cash
compensation offered to executive officers in similar positions. Bonuses earned may exceed the targeh
amount if performance goals are exceeded, and are less than the target amount if the performance goals
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are not fully attained, with no bonus payouts if Deluxe’s performance is below certain minimum
acceptable levels.

For the executive officers, the two performance factors that were considered in determining incentive
compensation for 2004 under the Annual Incentive Plan were Deluxe Value Added (‘DVA”), a criterion
designed to measure Deluxe’s financial return in excess of a charge for capital employed, and revenues.
For executive officers with specific business unit responsibilities, 75% of the incentive opportunity was
linked to business unit DVA and revenue, and 25% of the incentive opportunity was linked to Deluxe's
consolidated DVA and revenue. The Committee believes that both DVA and revenue growth are, and will
continue to be, important drivers of long-term shareholder value creation.

Deluxe's DVA and revenue performance were above the established performance goals for 2004, which
reflected the mid-year acquisition of New England Business Service. Incentive compensation payments
made to the executive officers under the Annual incentive Plan for 2004 were at 171% of the targeted -
award levels, with the exception of Messrs. Feltz and Schuite, whose payments were also based on their
respective business units’ performance. The blended payout for Mr. Feltz was 170% of target while Mr.
Schulte's payout represented 176% of target.

Under the terms of the Annual Incentive Plan, executive officers may elect to receive all or a portion of
their annual incentive compensation in the form of restricted stock units. Officers making such elections
for 2004 received matching restricted stock units valued at 50% of the amount of foregone cash bonus,
which units vest two years from the date of grant. The value of the matching restricted stock units
awarded in accordance with these elections to the executive officers named in the Summary
Compensation Table is reflected in the Bonus column of the Summary Compensation Table.

For 2005, DVA and revenue will continue to serve as the primary performance measures. However, the
Annual Incentive Plan will have an increased weighting on revenue growth relative to DVA. In addition,
for some business units, a greater emphasis will be placed on Deluxe's corporate performance relative to
specific business unit performance. The Committee believes these changes will better align incentive
payments with Deluxe’s business strategy. .

Long-term incentive compensation — In 2004, Deluxe adopted a long-term incentive strategy based on
a combination of stock options, restricted stock and long-term performance shares. All executive officers,
together with other designated key employees, received grants of performance shares, stock options and
restricted stock in 2004. The Compensation Committee believes this compensation strategy achieves
several critical objectives, including: '

e Supporting and rewarding the achievement of Deluxe’s long-term strategy and objectives.
e Encouraging decisions and behaviors that will increase long-term shareholder value.
¢ Reinforcing the pay-for-per‘formance orientation of the overall executive compensation program.

o Allowing Deluxe to attract and retain key executive talent by providing competitive incentive and
total compensation opportunities.

¢ Promoting share ownership and facilitating achievement of the ownership guidelines.

The predominant long-term incentive component is performance shares. This component provides
executive officers with the opportunity to earn shares of Deluxe stock based on the achievement of three-
year performance goals. For performance shares awarded in 2004, the goals consist of a combination of
DVA and Deluxe's total shareholder return relative to a peer group of printing and publishing industry
companies. If, over the three-year performance Period, Deluxe achieves the three-year target DVA goal,
and Deluxe’s total shareholder return is at the 60" percentile relative to the peer group, executive officers
will earn their target performance share award. If performance exceeds the target performance levels the
executive officers could earn up to 200% of the target performance share awards, while performance
below target would result in executive officers earning fewer performance shares than the target award. |f
Deluxe’'s DVA and total shareholder return performance are below a certain threshoid, no performance
shares will be earned. '
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Option and restricted stock grants were also made in 2004. The options were granted at the fair market
value on the date of grant, have a seven-year term and vest in equal installments over three years. The
restricted stock awards vest at the end of three years.

The target value of performance share, stock option'and restricted stock grants for 2004 approximates
the median of the long-term incentive compensation provided to executive officers of comparable
organizations.

Retirement programs — Executive officers are eligible to participate in the same qualified retirement
programs available to all Deluxe employees. The program consists of three components including a
defined contribution pension plan, an annual profit sharing plan under which contributions are made
based on Deluxe's performance, and a 401(k) plan. Deluxe also has a non-qualified defined contribution
plan which restores benefits lost under the qualified plans due to ERISA limits. 2004 retirement plan
contributions for the executive officers are reflected in the Other Compensation column of the Summary
Compensation Table.

Stock ownership — Deluxe has established stock ownership guidelines for its executive officers, and the
Compensation Committee regularly reviews with management each executive officer’s progress toward
attaining his or her ownership targets. The current guidelines are as follows: for the chief executive
officer, five times base salary; for the chief operating officer, three times base salary; and for all other
executives, two times base salary. The guidelines call for the targeted levels of ownership to be achieved
within five years of the time the individual became an executive officer. Under the guidelines, all
executives have either achieved or are on track to achieve their targets within the prescribed time period.

In addition to the stock ownership guidelines, Deluxe has adopted share retention and holding period
requirements which apply to all executive officers. Under this policy, executives that have not achieved
their ownership targets must retain 75% of the net shares (i.e., shares remaining after exercise costs and
applicable taxes are covered) upon the exercise of stock options and vesting of other equity awards, and
are required to hold the shares until the ownership targets are met. Executives that have achieved their
ownership targets must retain 50% of the net shares upon the exercise of stock options for a period of six
months.

2004 CEO Compensation -

For 2004, Mr. Mosner received base compensation of $625,000, the same amount he was paid in 2003
Mr. Mosner also earned incentive compensation of $1,068,750 under the Annual Incentive Plan. As
described above, Mr. Mosner’'s 2004 incentive compensation was determined based on Deluxe’s
adjusted DVA and revenue against the performance standards set by the Compensation Committee. Mr.
Mosner elected to receive 100% of his annual incentive compensation in the form of restricted stock units
and, in accordance with the terms of the Annual Incentive Plan, received restricted stock units valued at
150% of that amount, as shown in the Summary Compensation Table in this proxy statement.

As did the Company’s other executives, in May 2004, Mr. Mosner received a long-term incentive grant
consisting of performance shares, stock options and restricted stock. Mr. Mosner was awarded a seven-
year, non-qualified stock option to purchase 25,000 shares of Deluxe common stock, exercisable at
$42.35 per share, the fair market value of a share of Deluxe common stock on the date of grant. The
option vests in three equal annual installments commencing on May 4, 2005. Mr. Mosner also received a
grant of 5,200 restricted shares with a fair market value of $220,220 on the date of grant. The restricted
stock will vest on May 4, 2007. In addition, Mr. Mosner received a target award of 11,520 performance
shares, which give him the opportunity to earn shares of stock based on the Company's three-year
cumulative DVA performance and total shareholder return versus a peer group of comparable printing
and publishing industry companies.

Compliance with Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code

Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, limits the deductibility of
compensation in excess of $1 million paid to certain executive officers, unless such compensation
qualifies as “performance-based compensation.” Among other things, in order to be deemed
performance-based compensation for Section 162(m) purposes, the compensation must be based on the
achievement of pre-established objective performance criteria and must be pursuant to a plan that has
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been approved by Deluxe’s shareholders. The Compensation Committee expects that all compensation
paid in 2004 to the executive officers under the plans and programs described above will qualify for
deductibility, either because the compensation is below the threshold for non-deductibility provided in
Section 162(m) or because the payment of such compensation complies with the provisions of Section
162(m).-

The Compensation Committee believes that it is important for Deluxe to continue to be able to take all
available tax deductions with respect to the compensation paid to its executive officers. Therefore,
Deluxe has taken such actions as may be necessary under Section 162(m) to continue to qualify for all
available tax deductions related to executive compensation.

MEMBERS OF THE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE
Robert C. Salipante, Chair

T. Michael Glenn

William A. Hawkins, Il

Cheryl Mayberry McKissack

Stephen P. Nachtsheim

[Left blank intentionally]
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Summary Compensation Table

The following table shows the cash and non-cash compensation for each of the last three fiscal
years awarded to or earned during the period by Deluxe’s chief executive officer and the next four most
highly compensated executive officers for 2004 (collectively, the “Named Executive Officers”).

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

ANNUAL LONG-TERM COMPENSATION
COMPENSATION" AWARDS
Securities
Restricted Underlying
Stock Options/ Ali Other

Name and Principal Position Year Salary Bonus Awards® SARs Compensation”
Lawrence J. Mosner 2004 $625,000 $1,603,125 $220,220 25,000 $61,149
Chairman and Chief 2003 $625,000 $ 421,875 .80 200,000 .$49,176
Executive Officer 2002 $625,000 $1,375,000 $0 180,000 $3,850,065
Ronald E. Eilers 2004 $450,000 $692,550 $91,900 10,650 $52,165
President and Chief 2003 $450,000 $164,025 30 110,000 $42,243
Operating Officer 2002 $450,000 $534,600 $0 110,000 $70,926
Douglas J. Treff 2004 $292,400 $350,002 $47,644 5,400 $35,921
Senior Vice President 2003 $283,300 $ 84,150 $0 36,000 $28,791
and Chief Financial 2002 $275,000 $272,250 $0 36,000 $43,648
Officer
Guy C. Feltz 2004 $283,300 - $355,187 $47644 - 5,400 $32,832
President — Deluxe 2003 $283,300 $ 19,900 $0 40,000 $34,204
Financial Services 2002 $275,000 $233,800 30 40,000 $45,351
and Direct Checks
Richard L. Schulte 2004 $267,500 $306,020 $36,167 4,155 $35,521
President — Small 2003 $220.000 $105,243 $0 30,000 $26,339
Business Services 2002 $220,000 $200,494 $0 30,000 $35,728

™ Amounts shown as base salary and bonus are before any deferrals. Bonus compensation is earned
under Deluxe’s Annual Incentive Plan. Recipients of awards under the Annual Incentive Plan may elect
to receive all or a portion of their incentive compensation in the form of restricted stock units. If an
election is made to receive restricted stock units, the amount of the cash foregone is increased (or
matched) at a rate established by the compensation committee in determining the number of units
awarded. For 2004, the match rate was 50% with a two-year vesting period on the units, and for 2003
and 2002 the match rate was 25% with a one year vesting period. For awards earned during 2004
under the Annual Incentive Plan, restricted stock units were granted on January 25, 2005 in lieu of
cash compensation as follows: 45,235 units ($1,603,125) to Mr. Mosner; 19,541 units ($692,550) to
Mr. Eilers; 8,465 units ($300,002) to Mr. Treff; 8,682 units ($343,147) to Mr. Feltz; and 5,978 units
{$211,860) to Mr. Schulte. For awards earned during 2003 under the Annual Incentive Plan, restricted

- stock units were granted on January 26, 2004 in lieu of cash compensation as follows: 9,973 units
($421,875) to Mr. Mosner; 2,154 units ($91,125) to Mr. Eilers; 904 units ($38,250) to Mr. Treff; and 868
units ($36,713) to Mr. Schulte. For awards earned during 2002 under the Annual Incentive Plan,
restricted stock units were granted on-January 27, 2003 in lieu of cash compensation as follows:
34,996 units ($1,375,000) to Mr. Mosner; 7,559 units ($297,000) to Mr. Eilers; 3,850 units ($151;250)
to Mr. Treff; and 1,501 units ($58,969) to Mr. Schulte. The imputed value of the restricted stock units
received by such persons is included in the bonus amounts shown above and is based on the closing
price of Deluxe’s common stock on the date of grant of such units ($35.44 on January 25, 2005,
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$42.30 on January 26, 2004, and $39.29 on January 27, 2003). The units vest two years from the date
of grant for 2004 awards and one year from the grant date for 2003 and 2002 awards, subject to
acceleration in the event of the death, disability or retirement of the holder and upon certain changes of
control of Deluxe. [f the employment of the holder is terminated without cause prior to the vesting of
the holder’s restricted stock units, the hoider will be entitled to receive a cash payment equal to the
amount of incentive compensation foregone in exchange for such units (the "Base Amount”). If the
holder voluntarily resigns prior to vesting of the units, they are entitled to receive a cash payment equal
to the lesser of the Base Amount or the then current value of units attributable to the Base Amount for
2004 awards, or the Base Amount for 2003 and 2002 awards. Following the vesting of a restricted
stock unit, the holder thereof is entitled to receive one share of common stock for each restricted stock
unit that vests. Prior to the vesting date, the holders will receive dividend equivalent payments for
each restricted stock unit equal to the dividend payment on one share of common stock at the time the
corresponding dividend is paid to Deluxe’s shareholders.

(¥4

-

Restricted stock awards were granted under our 2000 Stock Incentive Pian. The amounts shown in
this column are based on the value of the Company's common stock on the date of the grant.
Restricted stock vests three years after the date of grant, during which time dividends are paid on the
stock at the same rate paid on our common stock to all shareholders. As of December 31, 2004, the
aggregate number of shares of restricted stock held by the Named Executive Officers, and the value of
such shares based on the closing price of our common stock as of that date ($37.33), were as follows:
Mr. Mosner, 5,200 shares ($194,116); Mr. Eilers, 2,170 shares ($81,008); Mr. Treff, 1,125 shares
($41,996); Mr. Feltz 1,125 shares ($41,996); and Mr. Schulte 854 shares ($31,880).

o
«

All Other Compensation includes (a) contributions to qualified retirement plans, (b) amounts credited to
a non-qualified, supplemental retirement plan (defined contribution and profit sharing allocations in
excess of Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA) limitations) and (¢) amounts
credited to a non-qualified deferred compensation plan as benefit plan equivalents. For 2004, these
amounts were as follows: for Mr. Mosner $24,190, $23,209 and $13,750; for Mr. Eilers $24,190,
$13,640 and $14,335; for Mr. Treff $24,190, $9,038 and $2,693; for Mr. Feltz $24,190, $8,554 and
$88; and for Mr. Schulte $24,180, $11,531 and $0. The qualified retirement plans referred to in clause
(a) above, consisting of a defined contribution plan (401(k) and profit sharing plan), and the non-
qualified, supplemental retirement plan referred to in clause (b) above, provide that contributions vest
when made or declared.

All other compensation for Mr. Mosner in 2002 also includes the sum of $3,583,549 to which

Mr. Mosner became entitled under an Executive Retention Agreement as a result of satisfying his
obligation to remain in Deluxe’'s employ through December 31, 2002, A Deferred Compensation
account was established for Mr. Mosner in this amount, effective January 2003, and all other
compensation includes interest accrued in that account that is deemed above-market under applicable
SEC rules as follows: for 2004, $7,603; and for 2003, $6,564. Further information regarding this
Retention Agreement appears later in this proxy statement under the caption "Executive Retention
Agreements.”

Valuation of Perquisites

The Company provides a taxable cash allowance of $15,000 per year to our executive officers
{$20,000 for the CEO) to cover expenses such as auto leases, business mileage, security systems,
childcare, legal services, and personal excess liability insurance. In addition, executives are provided
with financial counseling and tax preparation services at the Company’s expense, which is valued at
incremental cost to the Company in accordance with SEC rules. The incremental cost includes the actual
charge for these services (which is taxable to the executive), plus a tax gross-up.

The aggregate value of these benefits for each of the Named Executive Officers in 2004, 2003 or

2002 did not exceed the lesser of $50,000 or 10% of the totai of annual salary and bonus reported for the
Named Executive Officer in the Summary Compensation Table.
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Stock Options

The following tables summarize optiohs granted to and exercised by the Named Executive
Officers during 2004, as well as the value of all options held by these officers at the end of fiscal year
2004. .

OPTION GRANTS IN LAST FISCAL YEAR

Potential Realizable
Value at Assumed
Annual Rates of Stock
Price Appreciation for

Individual Grants'" Option Term?

Number of % of Total

Securities Options

Underlying Granted to Exercise

Options Employees in or Expiration
Name Granted Fiscal Year Base Price  Date 5% ($) 10% ($)

Lawrence J. Mosner 25,000 12.56 $42.35  05/04/11 431 018 1,004,454
Ronald E. Eilers 10,650 5.35 $42.35  05/04/11 183,613 427,898
Douglas J. Treff 5,400 2.71 $42.35  05/04/11 93,100 216,962
Guy C. Feltz 5,400 2,71 $42.35 05/04/11 93,100 216,962
Richard L. Schulte 4,155 209 - %4235  05/04/11 71,635 166,940

(1) All options were granted under the Deluxe Corporation 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended. The
Stock Incentive Plan requires that all options be granted at the fair market value of Deluxe’s common
stock on the date of grant, and the plan prohibits re-pricing of options. The options are exercisable in
cumulative instaliments of one-third on each anniversary of the date of grant, provided that the option
holder is then employed by Deluxe. The vesting of all of the options is subject to acceleration in the
event of the death, disability or qualified retirement of the option holder and each option will remain
exercisable for a one-year period following death or disability, and for a three-year period following a
qualified retirement, although no option may be exercised after the expiration of its originally
scheduled term. In addition, the vesting of the options is subject to acceleration in the event of certain
defined changes of control of Deluxe. If the employment of the holder is terminated by Deluxe without
cause, the holder’s options will remain exercisable for a three-month period following such
termination, although no option may be exercised after the expiration of its term.

(2) The 5% and 10% assumed annual rates of compounded stock price appreciation are mandated by the
rules of the SEC and do not represent Deluxe’s estimate or projection of Deluxe’s future common
stock prices. These amounts represent certain assumed rates of appreciation only. Actual gains, if
any, on stock option exercises are dependent on future stock price performance and overall stock
market conditions. -




AGGREGATED OPTION EXERCISES IN LAST FISCAL YEAR
AND FISCAL YEAR-END OPTION VALUES

Number of Securities

Value of Unexercised

Shares _ Underlying Unexercised In-The-Money Options at
Acquired  Value Options at Fiscal Year End Fiscal Year End""
on Realized - ‘
Name Exercise ($) Exercisable Unexercisable’? Exercisable ($) Unexercisable ($)

Lawrence .
J. Mosner 0 0 619,167 218,333 6,890,799 0
Ronald
E. Eilers = 63,334 751,835 73,333 120,650 0 0
Douglas
J. Treff 0 0 96,485 41,400 1,264,741 0
Guy C. .
Feltz 8,333 177,487 40,001 45,399 0 0
Richard L.
Schulte 0 0 83,333 34,155 864,150 » 0

(1) The value of unexercised options at December 31, 2004 is determined by multiplying the difference
between the exercise prices of the options and the closing price of Deluxe’s common stock on the
NYSE on December 31, 2004 ($37.33 per share) by the number of shares underlying the options..
Options with an exercise price in excess of $37.33 per share have been valued at zero.

(2) All of the unexercisable options described above will vest and become fully exercisable upon certain

changes of control of Deluxe.

[Left blank intentionally]
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Long-Term Incentive Awards

LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLANS ----- AWARDS IN LAST FISCALYEAR

Name Number of Performance
shares, units or other Estimated future payouts under non-stock price-based
or other period until plans
rights maturation or Threshaold Target Maximum
(#) payout (#) #) (#)

Lawrence J. 11,520 1/1/2004- 5,760 11,520 23,040
Mosner 12/31/2006
Ronald E. 4,870 1/1/2004- 2,435 4,870 9,740
Eilers - 12/31/2006
Douglas J. 2,475 1/1/2004- 1,238 2,475 4,950
Treff 12/31/2006 ‘
Guy C. Feltz 2,475 1/1/2004- 1,238 2,475 4,950

12/31/2006
Richard L. 1/1/2004-
Schulte 1,910 12/31/2006 955 1,910 3,820

The awards set forth in the preceding table represent Performance Shares granted under the
2000 Stock Incentive Plan. Actual future payouts will depend on the achievement of pre-established
performance criteria over a three-year period commencing on January 1, 2004. The two criteria
established for the performance period are Deluxe Value Added (*DVA”), a criterion designed to measure
the Company'’s financial return on capital employed in the business, and total shareholder return versus a
peer group of companies, each of which carries a weighting of 50%. If the Company achieves the
threshold level of performance, as determined by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors,
Performance Shares pay out at designated levels based on actual performance in the form of one share
‘of Common Stock for each Performance Share earned, together with a dividend equivalent payment
equal to the dividends that would have been paid on that number of shares of Common Stock during the
performance period. In the event an individual's employment is terminated involuntarily without cause, or
due to death, disability or a qualified retirement, prior to completion of the performance period, but at least
12 months into the performance period, they will be entitled to a pro rata portion of any payout actually
awarded for the performance period. In the event of certain changes in control of the Company, holders
of Performance Shares immediately become entitled to a pro rata payout at the target award ievel.

Deferred Compensation Plan

Deluxe's Deferred Compensation Plan permits eligible employees to defer annually receipt of up
to 100% of hiring bonuses and base salary, and up to 50% of any annual incentive payment or payments.
In connection with this plan, Deluxe has created a non-qualified grantor trust (commonly known as a
“Rabbi Trust”), through which Deluxe’s obligations under the plan are funded. No assets are set aside for
individual participants in the plan, and the trust assets remain subject to the claims of Deluxe’s creditors.
Amounts deferred under the plan are payable on the earliest to occur of a change in control of Deluxe,
the participant’s termination of employment, disability or death or the date for payment selected by the
participant. Deferred amounts are credited with gains and losses based on the performance of deemed -
investment options selected by the participant. Deluxe may make additional contributions of benefit plan
equivalents if the deferrals made by a participant under this Deferred Compensation Plan have the effect
of reducing Deluxe’s contributions to other compensation-based benefit plans. During fiscal year 2004,

all of the Named Executive Officers participated in the plan.
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Retention Agreements, Severance Agreements and Change of Control Arrangements

Executive Retention Agreements

On December 18, 2000, Deluxe entered into Executive Retention Agreements (the “Retention
Agreements”) with each of the Named Executive Officers (sometimes referred to below simply as
“Executives”). The Retention Agreements are intended to ensure that Deluxe will receive the continued
attention and service of the Executives notwithstanding the possibility or occurrence of a change of
control of Deluxe, and to encourage the full support and participation of the Executives in formulating and
implementing Deluxe’s strategic objectives. The Retention Agreements are designed to diminish the
distractions that could be caused by personal uncertainties and risks associated with changes of control
of Deluxe by providing the Executives with assurances regarding their compensation and benefits
expectations under such circumstances.

Under the Retention Agreements, each of the Executives agrees to remain in the employ of
Deluxe, and Deluxe agrees to continue to employ each Executive, until the second anniversary following
a "Change of Control” of Deluxe (as such term is defined in the Retention Agreements). During such two-
year period (the “Employment Period”), each Executive is entitled to maintain a position, authority, duties
and responsibilities at least commensurate with the most significant of those held by the Executive during
the 180-day period prior to the date (the “Effective Date”) of the Change of Control. The annual base
salary of an Executive may not be reduced below that earned by the Executive during the twelve-month
period preceding the Effective Date, provided, however, that the annual base salary may be reduced to
an amount not less than 90% of the base salary in effect on the Effective Date pursuant tc an across-the-
board reduction of base salary similarly affecting all senior officers of Deluxe. In determining any
increase in an Executive's base salary during the Employment Period, the Executive is to be treated in a
manner consistent with other peer executives. The Executives are also entitled to receive annual
incentive payments during the Employment Period on the same objective basis as other peer executives,
although in no event may an Executive's annual target bonus opportunity be less favorable to the
Executive than that provided by Deluxe in the last fiscal year prior to the Effective Date, and if the
bonuses payable to other peer executives during the Employment Period are not wholly based on
objective criteria, the Executive’s annual incentive payment must be at least equal to an amount
determined with reference to the Executive’s average annua!l incentive payments for certain periods
ending prior to the Effective Date. During the Employment Period, each Executive is also entitled to
participate in Deluxe’s stock incentive, savings, retirement, welfare and fringe benefit plans on the same
basis as Deluxe’s other executives, and the opportunities for and benefits to the Executives under such
plans may not generally be reduced from those provided during the one-year period prior to the Effective
Date.

If, during the Employment Period, Deluxe terminates an Executive’s employment other than for
“cause” or “disability,” or the Executive terminates his or her employment for “good reason” (as such
terms are defined in the Retention Agreements), the Executive is entitled to a lump sum payment equal to
the sum of any unpaid base salary, deferred compensation and accrued vacation pay through the date of
termination, plus a prorated annual incentive payment for the year of termination based on the greater of
(1) the Executive’s target bonus under Deluxe’s annual incentive plan in respect of the year in which the
termination occurs or, if greater, for the year in which the Change of Control occurs (the “Target Bonus”)
and (2) the annual incentive payment that the Executive would have earned for the year in which the
termination occurs based upon projecting to the end of such year Deluxe's actual performance through
the termination date. In addition, the Executive is entitled to receive a lump sum payment equal to three
times the sum of the Executive's annual base salary and the higher of Target Bonus or the average of
Executive’s annual incentive payments for the last three full fiscal years prior to the Effective Date, plus
three times the amount that would have been contributed by Deluxe or its affiliates to the retirement and
supplemental retirement plans in which the Executive participated prior to his or her termination in respect
of such sum. Certain resignations and terminations in anticipation of Changes of Control also constitute
qualifying terminations. The Executives are also entitled to the continuation of their medical, disability, life
and other health insurance benefits for up to a three-year period after a qualifying termination and to
certain out-placement services. '
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The Retention Agreements also provide that if any payment or benefit received or to be received
by an Executive, whether or not pursuant to his or her Retention Agreement, would be subject to the
federal excise tax on “excess parachute payments,” Deluxe will pay to the Executive such additional
amount as may be necessary so that the Executive realizes, after the payment of such excise tax and any
income tax or excise tax on such additionali amount, the amount of such compensation.

The foregoing summary is qualified in its entirety by reference to the complete text of the
Retention Agreements, copies of which were filed as exhibits to Deluxe’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2000.

On April 2, 2001, Deluxe entered into an additional Executive Retention Agreement with
Mr. Mosner to replace a previous retention agreement. Under this previous retention agreement,
Mr. Mosner would have been entitled to terminate his employment as a result of Deluxe’s restructuring in
2000 and receive payment of the benefits provided in that agreement. To retain Mr. Mosner’s services
and ensure a smooth and effective transition to Deluxe’'s new structure, Deluxe agreed to pay Mr. Mosner
the $2.9 million accrued under this previous retention agreement (plus interest thereon at 8% per annum
from April 1, 2000), provided Mr. Mosner remained in Deluxe’s employ through December 31, 2002,
unless his employment should be terminated earlier due to his death, disability or by Deluxe without
cause. Mr. Mosner satisfied his obligations under this agreement, and a deferred compensation account
has been established for Mr. Mosner in this amount and is reflected in the Summary Compensation Table
appearing earlier in this proxy statement. The complete text of Mr. Mosner's Executive Retention
Agreement was filed as an exhibit to Deluxe’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended
March 31, 2001.

Executive Severance Agreements

On March 1, 2001, Deluxe entered into Executive Severance Agreements (the “Severance
Agreements”) with each of the Executives. The Severance Agreements are intended to facilitate each
Executive’s attention to the affairs of Deluxe and to recognize the key role they serve within the company.-
Under the Severance Agreements, if an Executive is terminated without cause by Deluxe or by the
Executive with Good Reason, and provided the Executive signs a separation and release agreement, that
Executive is entitled to receive the benefits described below. Under these agreements, “Good Reason”
includes (1) a material diminution of position, authority, duties or responsibilities; (2) a material reduction
in aggregate compensation and incentive opportunities; (3) a requirement to relocate more than 50 miles
from his or her then-current location; (4) termination by Deluxe of the Executive’s employment which is
not effected pursuant to written notice specifying the cause of termination; or (5) any request or
requirement by Deluxe that the Executive take any action or omit to take any action that is inconsistent
with or in violation of Deluxe's policies. The Severance Agreements do not apply if an Executive’s
employment is terminated following a Change of Control under circumstances that would entitle the
Executive to receive benefits under the Retention Agreements described above.

The Severance Agreements provide for the following benefits in the event the Executive is
terminated by Deluxe without cause or such Executive terminates his or her employment for Good
Reason: (1) 12 months of severance pay at his-or her then-current level of base monthly salary; (2) for a
period of six months following the severance period (12 months for Mr. Mosner), an additional monthly
payment during each month in such period equal to the amount, if any, that his or her monthly base
compensation as of termination exceeds the monthly compensation earned during that month; (3)
executive-level outplacement services for up to 12 months; and (4) an additional lump sum payment of
$13,000 to assist with other costs and expenses that may be incurred in connection with his or her
employment transition.

CEO Transition Agreement
On March 7, 20085, Deluxe and Mr. Mosner entered into a Transition Agreement (the "Transition

Agreement"). As indicated elsewhere in this proxy statement, Mr. Mosner previously has announced his
plan to retire in 2005, and the purpose of the Transition Agreement is to ensure a smooth.transition of the
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chief executive officer ("CEQ”) position. Pursuant to the Transition Agreement, until the earlier to occur of
December 31, 2005, or the date on which his successor as CEQ is selected by Deluxe’'s Board of
Directors (the "Retirement Date"), Mr. Mosner will continue to serve as Deluxe's Chairman and CEO at
his current compensation level, and will continue to participate in all benefit plans and programs that are
customarily available to executive officers of Deluxe. Mr. Mosner will participate in the Annual Incentive
Plan for 2005, and will be paid a prorated portion of the bonus that he would otherwise be entitled to
receive under that plan for the portion of the calendar year 2005 for which he serves as CEO; provided
that, he will not be entitled to defer any portion of that bonus under that plan. In addition, the
Compensation Committee has agreed to grant Mr. Mosner one-third of the stock option and restricted
stock grants that the Committee would normally expect to make to Mr. Mosner in 2005 in the absence of
his retirement (equal to 8,700 options and 1,800 shares of restricted stock), and the expected grant of
performance shares for the 2005-2007 performance period (which shares vest on a pro rata basis over
three years if the recipient is employed for at least one year of the performance period and Deluxe
achieves its predetermined performance objectives for that period).

On the Retirement Date, Mr. Mosner will retire as Chairman and CEO and will, at the option of the
Board of Directors, assist in the transition of his duties as CEO at the direction and request of the new
chief executive officer, for up to eight hours per week during a period of up to six months-after the
Retirement Date. In exchange for his duties as a consultant, Mr. Mosner will be paid at the rate of $500
per hour for services performed, plus reimbursement for his reasonable out-of-pocket expenses.

Effective on the Retirement Date, Mr. Mosner's retirement will be recognized as an "Approved
Retirement” or a "Qualified Retirement” for purposes of vesting his restricted stock, restricted stock units,
and stock options that are outstanding on such date, pursuant to the terms of the award agreements
referenced in the Transition Agreement, and Mr. Mosner would be recognized as a Qualified Retiree
under Deluxe’s medical plans. As such, from and after the Retirement Date, Mr. Mosner and his wife will
continue to be covered by the medical plans currently availabie to executive officers of Deluxe for the
remainder of their lives, subject to any changes in such plans as may be made generally. Except as set
forth in the Transition Agreement, after the Retirement Date, Mr. Mosner will not continue to participate in
any other benefits plans or programs of Deluxe. In addition, Mr. Mosner's Severance and Executive
Retention Agreements described above will each terminate effective on the Retirement Date, and the
Transition Agreement contemplates that the parties will enter into a mutual release (the “Release”).

In the event Mr. Mosner were to die or become disabled prior to the Retirement Date, he or his
heirs, representatives or estate, as applicable, generally would be entitled to the same compensation and
benefits described above, provided that he or such heirs, representatives or estate enter into the Release.

A complete copy of the Transition Agreement, including the contemplated form of Release was
filed as an exhibit to Deluxe’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 10, 2005.

Change of Control Provisions in Equity Award Agreements

In addition to the change of control features applicable to some of the equity-based awards
described elsewhere in this proxy statement, Deluxe utilizes a form of stock option agreement under
which the three-year vesting schedule of the options granted to officers of Deluxe is subject to
acceleration upon certain defined changes of control of Deluxe.
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COMPARATIVE STOCK PERFORMANCE

The table below compares the cumulative total shareholder return on our common stock for the
last five fiscal years with the cumulative total return of the S&P 500 Index, S&P 400 MidCap index and a
peer group of companies comprised of the following companies: Banta Corporation, Bowne & Co., John
H. Harland Company, Cenveo, Inc., Reynolds & Reynolds Co., RR Donnelley & Sons Company and
" Standard Register & Co. (the "Peer Group Index”). The companies in the peer group have been chosen
due to their similar lines of business. This same peer group serves as Deluxe’s primary benchmark in
evaluating director and executive officer compensation.
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* The graph assumes that $100 was invested on December 31, 1999 in each of Deluxe common stock,
the S&P 500 Stock Index, the S&P 400 MidCap Index and the Peer Group Index, and that all dividends
were reinvested, including the stock dividend paid to shareholders of Deluxe in shares of eFunds
Corporation common stock in connection with the spin-off of eFunds from Deluxe on December 29, 2000.
The Peer Group Index is weighted by market capitalization.

FISCAL YEAR 2004 AUDIT
AND INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

Audit Committee Report

The following is the report of the Audit Committee with respect to Deluxe’s audited financial
statements presented in its Annual Report to Shareholders for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004,
which include the consolidated balance sheets of Deluxe as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the
related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income and cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2004, and the notes thereto. The information contained in this
Audit Committee Report shall not be deemed to be “soliciting material” or to be “filed” with the Securities
and Exchange Commission, nor shall such information be incorporated by reference into any future filing
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
except to the extent that Deluxe specifically incorporates it by reference in such filing.
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The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors currently is comprised of the five undersigned
directors, all of whom have been determined by the Board to be independent under the rules of the
Securities and Exchange Commission and the New York Stock Exchange. The Audit Committee acts
under a written charter approved by the Board of Directors. The Audit Committee reviews the adequacy
of that charter on an annual basis. A complete copy of the Committee’s charter is posted on the Investor
Relations page of Deluxe’s website at www.deluxe.com under the “Corporate Governance” caption.

As stated in its charter, the Audit Committee assists the Board in monitoring the integrity of
Deluxe’s financial statements, the effectiveness of the internal audit function and independent auditors,
and Deluxe’s compliance systems. In carrying out these responsibilities, the Audit Committee met with
Deluxe management periodically during the year to consider the adequacy of Deluxe’s internal controls
and the objectivity of its financial reporting. The Audit Committee discussed these matters with
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Deluxe’s independent auditors, and with the appropriate financial
personnel and internal auditors, and met privately on a regular basis with both the independent auditors
and with the internal auditors, each of whom reports and has unrestricted access to the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee reviewed with management and the independent auditors Deluxe’s 2004
audited financial statements and met separately with both management and the independent auditors to
discuss and review those financial statements and reports prior to issuance. Management has the
primary responsibility for Deluxe’s financial statements and the overall reporting process, including
Deluxe’s system of internal controls. Management has represented and PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
has confirmed in its opinion to the Audit Committee that the financial statements were prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and fairly present, in all material respects, the
financial condition of Deluxe.

The Audit Committee also received from, and discussed with, the independent auditors the
written disclosures and the letter required by Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1
(Independence Discussions with Audit Committees). These items relate to that firm's independence from
Deluxe. As part of its efforts to ensure the independence of Deluxe’s independent auditors, the
Committee maintains a policy requiring the pre-approval by the Committee of all services to be provided
by the independent auditors, and reviews all services actually performed by the auditors in connection
with its discussions regarding the auditors continued independence. No persons other than the
independent auditor's full-time employees were used in conducting the independent auditor's audit
engagement. The Audit Committee also discussed with the independent auditors the matters required to
be discussed by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61 (Communication with Audit Committees), which
include, amang other items, matters related to the conduct of the audit of Deluxe’s financial statements.

Based on the review and discussions referred to above, the Committee recommended to
Deluxe’s Board of Directors that Deluxe’s audited financial statements be included in Deluxe’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004.

MEMBERS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

\ Martyn R. Redgrave, Chair
Isaiah Harris, Jr.
William A. Hawkins, 1l
Cheryl Mayberry McKissack
Mary Ann O’Dwyer
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Fees Paid to Independent Auditors

Aggregate fees for professional services rendered for Deluxe by PricewaterhouseCoopefs LLP during the
years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 were:

2004 2003
Audit $1,391,500 $429,000
' Audi£—Related ' 140,800 339,900
Tax 3,500 9,600
Other 0 0
Total | $1,535 800 $778,500

The Audit fees billed for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 were for professional services
rendered for audits of the annual consolidated financial statements and reviews of the related quarterly
financial statements included in Deluxe’s quarterly reports on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC, assurance
services in connection with the filing of SEC registration statements and consultations regarding
accounting or disclosure treatment of transactions which were directly part of the audit. Audit fees for
2004 also included $419,500 for attestatlon services in connection w1th Section 404 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

The Audit-Related fees billed in each of the fiscal years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 were for
employee benefit plan audits. Audit-related fees for 2004 also included due diligence services related to
the NEBS acquisition. Audit-related fees for 2003 also included $268,900 for assistance with the
implementation of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Tax fees for the year ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectlvely, were for services related to
preparation of employee benefit plan returns. ‘

The Audit Committee approved 100 percent of the services described above.

Policy on Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Independent Auditor Fees and Services

In order to assure that our independent auditor is engaged only to provide audit and non-audit
services that are compatible with maintaining the auditor’s independence, the Audit Committee has
adopted a policy which requires the Audit Committee to review and approve all services to be provided by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP before the firm is retained. The Audit Committee may delegate its pre-
approval authority to one or more members of the Audit Committee. However, a full report of any such
approvals must be given at the next Audit Committee meeting. The Audit Committee is required to
specifically approve the fee levels for all services. Requests for approval of services must be jointly
submitted to the Audit Committee by the independent auditor, Deluxe's chief financial officer and Deluxe’s
director of internal audit and must include (1) a joint statement as to whether, in their view, the request is
consistent with the SEC’s rules on auditor independence, and (2) a reasonably detailed description of the
proposed services. The complete text of our Audit and Non-Audit Services Pre-Approval Policy is posted
on the Investor Relations page of our website at www.deluxe.com under the "Corporate Governance”
caption.
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ITEM 2: RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The Audit Committee has appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as independént auditors to
examine the financial statements of Deluxe for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2005.
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP has acted as independent auditors of Deluxe since 2001.

Pursuant to the Audit Committee Charter, the Board of Directors is submitting the appointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Deluxe’s independent auditors to the shareholders for ratification.
Deluxe anticipates that representatives of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP will be present at the meeting,
will have the opportunity to make a statement if they so desire and will be able to respond to appropriate
questions from shareholders.

The Board of Directors recommends that you vote FOR the ratification of the selection of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as independent auditors. :

OTHER BUSINESS

The Board of Directors does not intend to present any business at the meeting other than the
matters specifically set forth in this proxy statement and knows of no other business scheduled to come
before the meeting. If any other matters are brought before the meeting, the persons named as proxies
will vote on such matters in accordance with their judgment of the best interests of Deluxe and its
shareholders. The proxies solicited by Deluxe will confer discretionary authority'on the persons named
therein as proxies to vote on any matter presented at the meeting of which the Board of Directors did not

" have knowledge a reasonable time before Deluxe printed and mailed these proxy materials.

2006 SHAREHOLDER PROPOSALS

Any shareholder proposals intended to be included in the proxy statement for the annual meeting
of shareholders in 2006 must be received by the Secretary of Deluxe at 3680 Victoria Street N.,
Shoreview, Minnesota 55126-2966 not later than the close of business on November 25, 2005.
Proposals received by that date will be included in Deluxe’s 2006 proxy statement if the proposals are
proper for consideration at an annual meeting and are required for inclusion in the proxy statement by,
and conform to, the rules of the SEC.

1

Deluxe’s Bylaws provide that a shareholder may present a proposal at the 2006 annual meeting
of shareholders that is not included in Deluxe’s proxy statement if proper written notice is given to the
chief executive officer or the Secretary of Deluxe at the principal executive offices of Deluxe no later than
the close of business on November 25, 2005. The proposal must contain the information required by
Deluxe's Bylaws. You may obtain a copy of the Bylaws by writing to the Secretary of Deluxe.

By order of the Board of Directors:

Anthony C. Scarfone

Secretary

March 25, 2005
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APPENDIX A

Deluxe Corporation
Director Independence Standards

Introduction and Purpose

The listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) require that the Company’s Board
be comprised of at least a majority of independent directors, and that the Board maintain
Nominating/Governance, Compensation and Audit Committees comprised entirely of independent
directors. The NYSE also requires the Board to make a formal determination each year as to
which of its directors are independent, and to disclose these determinations in the Company’s
proxy statement. The purpose of this document is to outline the standards under which the Board
makes its independence determinations, thereby ensuring a consistent and disciplined approach
to such determinations.

Minimum Standards

The NYSE has established certain minimum standards of independence. According to these
standards, a director is automatically disqualified from being deemed independent under the
following circumstances:

A The director has been employed by the Company, or an immediate family member' has
been an executive officer of the Company, within the last three years;

B. The director or an immediate family member received more than $100,000 in direct
compensation from the Company during any twelve-month period within the last three
years, with the exception of director and committee fees and pension or other forms of
deferred compensation for prior service (provided such compensation is in no way
contingent on continued service); »

C. The director or an immediate family member is a current partner of the Company’s
internal or external auditor; the director is a current employee of such a firm; the director
has an immediate family member who is a current employee of such a firm and who
participates in the firm’s audit, assurance or tax compliance (but not tax planning)
practice; or the director or an immediate family member was within the last three years
(but is no longer) a partner or employee of such a firm and personally worked on the
Company’s audit within that time; '

D. Within the last three years, the director or an immediate family member was an executive
officer of another company on whose compensation committee one of the Company’s
“current executive officers served at the same time; or

E. The director is a current employee, or an immediate family member is a current executive
officer, of a company that, within any of the last three fiscal years, has made payments
to, or received payments from, the Company for property or services in an amount
exceeding the greater of $1 million or 2% of such other company’s consolidated gross
revenues in that fiscal year. (Note that while contributions to charitable organizations are
not deemed “payments” under this standard, the Company would have to disclose in its

. proxy statement contributions in excess of these thresholds to any charity for which a
director serves as an executive officer.)

+

Assessment of Other Relationships — Categorical Standards

In addition to meeting the minimum standards set forth in Section It, no director qualifies as
“‘independent’ under the NYSE's rules unless the Board affirmatively determines that the director

" For purposes of these standards, an “immediate family member” includes a person’s spouse, parents, children and
siblings (whether by blood or adoption), mothers and fathers-in-law, sons and daughters-in-law, brothers and sisters-
in-law, and anyone (other than domestic employees) who shares such person’s home.
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" has no material relationship with the Company (either directly or as a partner, shareholder or

officer of an organization that has a relationship with the Company). The basis for determining
that any relationship is not material must be disclosed in the Company’s proxy statement.
However, as an alternative to discussing all non-material relationships a Company might have
with its directors, the NYSE allows companies to adopt and disclose categorical standards of
independence and make general disclosures as to which directors meet those standards. The
following categorical standards have been established to assist the Board in making its
independence determinations. ‘

A director who satisfies all of the following standards (in addition to the minimum standards set
forth in Section Il and any standards applicable to them as Audit Committee members - See
Section IV) may be deemed independent. A director who fails to satisfy any particular categorical
standard may still be determined to be independent, but the specific basis for such a
determination must be explained in the Company's proxy statement.

Categorical Standards of Independence

A. The director has never been an employee or executive officer of the Company or any
affiliate. (For purposes of these standards, an “affiliate” is any person or entity that
controls, is controlied by, or is under common control with another person or entity, such
as subsidiaries, sibling companies and parent companies.)

B. The director is not a former executive, founder or principal of the Company, or of any
affiliate, firm or entity acquired by the Company, or firm or entity that was part of a joint
venture or partnership including the Company.

C. No immediate family member of the director is a current employee, or a former executive
officer, of the Company or any affiliate.

D. Neither the director nor any immediate family member, nor any firm or entity with which
such director or family member was affiliated in a professional capacity, has provided
investment banking advice or served as the Company s primary legal advisor within the
past two years.

E. Neither the director nor any immediate family member has any direct transactional
relationship with the Company or its affiliates, or otherwise has an active role in providing,
is.a partner or principal owner of a firm or entity providing, or otherwise receives
compensation based on the provision of consulting, advisory or other professional
services to the Company or its affiliates or officers (except for compensation received by
a director solely in his or her capacity as a director). '

F. The director is not a director, trustee, executive officer or employee, and no immediate
family member is an executive officer, of any firm or entity (including charitable and non-
profit organizations) that, within the last two years, has made annual payments to or-
received annual payments from the Company or its affiliates in excess of the greater of
$200,000 or five percent of the recipient’'s consolidated gross revenues.

G. The director is the beneficial owner (as that term is defined under Rule 13d of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) of less than ten percent (10%) of the
Company's outstanding voting securities.

H. - The director is not a party to any contract or arrangement regarding their nomination or
election to the Board, or requiring them to vote with management on proposals brought
before the Company’s shareholders.

Audit Committee Membership

In addition to meeting the foregoing independence requirements, all Audit Committee members

- must satisfy the independence requirements of Rule 10A-3 under the Securities Exchange Act.

Assuming the director meets the standards outlined in Sections Il and 1l above, the only
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additional standard they must pass to be eligible for Audit Committee service is that they not,
directly or indirectly, accept any “consulting, advisory or other compensatory fee” from the
Company, other than in their capacity as Board or Committee members. Given that this
prohibition applies to indirect as well as direct payments, payments to family members and
entities with which a director is affiliated must be considered. The SEC has indicated, however,
that not all commercial relationships are prohibited, but only relationships involving legal,
accounting, investment banking, financial advisory and consulting services.

[Left blank intentionally]
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Documents Incorporated by Reference:

1. Portions of our definitive proxy statement to be filed within 120 days after our fiscal year-end are
incorporated by reference in Part III.

PART I

Ttem 1. Business.

Deluxe Corporation was incorporated under the laws of the State of Minnesota in 1920. From 1920
until 1988 our company was named Deluxe Check Printers, Incorporated. Our principal corporate offices
are located at 3680 Victoria Street North, Shoreview, Minnesota 55126-2966. Our main telephone number
is (651) 483-7111.

COMPANY OVERVIEW

We provide a wide range of personalized printed products and services to small businesses,
financial institutions and consumers. Our two largest product groups are checks and business forms.

We dre the largest provider of checks in the United States, both in terms of revenue and the number
of checks produced. We provide check printing and related services for approximately 8,000 financial
institution clients, as well as providing personalized checks, related accessories and fraud prevention
services directly to consumers and small businesses. ’

We are also a leading provider of printed forms to small businesses, providing products to more
than six million customers. Printed forms include billing forms, work orders, job proposals, purchase
orders, invoices and personnel forms. We produce computer forms compatible with most accounting
software packages commonly used by small businesses. We also provide stationery, letterhead, envelopes
and business cards in a variety of formats and ink colors. These items are designed to provide small
business owners with customized documents necessary to efficiently manage their business. We also
provide promotional printed items designed to fulfill a variety of selling and marketing needs.

We use direct response marketing, financial institution referrals, sales representatives, independent -
distributors and the Internet to market and sell our products and services.

ACQUISITION OF NEW ENGLAND BUSINESS SERVICE, INC.

On June 25, 2004, we completed our acquisition of New England Business Service, Inc. (NEBS) for
$639.8 million. NEBS is a leading provider of products and services to small businesses. NEBS offerings
include checks, forms, packaging supplies, embossed foil anniversary seals, promotional products and
other printed material and payroll services which are marketed through direct response marketing, financial
institution referrals, independent distributors, sales representatives and the Internet. Strategically, we both
serve small business customers, and the acquisition expands our product offerings, customer base and non-
- check revenue. With this acquisition, we added established brands to our business and created
opportunities for productivity improvements and cost synergies. For a more detailed description of the
NEBS acquisition and related financing, see the caption “Note 4: Acquisition of New England Business
Service, Inc.” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements appearing in Part II of this report.

The acquisition of NEBS brought several brand names to Deluxe. These include NEBS®,
Safeguard®, McBee®, Chiswick®, Histacount®, SYCOM®, Bags & Bows®, Main Street® and Holiday
Expressions®.

Following the acquisition of NEBS and a review of our combined strategic approach, we decided to
sell NEBS’ European businesses and PremiumWear, which provides specialty appare! products. Historical
results related to PremiumWear and Europe are presented as discontinued operations in our consolidated
financial statements. For a more detailed description of these discontinued operations, see the caption




“Note 5: Discontinued operations” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements appearing in Part 11
of this report. s

BUSINESS SEGMENTS

Our business segments subsequent to the NEBS acquisition consist of the following: Small
Business Services, Financial Services and Direct Checks. Our businesses are generally organized by type
of customer and reflect the way we manage the company. Additional information concerning our segments
appears under the caption “Note 15: Business segment information” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements appearing in Part IT of this report, ‘

Small Business Services

Small Business Services (SBS) is comprised of the newly acquired NEBS business and our former

~ Business Services segment. This segment is our largest in terms of revenue, and we intend to concentrate
on growth in this segment. SBS endeavors to be the leading resource of business products to small
businesses by integrating existing products and distribution channels and by adding new ones. We
currently sell business checks, forms and related printed products to more than six million small businesses
and home offices. We also distribute packaging, shipping and warehouse supplies, advertising specialties
and other business products. We provide payroll services to small businesses in the United States and
Canada. :

The majority of SBS products are distributed through more than one channel. Qur primary channel
is direct mail, in which promotional advertising offering our products is delivered by mail to small
businesses. These efforts are supplemented by the prospecting and account development efforts of an
outbound telemarketing group. We also utilize a field sales organization which calls on small businesses,
mainly under the McBee and Chiswick brand names. A third channel of distribution is our network of
independent local dealers and distributors. We also utilize financial institution referrals and the Internet to
market and distribute our products. Customer service for initial order support, product reorders and routine
service is provided by a network of representatives located throughout the United States and Canada.

As we concentrate on growing this segment, we will focus on the following:

e Expand sales to new and existing customers — With our broader portfolio of products and
services, as well as refinements in our selling techniques, we anticipate increasing our
revenue per customer.

¢ Increase new customer acquisition — We will focus on increasing customer acquisition
- through all of our distribution channels, especially our financial institution referral channel.
This channel is a less expensive method of new customer acquisition and provides access to
small business customers in their start-up stage.

¢ Provide excellent customer service — We strive to retain customers by consistently meeting
our customers’ needs in a manner that is efficient and easy.

We continue to focus on integrating the operations of NEBS to lower costs and improve
efficiencies. We closed one NEBS printing facility in 2004 and have announced plans to close two
additional printing facilities. We also continue to eliminate redundancies between the two companies and
will seek other means to further lower our cost structure.

Financial Services

Financial Services is the leading supplier of checks and check-related products and services to
financial institutions. Additionally, we offer enhanced services to our financial institution clients, such as
customized reporting, file management, expedited account conversion support and fraud prevention. Our
relationships with specific financial institutions are usually formalized through supply contracts averaging
three to five years in duration. Consumers and small businesses typically submit their check orders to their
financial institution, which then submits the orders to us, We then process the orders and ship them directly
to the consumers and small businesses. Financial Services produces a wide range of check designs, with



many consumers preferring one of the dozens of licensed designs we offer, including Disney®, Warner
Brothers®, NASCAR®, Harley-Davidson®, Coca-Cola® and Laura Ashley®. We are committed to our
financial institution relationships and seek to strengthen and expand them by emphasizing the breadth and
value of our checks and related products and services.

In 2004 we launched Deluxe ID TheftBlock™ and DeluxeCard™ Visa® gift card. ID TheftBlock is
an advanced suite of monitoring and protection services which we offer to consumers on behalf of our
financial institution clients. ID TheftBlock enhances traditional identity protection tools by adding check
order screening, daily credit monitoring, access to fraud resolution assistance and a comprehensive
membership kit. The DeluxeCard Visa gift card is an open-system prepaid card that allows financial
institutions to meet growing consumer demand for a versatile payment tool and universal gift solution.

Our DeluxeSelect™ program provides financial institution customers with more information
regarding check and check-related products as they interact directly with our professional sales associates,
our voice response system or our website when placing an order. We actively promote our broad product
offerings during both the new account opening and check re-ordering processes by engaging consumers
through our call centers, advanced Internet ordering capabilities and point-of-sale marketing support at
financial institution branch offices. The benefits of this program include: 1) increased financial institution
customer satisfaction from selecting a check style that reflects their personal interests and taste; 2)
increased revenue and enhanced profitability for our financial institution clients as they realize the value of
our merchandising and check ordering process; 3) lower costs for financial institutions because we perform
this work on their behalf; and 4) increased accuracy. As of the end of 2004, over 5,000 clients had enrolled
in DeluxeSelect.

We have continued to expand our Knowledge Exchange Series where we host knowledge exchange
expos, conduct web seminars and host special industry conference calls, as well as offer specialized
publications. These events allow knowledge to be shared with and among our financial institution clients to
help financial leaders develop ways to improve customer experiences. We believe that a leading concern
for financial institutions is finding innovative ways to satisfy customers. Our Knowledge Exchange Series
represents a new approach to identify areas of opportunity and develop strategies to transform financial
transactions into compelling and memorable interactions for customers.

Direct Checks

Direct Checks is the nation’s leading direct-to-consumer check supplier, selling under the Checks
Unlimited® and Designer® Checks brand names. Through these two brands, we sell personal and business
checks, as well as related products, using direct response marketing and the Internet. We believe the direct-
to-consumer personal check printing portion of the payments industry accounts for approximately 20% of
all personal checks sold.

We use a variety of direct marketing techniques to acquire new customers, including freestanding
inserts in newspapers, in-package advertising, statement stuffers and co-op advertising. We also use e-
commerce strategies to direct traffic to our websites which include: www.checksunlimited.com, _
www.designerchecks.com and www.checks.com. Our direct-to-consumer focus has resulted in us having a
customer base of over 40 million lifetime customers, the highest brand awareness, as well as the most
advertising impressions in the direct-to-consumer marketplace.

We compete primarily on price and design. Although pricing is roughly equal within the direct-to-
consumer segment, pricing is generally lower than in the financial institution segment. We also compete on
design by seeking to offer the most attractive selection of images with high consumer appeal, many of
which are acquired or licensed from well-known photographers, artists, and organizations such as Disney,
Thomas Kinkade, and NASCAR.

MANUFACTURING

We continue to invest in areas of the business where we can reduce costs and increase productivity.
We continue to use a lean and cellular approach in our manufacturing facilities. Within the lean and
cellular manufacturing environment, a group of employees works together to produce products, rather than




those same employees working on individual tasks in a linear fashion. Because employees assume more
ownership of the end product, the results are improvements in quality and service levels and reductions in
costs. We closed six check printing facilities in 2004. The expertise we have developed in logistics,
productivity and inventory management, as well as the decline in check usage due to the use of alternative
payment methods, allows us to reduce the number of production facilities while still meeting client
requirements. We have announced our intention to utilize a shared services approach to manufacturing. We
are currently organizing our printing operations by region to enhance our focus on creating centers of
operational excellence with a culture of continuous improvement. This means that we will be able to create
blended sites which can serve a variety of brands. As a result, we will be able to reduce costs and improve
performance by using our assets and printing technology more efficiently and by enabling employees to
better leverage their capabilities and talents.

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW
Checks

Checks are the largest single non-cash payment type in the United States. According to a Federal
Reserve study released in December 2004, approximately 37 billion checks are processed annually. This
currently comprises about 45% of the total payment transactions in the United States. However the use of
checks is declining. The combined total of alternative payment methods (which include credit cards,
electronic payment methods, the use of direct deposit, etc.) only recently has become more heavily used
than checks. We expect this trend to continue. The sale of checks continues to be our predominant revenue
stream.

Small Business Customers

The Small Business Administration’s Office of Advocacy defines a small business as an
independent business having fewer than 500 employees. In 2003, the most recent date for which
information is available, it was estimated that there were approximately 23.7 million small businesses in the
United States. This represents 99.7% of all employer firms. Small businesses employ half of all private
sector employees and generated 60% to 80% of net new jobs annually over the last decade.

The small business market is impacted by economic conditions and the rate of small business
formations. Currently, small business growth is strong, which parallels the growth in the overall economy
and recent Federal Reserve surveys which have noted an increase in small business loans. According to the
National Federation of Independent Business (NFIB), small business optimism was at record highs during
2004. In addition, spending and hiring plans are at historically high levels and profit trends support small
businesses’ ability to deliver on capital spending and expansion plans.

The small business customer is an integral part of our business. We design, produce and distribute
business checks, forms, envelopes, industrial packaging and related products. Some of the products we sell,
such as manual and computer forms are in decline. New technologies have provided small business
customers with alternative means to enact and record business transactions. To date, we have been able to
offset these declines by increasing our customer base and through growth opportunities in packaging
supplies, promotional products and payroll services. The use of checks among small businesses has thus far
not been impacted significantly by the use of alternative payment methods. This market is impacted more
significantly by economic conditions and the rate of small business formations.

Financial Institution Clients

Checks are most commonly ordered by customers through their financial institution. Currently we
_believe about 80% of all check sales to individuals are made in this manner. Financial institutions include
banks, credit unions and other financial services companies. Several developments related to financial
institutions have affected the industry:

o Financial institutions seek to retain the profitability of checks, despite the decline in check
usage. This has put significant pricing pressure on check printers.



e Financial institutions continue to consolidate through mergers and acquisitions. Normally,
the newly combined entity seeks to have its checks provided at the lowest price either
entity was able to obtain pre-combination. In addition, the combined entity may elect to
have only one preferred check provider and will often seek higher discounts due to the
higher order volumes expected post-combination. These factors result in check providers
competing intensely on price in order to retain not only their previous business with the
financial institution, but also to gain the business of the other party in the
merger/acquisition.

e Financial institution mergers and acquisitions can also impact the duration of our contracts.
Normally, the average length of our contracts with financial institutions is between three
and five years. However, the term can be affected when contracts are renegotiated due to a
consolidation of financial institutions.

e Historically, only larger regional and national banks would require a pre-paid product
discount, made in the form of cash incentives, paid at the beginning of a contract. Recently,
this trend has become more common with smaller institutions as well. These contract
acquisition payments negatively impact check producers’ cash flows in the short-term.

Competition '

" In the check printing portion of the payments industry, we face considerable competition from
several other check printers, and we expect competition to intensify as this portion of the payments industry
continues to decline. As we expand our e-commerce presence, we face competition from check printing
software vendors and from Internet-based sellers of checks and related products. We also face competition
from alternative payment methods, including automated teller machines, credit cards, debit cards and
electronic payment systems, such as pre-authorized payments and electronic bill presentment and payment.

In the check printing business, the principal factors on which we compete are product and service
breadth, price, convenience, quality and program management. From time to time, some of our check
printing competitors have reduced the prices of their products in an attempt to gain greater volume. The
corresponding pricing pressure placed on us has resulted in reduced profit margins and some loss of
business due to our refusal to meet competitor pricing that fell below our profitability targets. Continuing
pressure could result in additional margin compression. Additionally, product discounts in the form of cash
incentives payable upon financial institution contract execution have been a practice within the industry
since the late 1990s. However, beginning in 2001 as competitive pressure intensified, both the number of
financial institution clients requiring these payments and the size of the payments have increased. These
up-front payments negatively impact the industry’s cash flows in the short-term and may result in
additional pricing pressure when the financial institution also negotiates for greater product discount levels
throughout the term of the contract.

The small business forms and supplies industries are highly competitive. We believe we are well
positioned in these markets by having a broad customer base, comprehensive small business product and
service offerings, multiple distribution channels, established relationships with our financial institution
clients, reasonable prices, high quality and dependable service. .

In the small business forms and supplies industry, the competitive factors influencing a customer’s
purchase decision are product guarantees, breadth of product line, speed of delivery, product quality, price,
convenience and customer service. Our primary competitors for printed products are local printers,
business form dealers, contract stationers and office product superstores. Local printers provide
personalization and customization, but can be limited on the variety of products and services, as well as the
level of printing sophistication. Office superstores offer a variety of products at competitive prices, but can
only provide limited personalization or customization, if any. In addition, at present, we are aware of more
than twenty major independent companies or divisions of companies offering printed products and business
supplies to small businesses through direct mail, distributors or a direct sales force.




Raw Materials and Supplies

The principal raw materials used in producing our main products are paper, ink and cartons, which
we purchase from various sources. We also purchase stock business forms produced by third parties. We
believe that we will be able to obtain an adequate supply of materials from current or altemative suppliers.
We also utilize a paper printing plate material that is available from only a limited number of sources. We
believe we have a reliable source of supply for this material and that we maintain an inventory sufficient to
avoid any production disruptions in the event of an interruption of its supply.

Governmental Regulation

We are subject to regulations implementing the privacy and information security requirements of the
federal financial modernization law known as the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act (the Act) and other federal
regulation and-state law on the same subject. These laws and regulations require us to develop and
implement policies to protect the security and confidentiality of consumers’ nonpublic personal information
and to disclose these policies to consumers before a customer relationship is established and annually
thereafter. :

The regulations require some of our businesses to provide a notice to-consumers to allow them the
opportunity to have their nonpublic personal information removed from our files before we share their
information with certain third parties. The regulations, including the above provision, may limit our ability
to use our direct-to-consumer data in our businesses. However, the regulations do allow us to transfer
consumer information to process a transaction that a consumer requests, as well as to protect the
confidentiality of a consumer’s records or to protect against or prevent actual or potential fraud,
unauthorized transactions, claims or other liabilities. We are also allowed to transfer consumer information
for required institutional risk control and for resolving customer disputes or inquiries. We may also
contribute consumer information to a consumer-reporting agency under the Fair Credit Reporting Act. Our
financial institution clients request various contractual provisions in our agreements that are intended to
comply with their obligations under the Act. ‘

Congress and many states have passed and are considering additional laws or regulations that,
among other things, restrict the use, purchase, sale or sharing of nonpublic personal information about
consumers and business customers. For example, legislation has been introduced in Congress to further
restrict the sharing of consumer information by financial institutions, as well as to require that a consumer
opt-in prior to a financial institution’s use of his or her data in its marketing programs.

Laws and regulations may be adopted in the future with respect to the Internet, e-commerce or
marketing practices generally relating to consumer privacy. Such laws or regulations may impede the
growth of the Internet and/or use of other sales or marketing vehicles. For example, new privacy laws
could decrease traffic to our websites, decrease telemarketing opportunities and decrease the demand for
our products and services. Additionally, the applicability to the Internet of existing laws governing property
ownership, taxation and personal privacy is uncertain and may remain uncertain for a considerable length
of time. '

Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of trademark and copyright laws, trade secret protection and
confidentiality and license agreements to protect our trademarks, software and know-how. However,
intellectual property laws afford limited protection. Third parties may infringe or misappropriate our
intellectual property or otherwise independently develop substantially equivalent products or services. In
addition, designs licensed from third parties account for an increasing portion of our revenue. Typically,
such license agreements are effective for a two- to three-year period. There can be no guarantee that such
licenses'will be renewed or will continue to be available on terms that would allow us to continue to be
profitable with these products.



EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 2004, we employed 8,610 employees in the United States and 345 employees
in Canada. None of our employees are represented by labor unions, and we consider our employee relations
to be good. ’

AVAILABILITY OF COMMISSION FILINGS

We make available through our website, www.deluxe.com, our annual reports on Form 10-K,
quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K as soon as reasonably practicable after
these items are electronically filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC).
These reports can also be accessed via the SEC website, www.sec.gov, or via the SEC’s Public Reference
Room located at 450 Fifth Street, N.-W., Washington, D.C. 20549. Information concerning the operation of
the SEC’s Public Reference Room can be obtained by calling 1-800-SEC-0330.

A copy of this report may be obtained without charge by calling 1-888-359-6397 (1-888-DLX-
NEWS) or by sending a written request to Investor Relations, Deluxe Corporation, P.O. Box 64235, St.
Paul, Minnesota 55164-0235. '

CODE OF ETHICS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE GUIDELINES

We have adopted a Code of Ethics and Business Conduct which applies to all of our employees and
our board of directors. The Code of Ethics and Business Conduct is available on our website,
www.deluxe.com, and also can be obtained free of charge upon written request to the attention of Investor
Relations, Deluxe Corporation, P.O. Box 64235, St. Paul, Minnesota 55164-0235. Any changes or waivers
of the Code of Ethics and Business Conduct will be disclosed on our website. In addition, our Corporate
Governance Guidelines and the charters of the Audit, Compensation, Corporate Governance and Finance
Committees of our board of directors are available on our website or upon written request.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Our executive officers are elected by the board of directors each year. The following summarizes
our executive officers and their positions.

Executive
Name Age Present Position Officer Since
Lawrence J. Mosner 63 Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer 1995
Ronald E. Eilers 57 President and Chief Operating Officer 1996
Guy C. Feltz 49  Senior Vice President, President — Financial Services and 2000
Direct Checks
Anthony C. Scarfone 43 Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary 2000
Warner F. Schlais 52 Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer 2000
Richard L. Schulte 48 Senior Vice President, President — Small Business Services 2000
Douglas J. Treff 47 Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 2000
Stuart Alexander 55 Vice President, Investor Relations and Public Affairs 2003
Katherine L. Miller* 51  Vice President, Controller and Chief Accounting Officer 2003
Luann Widener 47 Senior Vice President, Human Resources 2003

Lawrence J. Mosner has served as chairman of the board and chief executive officer of Deluxe
since December 2000. Prior to this position, Mr. Mosner served as vice chairman, a position he assumed in
August 1999. '




Ronald E. Eilers has served as president and chief operating officer of Deluxe since December
2000. From August 1997 to December 2000, Mr. Eilers was a senior vice president of Deluxe and managed
our former Paper Payment Systems business.

Guy C. Feltz was named a senior vice president of Deluxe in December 2000 and has served as
president of our Financial Services segment since July 2000 and our Direct Checks segment since July
2004. He was also a vice president of Deluxe from July to December 2000. From August 1999 to July
2000, Mr. Feltz served as senior vice president of sales and marketing for our financial institution check
printing business.

Anthony C. Scarfone joined us in September 2000 as senior vice president, general counsel and
secretary and became an executive officer of Deluxe in December 2000. Prior to joining Deluxe, Mr.
Scarfone served as vice president, general counsel and secretary of Dahlberg, Inc., a worldwide
manufacturer, distributor and retailer of electronic hearing devices, a position he held from November 1993
to November 1999,

Warner F. Schlais has served as senior vice president and chief information officer since
November 1999 and became an executive officer of Deluxe in December 2000.

Richard L. Schulte was named a senior vice president of Deluxe in December 2000 and has served
as president of our Small Business Services segment since July 2000. From May 1999 to July 2000, Mr.
Schulte was our senior vice president of supply chain and operations.

Douglas J. Treff joined us in October 2000 as senior vice president and chief financial officer and
became an executive officer of Deluxe in December 2000. From February 1993 until Mr. Treff joined us,
he served as vice president, finance, of Wilsons the Leather Experts, Inc. (Wilsons), a leather specialty
apparel retailer. He was also appointed chief financial officer of Wilsons in May 1996,

Stuart Alexander was named an executive officer of Deluxe in January 2003. He has served as
vice president, investor relations and public affairs since May 1988.

Katherine L. Miller was named chief accounting officer and an executive officer of Deluxe in
January 2003 and has served as vice president and controller since January 2001. Ms. Miller joined us in
February 1999 and held several finance director positions prior to assuming her vice president and
controller responsibilities.

Luann Widener was named senior vice president, human resources and an executive officer of
Deluxe in June 2003. From July 2000 to June 2003, Ms. Widener served as vice president of
manufacturing operations for our Financial Services segment. From October 1997 to June 2000, Ms.
Widener was vice president of process improvement for our Financial Services segment.

* Effective March 17, 2005, Ms. Miller will be resigning for personal reasons from her position as
vice president, controller and chief accounting officer. Terry D. Peterson, 40, will become Deluxe’s vice
president, controller and chief accounting officer effective as of Ms. Miller’s resignation. Mr. Peterson
joined us in September 2004 as director of internal audit. From August 2002 until August 2004, Mr.
Peterson was vice president and controller of the GCS Services Division of Ecolab, Inc., a worldwide
developer and marketer of premium cleaning and sanitation products. Before joining Ecolab, Inc., Mr.
Peterson held executive finance positions with Provell, Inc. (formerly Damark International, Inc.), a
developer of customized marketing programs and services, including corporate controller from March
1999 to September 2001 and acting chief financial officer and controller from September 2001 to August
2002.



Item 2. Properties.

Our principal executive office is located in Shoreview, Minnesota: We own or lease a number of
other properties, mainly in the United States and Canada, where printing, call center, distribution,
administration, and sales and marketing functions are performed. We believe that our properties are
adequate and suitable for our business needs as presently conducted and are adequately maintained. The
following provides a summary of our properties as of December 31, 2004:

Approximate Owned or lease
Location square feet expiration date Function
Lenexa, Kansas (2
locations) 318,000 Owned Printing
Shoreview, MN (2 ‘ Administration, marketing, sales,
locations) 313,000 Owned call center and headquarters
Colorado Springs, Printing, administration, marketing
CO 282,000 Owned and call center
Des Plaines, 1L 192,000 Owned Printing
Midland, Ontario,
Canada 130,000 Owned Printing, distribution, call center
Groton, MA 126,000 Owned - Administration, call center
Thorofare, NJ 124,000 Owned Printing, administration, call center
Townsend, MA 123,000 Owned Printing
Streetsboro, OH 115,000 Owned Printing
Maryville, MO 98,000 Owned Printing
Salt Lake City, UT 95,000 * Owned Printing
Lancaster, CA 69,000 Owned Printing, call center and mail center
Mountain Lakes, ‘
NJ 63,000 Owned Printing
Greensboro, NC 44,000 Owned Printing
Flagstaff, AZ 25,000 Owned Call center
Printing, distribution, call center,
Athens, OH 215,000 May 2008 administration
Sudbury, MA 142,000 March 2007 Distribution, call center
Lithia Springs, GA 110,000 August 2006 Distribution
Commerce, CA 92,000 June 2005 Printing
Shoreview, MN 67,000 September 2006 Administration
Greensboro, NC 65,000 September 2005 Call center
Santa Fe Springs, ,
CA 60,000 June 2006 Printing
Fort Washington,
PA 51,000 June 2005 Administration
Syracuse, NY 47,000 December 2006 Call center
Phoenix, AZ 42,000 December 2006 Call center
North Wales, PA 40,000 June 2010 Distribution
Dallas, TX 36,000 February 2006 Distribution
Shoreview, MN 34,000 September 2009 Administration
Crystal Lake, IL 22,000 May 2006 Printing
Harleysville, PA 18,000 August 2006 Administration
_Crystal Lake, IL -~ 13,000 May 2006 Administration
Chatsworth, CA 11,000 May 2006 Administration
St. Laurent,
Quebec, Canada 2,000 September 2007 Call center
Various — U.S. and
Canada 25,000 Various Sales offices
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

We are involved in routine litigation incidental to our business, but there are no material pending
legal proceedings to which we are a party or to which any of our property is subject.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.

None.

PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities.

Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol DLX. During the
years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, we declared dividends of $0.37 per share during each quarterly
period. In January 2005, we increased our quarterly dividend payment to $0.40 per share. Dividends are
declared by our board of directors on a current basis and therefore, may be subject to change in the future,
although we currently expect no such changes to our dividend amount. As of December 31, 2004, the
number of shareholders of record was 9,321. The table below shows the per share closing price ranges of
our common stock for the past two fiscal years as quoted on the New York Stock Exchange.

: “Quarter-end
Stock price High Low close
2004
Quarter 4 $ 42.20 $ 36.02 § 37.33
Quarter 3 © o 45.09 39.95 41.02
Quarter 2 43.60 40.05 . 43.50
Quarter 1 42.91 38.47 40.10
2003 :
Quarter 4 $ 4221 $ 38.51 $ 41.33
Quarter 3 48.10 39.89 40.14
Quarter 2 - 48.46 40.00 44.80
Quarter 1 J 42.52 35.14 40.13

During the fourth quarter of 2004, we did not purchase any of our own equity securities. In August
2003, our board of directors approved an authorization to purchase up to 10 million shares of our common
. stock. This authorization has no expiration date and 7.9 million shares remain available for purchase under
this authorization. We do not intend to repurchase a significant number of additional shares in the near
future, as we intend to focus on paying off a portion of our outstanding debt. However, we have not
terminated this share repurchase authorization, and we may purchase additional shares under this
authorization in the future.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

(dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) ' 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

Statement of Income Data: :

Revenue®................ e $ 1,567,015 § 1,242,141 $ 1,283,983 $ 1278375 $ 1,262,712

As a percentage of revenue: '
Gross Profit oo, 65.8% 65.7% 66.1% 64.5% 64.1%
Selling, general and administrative expense .... 43.6% 39.6% 39.2% 40.2% 41.0%
Operating income™® @ ..............covveverrereeneeniee 22.2% 25.7% 26.9% 23.6% 22.1%

Operating income™ @ ..o, $ 347912 $ 318921 $ 344931 $ 301,938 $ 278,934

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization of intangibles and goodwill

(EBITDA) VPG s 442,210 378,334 403,331 374,732 348,682
Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)P@® 348,354 318,252 345,126 300,750 280,112
Income from continuing operations”’® ............... 198,648 192,472 214,274 185,900 169,472

Per share — basiC......covvieciveriiie e sie e eeeenne 3.96 3.53 341 2.72 2.34

Per share — diluted..........cco.ooceeeveernireeireeennen, 3.93 3.49 3.36 2.69 2.34
Cash dividends per share..........covnevniinninannn, 148 1.48 1.48 1.48 1.48

- Balance Sheet Data: ’ !
Cash and marketable securities.........coccoevveeceeerenn. 15,492 2,968 124,855 - 9,571 . 99,190
Return on average assets ......ocvvveeecicainnennenenns 19.2% 31.2% 35.5% 31.1% 20.5%
TOTAL BSSELS .....ovvvvrevvrrsssrsseenssssssssnssssen st nsssseesenes $ 1,499,079 $ = 562,960 § 668,973 § 537,721 § 656,274
LONG-EIM dEbt....vv.vveoveeeerreereereissesieesieeesseennns 980,207 381,694 308,199 11,465 110,873
Total debt.......overerrerririrnnns! e 1,244,207 594,944 308,199 161,465 110,873

Statement of Cash Flows Data:
Net cash provided by operating activities of

continuing OPeTations .........coccecveenvcniiieiennaes ‘ 307,591 181,467 257,139 270,623 253,572
Free cash flow™ ..o, 189,472 - 78,980 123,491 140,075 97,894
Purchases of capital assets..........covvnvnnniiiinnnenn 43,817 22,034 40,708 28,775 48,483
Payments. for common shares repurchased............ 26,637 507,126 172,803 345,399 —
Total debt to EBITDA ..........coovonrinrirerinceiinnns 2.8 1.6 0.8 0.4 0.3
Total debt to net INCOME .....covvriveieeiriririvirerrennen, 6.3 3.1 1.4 0.9 0.7
EBIT® t0 interest EXpense ............eceeerverrrerrerencnns 10.6 16.5 - 68.0 53.9 24.5
Net income to interest EXPense..........ceeerevnservennns 6.0 10.0 42.2 333 14.2
Free cash flow® to total debt .......coveerverceocrercens 15.2% - 13.3% 40.1% 86.8% 88.3%
Net cash provided by operating activities of :

continuing operations to total debt .................... 24.7% 30.5% 83.4% 167.6% 228.7%
Other Data as of Year-end (continuing
operations):
Units® (Millions)......ovevveeveeeerieiere s cveeeeeseneens 83.65
Number of employees.......coremiriinicriinnnenan, 8,955
Number of printing facilities .........ccoceeecrreirnnnen 16

Number of call center facilities .......cccovvvvirvinnnns 13




% Qur results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2004 were impacted by the acquisition of New England Business Service,
Inc. on June 25, 2004. In 2004, NEBS contributed revenue of $363.2 million, operating income of $22.7 million and income from
continuing operations of $12.4 million. These results include only NEBS results of operations. They do not include the additional
interest expense incurred by Deluxe to finance the acquisition.

@ Qur results of operations for the year ended December 31,.2004 were impacted by the adoption of the fair value method of accounting
" for stock-based compensation outlined in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation. Expense recognized for stock-based compensation in each year was as follows: 2004 - $12,248; 2003 - $954; 2002 -
$3,102; 2001 - $4,083; 2000 - $3,213.

QOur results of operations for the three years ended December 31, 2004 were impacted by the adoption of SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets. Under this statement, goodwill is not amortized, but is subject to impairment testing on at least an annual
basis. Thus, we recorded no goodwill amortization expense during the past three years. Goodwill amortization expense for the
preceding two years was as follows: 2001 - $6,188; 2000 - $5,201.

®) EBITDA is not a measure of financial performance under generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). We disclose EBITDA
because it can be used to analyze profitability between companies and industries by eliminating the effects of financing (i.e., interest)
and capital investments (i.e., depreciation and amortization). We continually evaluate EBITDA, as we believe that an increasing
EBITDA depicts increased ability to attract financing and increases the valuation of our business. We do not consider EBITDA to be a
substitute for performance measures calculated.in accordance with GAAP. Instead, we believe that EBITDA is a useful performance
measure which should be considered in addition to those measures reported in accordance with GAAP. The ratio of total debt to
EBITDA illustrates to what degree we have borrowed against earnings. EBITDA is derived from net income as follows:

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

NELINCOME ...vevveerciericirrirees e reese s es e $ 197,991 $ 192,472 % 214274 § 185,900 $ 161,936
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax..... 657 — — — 7,536
Provision for income taxes 118,225 106,908 126,448. 111,634 103,957
Interest eXPense, Net......c.coeievereriineenereienee 31,481 18,872 4,404 3,216 6,683
Depreciation ... 27,330 22,773 23,953 30,605 33,375
Amortization of intangibles . 66,526 37,309 34,252 37,189 29,994
Amortization of goodWill.........cceervceriinirrccriinnns — — — 6,188 5,201
EBITDA ..ottt $ 442,210 § 378,334 % 403,331 § 374,732 § 348,682

@ EBIT is not a measure of financial performance under GAAP. By excluding interest and income taxes, this measure of profitability
can indicate whether a company’s earnings are adequate to pay its debts. We monitor this measure on an ongoing basis, as we believe
it illustrates our operating performance without regard to financing methods, capital structure or income taxes. We do not consider
EBIT to be a substitute for performance measures calculated in accordance with GAAP. Instead, we believe that EBIT is a useful
performance measure which should be considered in addition to those measures reported in accordance with GAAP. The measure of

+ EBIT to interest expense illustrates how many times the current year’s EBIT covers the current year’s interest expense. Our
committed lines of credit contain covenants requiring a minimum EBIT to interest expense ratio. EBIT is derived from net income as
follows:

) 2004, . 2003 2002 2001 2000

NETINCOIME vieereieierierrieveerreertie e eveeee s e sieessesenns $ 197,991 § 192,472 § 214274 § 185,900 $ 161,936
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax..... 657 — - —_ 7,536
Provision for iNCome taXes........ooeeuervreieriimriensrenas 118,225 106,908 126,448 111,634 103,957
Interest Xpense, Net....covviirniis e 31,481 18,872 4,404 3216 . 6,683
EBIT ..ooooeeceenecrveneieveereeenns ST $ 348,354 §$ 318,252 % 345,126 $ 300,750 $ 280,112

® Free cash flow is not a measure of financial performance under GAAP. We monitor free cash flow on an ongoing basis, as it
measures the amount of cash generated from our operating performance after investment initiatives and the payment of dividends. It
represents the amount of cash available for interest payments, debt service, general corporate purposes and strategic initiatives. We
do not consider free cash flow to be a substitute for performance measures calculated in accordance with GAAP. Instead, we
believe that free cash flow is a useful liquidity measure which should be considered in addition to those measures reported in
accordance with GAAP. The measure of free cash flow to total debt is a liquidity measure which illustrates to what degree our free
cash flow covers our existing debt. Free cash flow is derived from net cash provided by operating activities of continuing
operations as follows:

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Net cash provided by operating activities of ’ :

CONtinUIng Operations.........cooivveeverreeennnes $ 307,591 % 181,467 § 257,139 § 270,623 § 253,572
Purchases of capital assets .. (43,817) (22,034) (40,708) (28,775 (48,483)
Cash dividends paid to shareholders (74,302) (80,453) (92,940) (101,773 (107,19%)

Free cash flow ..o $ 189472 § 78,980 $ 123,491 $ 140,075 $ = 97,894

® Units represent an equivalent quantity of checks sold calculated across all check-related product lines. This information excludes
New England Business Service, Inc., which was acquired in June 2004.
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resuits of Opel;ations.

We are the largest provider of checks in the United States, both in terms of revenue and number of
checks produced. We design, manufacture and distribute a comprehensive line of printed checks. In
addition to checks, we also offer other personalized printed items (e.g., business forms, business cards,
stationery, greeting cards, labels, and shipping and packaging supplies), promotional products and
merchandising materials, fraud prevention services and customer retention programs.

On June 25, 2004, we acquired New England Business Service, Inc. (NEBS). NEBS is a leading
provider of products and services to small businesses. Accordingly, our consolidated results of operations
include the results of NEBS from the acquisition date. We believe NEBS is a strategic fit, as we both serve
small business customers, and the acquisition expands our product offerings, customer base and non-check
revente.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
2004 Highlights

We completed the acquisition of NEBS on June 25, 2004.
¢ On January 1, 2004, we began recording expense for all stock-based compensation in accordance
with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation.
Excluding NEBS, units'” were down 6.1% and revenue per unit was up 2.6%.
Six printing facilities were closed.
Our European operations were sold on December 31, 2004.
We announced plans to sell our apparel business during 2005.

) Units represent an equivalent quantity of checks sold calculated across all check-related product lines.*

2004 Consolidated Results of Operations

e  Revenue was $1,567.0 million, up $324.9 million from 2003. NEBS contributed revenue of $363.2
million. '

¢ Gross margin was 65.8%, flat compared to 2003. NEBS results decreased our gross margin by 1.1
percentage points, offsetting the savings from-manufacturing efficiencies. NEBS has historically had
lower gross margins than our other businesses because of its non-check product mix. '

e  Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expense was 43.6% of revenue, compared to 39.7% in
2003. NEBS results increased our SG&A percentage by 3.7 percentage points. NEBS has historically
had a higher SG&A percentage than our other businesses because NEBS relies to a greater degree on
direct mail and a direct sales force to acquire and retain customers. Additionally, NEBS results
included $19.1 million of additional acquisition-related amortization expense for certain intangible
assets and $7.1 million of integration costs. Further information concerning the NEBS intangible
assets acquired can be found under the caption “Note 2: Supplementary balance sheet and cash flow
information” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements appearing in Part I1 of this report.
Additionally, our SG&A expense increased $10.3 million because of our change in accountmg for
stock-based compensation.

¢  Operating income was $347.9 million, an increase of $29.0 million from 2003. NEBS contributed
operating income of $22.7 million.

¢ Operating margin was 22.2% compared to 25.7% in 2003. NEBS results, including acquisition-
related amortization expense, decreased our operating margin by 4.8 percentage points. Due to its
business model, NEBS has historically had lower margins than our other businesses. Additionally,
the impact of acquisition-related amortization expense contributed 1.2 of the 4.8 percentage point
decrease attributable to NEBS.
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o Interest expense was $32.9 million, up $13.6 million from 2003 primarily due to the notes issued to
finance the NEBS acquisition.

e Net income was $198.0 million, or $3.92 per diluted share, compared to $192.5 million, or $3.49 per

- diluted share in 2003. Diluted earnings per share increased $0.34 because our average shares
outstanding were lower. NEBS operations contributed $11.7 million, or $0.23 per share. NEBS
contribution to earnings per share includes only NEBS results of operations. It does not include the
additional interest expense incurred by Deluxe-to finance the acquisition.

2004 Cash Flow/Financial Condition

e  Cash flow provided by operating activities of continuing operations was $307.6 million, up $126.1
million from 2003. The increase was due primarily to our cost management initiatives and
productivity improvements, as well as lower contract acquisition payments.

s Proceeds from short-term and long-term debt were $646.3 million and were used primarily to fund
the acquisition of NEBS.

e  Share repurchases were suspended during the second quarter of 2004, as we utilized our resources to
complete the acquisition of NEBS.

e Total assets increased by $936.1 million in 2004. We acquired $991.9 million of assets with the
NEBS acquisition.

¢ Long-term debt increased $598. 5 million in 2004, primarily because we issued notes to finance the
acquisition of NEBS.

¢ Shareholder’s deficit decreased by $119.6 mllhon in 2004, primarily because we generated net
income of $198.0 million which was partially offset by cash dividends of $74.3 million.

CONSOLIDATED OVERVIEW

Following the acquisition of NEBS, we re-defined our business segments to include the following:
Small Business Services, Financial Services and Direct Checks. Small Business Services is comprised of
the newly acquired NEBS business and our former Business Services segment. This segment sells checks,
forms and related products to more than six million small businesses and home offices through direct
response marketing, financial institution referrals, independent distributors, sales representatives and the
Internet. Financial Services sells personal and business checks, related products and check merchandising
services to approximately 8,000 financial institution clients nationwide, including banks, credit unions and
financial services companies. Direct Checks is the nation’s leading direct-to-consumer check supplier,
selling under the Checks Unlimited® and Designer® Checks brands. Through these two brands, Direct
Checks sells personal and business checks, as well as related products, using direct response marketing and
the Internet. We operate only in North America.

Although we are not in a high-growth industry, we continue to generate strong cash flows. We
generated operating cash flows of $307.6 million during 2004 and $181.5 million during 2003. We believe
our stable cash flows and our focus on cost management and operational excellence will allow us to
maintain our leadership position in the check printing portion of the payments industry and to expand our
presence in the small business arena. Our strong cash flows enabled us to realize the debt capacity needed
to complete the NEBS acquisition during the second quarter of 2004. We have also utilized our debt
capacity to repurchase common shares over the past several years. During 2003 and 2004, we repurchased
12.9 million shares for a total of $533.8 million. We have continued to pay dividends at an annual rate of
$1.48 per share, resulting in a dividend yield of 4.0% based on our December 31, 2004 closing stock price.
During the first quarter of 2005, we increased our quarterly dividend to $0.40 per share, up $0.03 per share
from our previous dividend level. We were able to increase the dividend for two reasons: (1) synergies
realized from the NEBS integration are exceeding our expectations, and (2) we expect year-over-year
growth from our Small Business Services segment to offset declines in our core check businesses
beginning in 2006. We believe we have sufficient financial resources to pursue additional acquisitions that
leverage our cofe competencies and are accretive to earnings and cash flow, to strengthen our leading
posmon in the markets in which we compete and to expand into closely related or adjacent products and
services.
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Major challenges in our business are as follows. Two of our largest product groups, checks and
business forms, are mature products and their use has been declining in the marketplace. According to our
estimates, the total number of personal, business and government checks written in the United States has
been in decline since the mid-1990s as a result of alternative payment methods such as debit cards, smart
cards, electronic and other bill paying services and Internet-based payment services. Because check usage
is declining, we have also been encountering significant pricing pressure when negotiating contracts with
our financial institution clients. Our relationships with specific financial institutions are usually formalized
through supply contracts averaging three to five years in duration. As we compete with other check
printing companies to retain and obtain business in the face of declining volume, the resulting pricing
pressure has reduced our profit margins, and we expect this trend to continue.

A 2004 Federal Reserve study reported that the check is still Americans’ largest single non-cash
payment type, accounting for approximately 45% of all non-cash payments. This is, however, a decrease
from the previous Federal Reserve Study published in 2002 which reported that checks comprised
approximately 60% of all non-cash payments. The report does note that this measure excludes checks
written which are converted into electronic transactions at the point of sale. The Federal Reserve Study also
indicated that consumer checks are declining faster than business checks. This study was completed prior
to the implementation of Check 21 legislation in October 2004. This banking legislation became effective
on October 28 and affects how checks can be processed. The new law states that an electronic or paper
reproduction of a check is the legal equivalent of the original check. This permits financial institutions to
submit these “substitute” checks for processing and clearing. We believe this legislation supports the use of
checks by creating a more efficient processing system which is less costly and will allow financial
institutions to detect fraud earlier. It remains to be seen what, if any, impact this legislation will have on
consumers’ use of checks.

Business forms products have also reached maturity. Continual technological improvements have
provided small business customers with alternative means to enact and record business transactions. For
example, the price and performance capabilities of personal computers and related printers now provide a
cost effective means to print low quality versions of business forms on plain paper. Additionally, electronic
transaction systems and off-the-shelf business software applications have been designed to automate
several of the functions performed by business forms products.

Our Direct Checks segment and portions of our Small Business Services segment have been
impacted by reduced customer response rates to direct mail advertisements. We believe that the decline in
customer response rates is attributable to the decline in check usage, the gradual obsolescence of our
standardized forms products and an overall increase in direct mail solicitations received by our target
customers. Because each advertisement is resulting in fewer new customers, the cost to acquire each new
customer has increased. We have also been impacted by a lengthening of the check reorder cycle due to the
decline in check usage and the multi-box promotional strategies which are standard practice for direct mail
sellers of checks.

To offset these challenges, we have focused on increasing revenue per order by improving our
selling techniques, as well as introducing new product offerings.

¢ In Small Business Services, we have provided extensive training to our sales associates to transition
that organization from a service to a selling environment. We have also partnered with our financial
institution clients to increase the use of our financial institution referral program. Under this \
program, our financial institution clients refer their small business customers to us at the time of new *
account opening. This allows us direct interaction with the small business customer. Additionally,
through the NEBS acquisition, we now have more products we can offer small business customers,
and we have more channels through which to serve them. .

o In Financial Services, we have implemented the DeluxeSelect™ program. This program allows us to
interact directly with the customers of financial institutions and to leverage our extensive market
research and knowledge of consumer behaviors and preferences. As of December 31, 2004,
approximately 5,000 financial institutions have enrolled in DeluxeSelect. Our Financial Services
segment intends to target financial institution clients that understand the value we provide. We

.
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provide high quality products, superior service, enhanced customer satisfaction and the check
program management skills that lead to improved revenue and profitability for financial institutions.

¢ In Direct Checks, we have encouraged consumers to place their orders by phone, where our sales
associates have the opportunity to interact with the consumer. Typically, phone orders result in
higher revenue per order than other order channels. During the fourth quarter of 2004, 31% of first-
time customers placed their orders via the telephone, as compared to 24% in 2003.

All of these efforts have led to increased sales of premium-priced licensed and specialty check
designs and additional value-added products and services such as fraud prevention and express delivery.

We continue to focus on cost management and operational excellence. In 2004, we closed six
printing facilities. We have also implemented other employee reductions over the past year and have
announced our intention to close two additional printing facilities. The application of lean principles in our
manufacturing area has resulted in increased efficiencies, and we are applying these principles throughout
the rest of the company. We continue to closely manage spending and seek additional cost saving
opportunities wherever possible. Additionally, in integrating NEBS, we plan to realize cost synergies of at
least $25 million annually beginning in 2005. These synergies represent reduced costs in relation to NEBS
historical results of operations. We expect to realize these synergies through eliminating redundancies,
leveraging our shared services environment and enhancing productivity by implementing lean principles
and sharing best practices.

Recent economic indicators have been promising, and our 2004 results were not impacted by
economic conditions as they were in 2003. An important measure for our Small Business Services segment
is small business confidence. All trends in this area are positive. The National Federation of Independent
Business (NFIB) reported that small business sales levels, employment and capital spending are all
trending upwards, as is the NFIB’s measure of small business optimism. Our Financial Services and Direct
Checks segments are primarily impacted by consumer spending and employment levels. Consumer
spending began improving in the second half of 2003 and continued to improve through 2004.
Additionally, the employment growth that began in the first quarter of 2004 continued through the end of
the year, with an average of 186,000 jobs created per month in 2004. There is a correlation between
employment and the rate at which consumers open checking accounts. Thus, the employment rate is a key
factor for the check printing portion of the payments industry. Our early outlook indicates that on a total
company basis, the economy will have a neutral impact on our business in 2005,

One of our main focuses during 2005 will be the continued integration of NEBS. Small Business
Services provides one of the most comprehensive product and service offerings for small businesses. This
provides the basis for us to increase sales to existing customers, as well as to pursue new customers. The:
NEBS acquisition also provides a positive impact on our product mix by increasing our non-check revenue.
Based on the success of the integration thus far, we expect that we will realize both the cost synergies and
growth we expected when we acquired NEBS. We anticipate that growth in our Small Business Services
segment will offset the decline in our core check businesses as we move into 2006.
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RESTRUCTURING CHARGES, ASSET IMPAIRMENTS AND OTHER DEVELOPMENTS

Over the past three years, we have recorded charges and credits for restructurings, asset impairments
and other developments. The significant items disclosed in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
~ appearing in Part II of this report are as follows (dollars in thousands):

, 2004 2003 2002
Net restructuring charges ..........cooeeeuenne. N $ 4,441 $ 11,353  § 1,271
Change in accounting for inventory ................. (2,230) — —
Asset impairment l0SSES .....c.ccevcevrvuiriiinieneenene . — 5,289 —
Post-retirement benefit curtailment gain .......... — (4,000) —
Net pre-tax charges.....c.coveeveeecererrenrecennne. $ 2,211 § 12,642 $ 1,271
Reversal of income tax :
. CONHINZENCIES c.vvveviverrereeeeeereenieereen et sanane s $ (125) $ (7,300) % (12,853)
Deferred income tax valuation ‘
alloWanCe........ovevve e — 360 12,228
Net credits to provision for .
INCOME tAXES ...vovvereoreeeereeeerereeeesienaereeenens $ (125) $ (6,940) $ (625) |

The above pre-tax items are reflected in the consolidated statements of income as follows (dollars in
thousands): : '

2004 2003 2002

Cost of goods sold........ P $ 247y $§ . 3,608 §$ 581

Selling, general and administrative expense .... 2,458 3,745 ’ 690

Asset impairment and net disposition losses.... — 5,289 —
Net pre-tax charges.....cococevevereeerenreineneenen. $ 2211 $ 12,642 $ 1,271 .

Net restructuring charges — During 2004, we recorded restructuring charges of $5.7 million for
employee severance related to the closing of our Financial Services check printing facility located in
Dallas, Texas and our Direct Checks check printing facility located in Anniston, Alabama, as well as
reductions in various functional areas primarily within our Direct Checks and Financial Services segments.
The closure of the Dallas facility was primarily due to the loss of a major financial institution client whose
contract expired at the end of 2004. The other reductions were a result of the continuing decline in check
usage, as well as increased productivity. Both the Dallas and Anniston facilities were closed during the
fourth quarter of 2004. We expect the other employee reductions to be substantially completed during the
first half of 2005. The restructuring charges included estimated severance benefits for 483 employees. The
related severance payments are being funded by cash from operations. Also during 2004, we reversed $1.3
million of previously recorded restructuring accruals due to fewer employees receiving severance benefits
than originally estimated. These restructuring charges and reversals are reflected as cost of goods sold of
$2.0 million and SG&A expense of $2.4 million in our 2004 consolidated statement of income.

During 2003, we recorded restructuring charges of $11.8 million for employee severance related to
the closing of three of our Financial Services check printing facilities and other reductions in employees
within Financial Services and our corporate support group. We were able to close the three check printing
facilities because of the expertise we have developed in logistics, productivity and inventory management,
as well as the decline in check usage. The other employee reductions were the result of our ongoing cost
-management efforts. All three check printing facilities were closed during 2004, and the other employee
reductions were also substantially completed during 2004. In total, 573 employees received a total of $10.7
million in severance payments, which were funded by cash from operations. During 2003, we also reversed
$0.4 million of previously established restructuring accruals due to fewer employees receiving severance
benefits than originally estimated. These restructuring charges and reversals are reflected in our 2003
consolidated statement of income as cost of goods sold of $5.0 million and SG&A expense of $6.4 million.
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As aresult of the five facility closings and other employee reductions, we realized net cost savings of
approximately $5 million in cost of goods sold and $17 million in SG&A expense in 2004, in comparison
to our 2003 results of operations. In 2005, we anticipate net cost savings of approximately $20 million in

" cost of goods sold and $7 million in SG&A expense, in comparison to our 2004 results of operations.
Reduced costs consist primarily of labor and facility expenses such as insurance, taxes, depreciation and
maintenance. In addition to a total of $16 million of severance payments, we also incurred other costs
related to the closing of facilities, including equipment moves, training and travel. These costs were
expensed as incurred, primarily as cost of goods sold, and totaled $2.1 million. Of this amount, $1.8
million was expensed in 2004 and $0.3 million was expensed in 2003. We are also improving our

. remaining check printing facilities to allow them to handle the increased volume. These improvements,
which are expected to total approximately $5 million, are capitalized and depreciated, primarily as cost of
goods sold, over their estimated useful lives. During 2004, $3.3 million was spent on these improvements
and $1.4 million was spent in 2003.

During 2002, we recorded restructuring charges of $1.5 million for employee severance related
primarily to manufacturing employees within our Financial Services segment and various functional areas
within our Direct Checks segment. These reductions were the result of our ongoing cost management
efforts and were completed during 2003. In total, 121 employees received $1.5 million in severance
payments. During 2002, we also reversed $0.2 million of previously established restructuring accruals.
These restructuring charges and reversals are reflected in our 2002 consolidated statement of income as
cost of goods sold of $0.6 million and SG&A expense of $0.7 million.

Further information regarding our restructuring accruals can be found under the caption “Note 6:
Restructuring accruals” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements appearing in Part II of this
report,

Change in accounting for inventory — On July 1, 2004, we changed the method of accounting for a
portion of our inventories. Inventories previously accounted for under the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method
are now accounted for using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. This change resulted in a decrease in cost
of goods sold of $2.2 million, primarily in our Financial Services segment. This equates to an increase in
net income of $1.4 million, or $0.03 per diluted share. The effect of this accounting change on prior
periods was immaterial, as was the effect on the current period. As such, we did not restate prior period
financial statements to reflect this change. We consider the FIFO method to be preferable. The recently
acquired NEBS business also utilized the FIFO method, and now we have a consistent accounting
methodology across the company. Additionally, the effect on net income of utilizing the FIFO method is
not significantly different than the results that would be obtained using the LIFO method.

Asset impairment losses — During 2003, we recorded asset impairment losses of $5.3 million,
primarily in the Financial Services segment. The impaired assets consisted of both manufacturing
technologies and software. We had been intending to implement the manufacturing technologies during
2003. However, having already realized many efficiencies in our manufacturing function as a result of
other initiatives, including the implementation of lean manufacturing, the incremental benefits expected
from these technologies no longer warranted their implementation. The impaired software was intended to
replace several of our existing systems and bring various areas of the company onto one platform.
However, based on our continuing evaluation of investment initiatives, we determined that the costs to
implement the system and the timeline for implementation did not result in an adequate return on our
investment. The majority of the impaired assets had no alternative uses and could not be sold to third
parties. Thus, these assets were written down to a carrying value of zero. Certain related hardware was sold
to third parties and was written down to its fair value less costs to sell. Of the total asset impairment losses,
$3.6 million related to property, plant and equipment and $1.7 million related to intangible assets.

Post-retirement benefit curtailment gain — During the fourth quarter of 2003, we amended our
retiree health care plan to limit the number of employees eligible for benefits under the plan. In order to
receive the current level of benefits, employees must reach 20 years of service and 75 points (total of age
and years of service) prior to January 1, 2006. Employees reaching 20 years of service and 75 points
between January 1, 2006 and December 31, 2008 are eligible for the current level of benefits; however,
their premiums will not be reduced once they become eligible for Medicare as is currently the case.
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Employees reaching 20 years of service and 75 points after December 31, 2008 must pay the full cost of
coverage if they elect to participate in our health care plan. As a result of this plan change, we recognized a
curtailment gain of $4.0 million during the fourth quarter of 2003. This gain is reflected as a reduction of
cost of goods sold of $1.4 million-and a reduction of SG&A expense of $2.6 million in our 2003
consolidated statement of income. This plan change resulted in a $2.5 million decrease in our 2004 post-
retirement benefit expense.

Adjustments to provision for income taxes — During 2003, we reversed $7.3 million of previously
established income tax reserves. A prior year federal audit period was closed due to the expiration of the
statute of limitations, and we reached agreements with two states to favorably settle proposed income tax
audit assessments. As a result, the related reserves were no longer required. Also during 2003, we recorded
a $0.4 million charge for a valuation allowance related to our deferred tax asset for capital loss
carryforwards which expired in 2003,

During the fourth quarter of 2002, the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) completed its review of our
income tax returns for 1996 through 1998. As a result, we reversed $12.9 million of previously established
income tax reserves. Certain IRS rules were clarified in a manner favorable to us, and the related reserves
were no longer required. Substantially offsetting these reversals in 2002 was a $12.2 million charge for a
valuation allowance related to our deferred tax asset for capital loss carryforwards. At December 31, 2002,
we had capital loss carryforwards of approximately $33.0 million which expired in 2003. By the fourth
quarter of 2002, the predominance of negative evidence indicated that it was more likely than not that the
tax benefits associated with a majority of the capital loss carryforwards would not be realized as certain tax
planning strategies upon which we intended to rely were no longer considered to be prudent or feasible.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

On January 1, 2004, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation. We are reporting this change in accounting principle using the modified
prospective method of adoption described in SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation —
Transition and Disclosure. Beginning in 2004, our results of operations reflect compensation expense for all
employee stock-based compensation, including the unvested portion of stock options granted prior to 2004,
This method results in the same amount of compensation expense which would have been recognized had the
fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 been applied from its original effective date. Prior to 2004,
we accounted for our employee stock-based compensation in accordance with Accounting Principles Board
(APB) Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. Under this method of accounting, no
compensation expense was recognized for stock options or for our employee stock purchase plan.

During 2004, we implemented changes to our long-term compensation strategy. Rather than using
stock options as the exclusive form of long-term incentive, we now utilize a combination of stock options,
performance shares and restricted stock. All such awards are granted under our shareholder-approved stock
incentive plan. The level of shares earned under the performance share component is contingent upon the
attainment of specific performance targets over a three-year period. The fair value of the performance shares
granted is equal to the market price of our stock at the date of grant. Compensation expense is recorded over
the three-year performance period based on our estimate of the number of shares which will be earned by the
award recipients. In addition, during the second quarter of 2004, we issued 40,404 restricted shares to
employees. The fair value of these awards is equal to the market price of our stock at the date of grant.
Compensation expense is recorded over the three year vesting period.

Total stock-based compensation expense was $12.2 million for 2004. This expense is reflected as cost
of goods sold of $0.9 million and SG&A expense of $11.3 million in our consolidated statement of income.
Total stock-based compensation expense was $1.0 million in 2003 and $3.1 million in 2002. These amounts
are reflected in SG&A expense in our consolidated statements of income for those years.

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued a revision to SFAS No.
123. The new statement is referred to as SFAS No. 123(R) and is entitled Share-Based Payment. The new
statement requires companies to recognize expense for stock-based compensation in the statement of income.
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We do not expect the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R) to result in a significant change in the compensation
expense we currently recognize in our statements of income.

CON SOLIDATED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

(dolars and shares in thousands, except per share amounts) 2004 2003 2002
Income from continuing OPerations ..................... $ 198,648 § 192,472 § 214,274
Loss from discontinued operations...........c.oceeenn (657) — —
NELINCOME .vvivvieeieirirre et sresre e $ 197,991 § 192,472 § 214,274

Net income per share:

BaSIC . ctevriiiiirieie et e $ 395 % 353 S 341

DIlted ..ot e 3.92 3.49 3.36
Weighted-average number of shares outstanding: -

BASIC covvveviveeiietri et s 50,126 54,523 62,823

Diluted (includes common stock equivalents) ... 50,549 55,228 63,747

Income from continuing operations — The increase in income from continuing operations in 2004,
as compared to 2003, was primarily due to the acquisition of NEBS, manufacturing productivity
improvements and other cost management efforts, partially offset by higher interest expense in 2004 due to
financing associated with the NEBS acquisition and the reversal of income tax reserves in 2003.

The decrease in income from continuing operations in 2003, as compared to 2002, was primarily
due to a decline in unit volume, higher interest expense due to financing share repurchases and an increase
in net pre-tax charges discussed earlier under Restructuring Charges, Asset Impairments and Other
Developments, partially offset by the reversal of income tax reserves in 2003.

During 2003 and 2002, we accounted for our employee-stock based compensation in accordance
with APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. Accordingly, our 2003 and 2002
results of operations do not include compensation expense for stock options or for our current employee
stock purchase plan. Had this expense been included in our results, diluted earnings per share would have
been $0.07 lower for 2003 and $0.04 lower for 2002. This pro forma impact of stock-based compensation
was calculated utilizing the method disclosed under the caption “Note 1: Significant accounting policies”
of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements appearing in Part [T of this report.

Loss from discontinued operations — Discontinued operations includes the results of the European
operations acquired from NEBS, which were sold on December 31, 2004, as well as the apparel business
acquired from NEBS, which we plan to sell during 2005.

Diluted earnings per share — In addition to the increase in income from continuing operations in
2004, as compared to 2003, diluted earnings per share increased due to the decrease in average shares
outstanding resulting from our share repurchase programs. During 2003, we purchased 12.2 million shares
and during 2004, we purchased 0.6 million shares. The change in average shares outstanding resulting from
share repurchases, partially offset by the impact of shares issued under employee stock purchase and stock
incentive plans, resulted in a $0.34 increase in earnings per share for 2004 as compared to 2003.

Despite the decrease in income from continuing operations in 2003, as compared to 2002, diluted
earnings per share increased because average shares outstanding were lower due to our share repurchase
programs. During 2002, we purchased 3.9 million shares and during 2003, we purchased 12.2 million
shares. The change in average shares outstanding resulting from share repurchases, partially offset by the
impact of shares issued under employee stock purchase and stock incentive plans, resulted in a $0.47
increase in earnings per share for 2003 as compared to 2002.
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Consolidated Revenue

(dollars in thousands, except per unit armounts) 2004 2003 2002
Revenue $ 1,567,015 $ 1,242,141 $ 1,283,983
Excluding NEBS:
Units (millions) ..ooveveveerenniecrnniniiiin, 83.65 89.10 92.64
REVENUE PEI Ut .o...voovvvorrvencreereenrsesssesenes $ 1430 § 1394 § 13.86

M) Excludes $7.7 million of revenue in 2004 related to a contract buy-out.

The acquisition of NEBS contributed revenue of $363.2 million in 2004. The $38.3 million decrease
in revenue for our other businesses compared to 2003 was due to a 6.1% decrease in units because of an
overall decline in the number of checks being written as a result of the increasing use of alternative
payment methods. Our Direct Checks segment was also impacted by lower direct mail consumer response
rates, longer reorder cycles due to promotional strategies for multi-box orders and lower customer
retention. These decreases in unit volume were partially offset by increased financial institution referrals
for our Small Business Services segment. Partially offsetting the volume decline was a 2.6% increase in
revenue per unit as compared to 2003 due to continued strength in selling premium-priced licensed and
specialty check designs and additional value-added products and services such as express delivery and
fraud prevention, price increases in our Direet Checks and Small Business Services segments and a $7.7
million contract buy-out payment from a former financial institution client in the third quarter of 2004.
These increases were partially offset by increased competitive pricing pressure within our Financial
Services segment.

" The decrease in revenue in 2003, as compared to 2002, was due to a 3.8% decrease in units resulting
primarily from an overall decline in the number of checks being written due to the increasing use of

alternative payment methods and negative economic conditions. Additionally, lower customer retention,
multi-box promotional strategies and lower direct mail consumer response rates for our Direct Checks
segment and the timing of client gains and losses for our Financial Services segment contributed to the
volume decline. Partially offsetting the decreased volume was a 0.6% increase in revenue per unit. The
continued strength in selling premium-priced licensed and specialty check designs and additional value-
added products and services such as express delivery and fraud prevention, as well as price increases, were
partially offset by increased competitive pricing pressure within our Financial Services segment.

Supplemental information regarding revenue by product is as follows (dollars in thousands):

2004 2003 2002

Checks and related services .....oovvvvecrivnirnnnn, $ 1,187,178 $ 1,108,880 $ 1,144,605
Other printed products ........coccoveveveereeeerenene 116,632 . 21,276 20,262
Accessories and promotional products ......... 263,205 111,985 119,116
TOtal TEVENUE vvvevevvviriveeeeerreveeisenever s $ 1,567,015 $ 1,242,141 $ 1,283,983

Due to the addition of NEBS non-check revenue, the percentage of total revenue derived from the
sale of checks and related products decreased to 75.8% in 2004, as compared to 89.3% in 2003 and 89.1%
in 2002. NEBS contributed non-check revenue of $251.8 million in 2004, primarily comprised of forms,
envelopes, packaging supplies, holiday cards, labels, business cards, stationery and other promotional
products.




Consolidated Gross Margin

(dollars in thousands) ) 2004 S 2003 2002
Gross profit......cevcvecncneiniincne e $ 1,031,066 $ 816,176 $ 848,189

. GTOSS MAIZIN...coveeveireererrrnereirereeerensenenenns 65.8% 65.7% 66.1%

Gross margin was flat in 2004, as compared to 2003. Higher revenue per unit, as well as continued
productivity improvements and on-going cost management efforts, including the closing of six printing
facilities in 2004, were offset by the impact of the lower margin NEBS business and the continued pricing
pressure facing our Financial Services segment. NEBS has historically had lower gross margins than our
other businesses because of its non-check product mix.

The decrease in gross margin in 2003, as compared to 2002, was due primarily to pricing pressure
within Financial Services, lower unit volume and an increase in net restructuring charges of $4.4 million,
primarily related to the closing of three Financial Services check printing facilities. Partially offsetting
these decreases were productivity improvements, cost management efforts, price increases, the continued
strength in selling premium-priced licensed and specialty check designs and additional value-added
products and services and the curtailment gain of $1.4 million discussed earlier under Restructuring
Charges, Asset Impairments and Other Developments.

Consolidated Selling, General & Administrative Expense

(dollars in thousands)‘ 2004 2003 2062
Selling, general and administrative expense. § 683,184 $ 492511 $ 502,961
- as a percentage of revenue........ocecoeiennes 43.6% 39.6% 39.2%

The increase in SG&A expense in 2004, as compared to 2003, was primarily due to expenses of the
‘acquired NEBS business (including $19.1 million of additional acquisition-related amortization expense for
certain intangible assets and $7.1 million of integration expenses), a $12.7 million increase in performance-
based employee compensation due to our operating performance exceeding planned amounts, a $10.3
million increase in stock-based compensation and a $4.7 million increase in Direct Checks advertising
expense due to new product efforts. In January 2004, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of
SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. Further information concerning this change in
accounting principle can be found under Stock-Based Compensation. Partially offsetting these increases
were our cost management efforts, including savings realized from employee reductions, and lower
discretionary spending. ‘

SG&A expense as a percentage of revenue increased in 2004, as compared to 2003, primarily as a
result of NEBS results. NEBS has historically had a higher SG&A percentage than our other businesses -
because NEBS relies to a greater degree on direct mail and a direct sales force to acquire and retain
customers. Additionally, as discussed above, NEBS results included $19.1 million of additional
acquisition-related amortization expense and $7.1 million of integration expenses.

The decrease in SG&A expense in 2003, as compared to 2002, was primarily due to a $16.0 million
‘decrease in performance-based employee compensation, lower discretionary spending and cost
management efforts as we managed through the challenging business and economic environments, as well
as the curtailment gain of $2.6 million discussed earlier under Restructuring Charges, Asset Impairments
and Other Developments. These decreases were partially offset by a $7.4 million increase in commissions
for our Small Business Services segment and an increase in net restructuring charges of $5.7 million related
to reductions in employees within Financial Services and our corporate support group.
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Interest Expense

(dollars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002
INLETESt EXPENSE..vevrveriurrrerersiereerereesiseeecens $ 32,851 $ 19,241 $ - 5,079

The increase in interest expense in 2004, as compared to 2003, was due to our higher debt level
resulting from the acquisition of NEBS, partially offset by lower interest rates. During 2004, we had
weighted-average debt outstanding of $942.6 million at a weighted-average interest rate of 3.27%. During
2003, we had weighted-average debt outstanding of $468.4 million at a weighted-average interest rate of
3.67%. '

The increase in interest expense in 2003, as compared to 2002, was primarily due to higher interest
rates on long-term notes we issued in December 2002, as well as higher debt levels to fund our share
repurchase programs. During 2002, we had weighted-average debt outstanding of $171.8 million at a
weighted-average interest rate of 2.13%. '

Provision for Income Taxes

(dollars in thousands) ‘ 2004 2003, 2002
Provision for income taxes.........cccovveeverrnene. $ 118,225 $ 106,908 $ 126,448
Effective taX Tate.....cccovvvveveenrirereeecsieeseneens 37.3% 35.7% 37.1%

The increase in our effective tax rate for 2004, as compared to 2003, was primarily due to the
reversal of $7.3 million of previously established income tax reserves during 2003. These reversals were
discussed earlier under Restructuring Charges, Asset Impairments and Other Developments, and lowered
our 2003 effective tax rate by 2.4 points. Our 2004 effective tax rate was positively impacted by refunds
received for prior year state income tax credits, as well as an increase in our estimate of 2004 state income
tax credits. We expect our 2005 tax rate to be approximately 38%.

Earnings before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization of Intangibles (EBITDA)

(dollars in thousands) : 2004 2003 2002
Net INCOME ...ttt eeeraenese et s $ 197,991 § 192,472 § 214,274
Discontinued operations.........cccoeveeveeieernercaennen 657 — —
Provision for income taxes.......cccovvveeviveevreennnns 118,225. 106,908 126,448
Interest expense, Net........ccoveerveverieiienirenicneenen 31,481 18,872 4,404
Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)....... 348,354 318,252 345,126
Depreciation.................. et e e e seareens . 27,330 22,773 23,953
Amortization of intangibles ..........coceevvereerirenenn 66,526 37,309 34,252
EBITDA........cooivitreiceiese et sesseaeeveens § 442210 $ 378,334 § 403,331
EBITDA as a percentage of revenue................ 282% - 30.5% 31.4%

EBIT and EBITDA are not measures of financial performance under generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP). We disclose these measures because they can be used to analyze profitability between
companies and industries by eliminating the effects of financing (i.e., interest) and capital investments (i.e.,
depreciation and amortization). We believe these measures can indicate whether a company’s eamings are
adequate to pay its debts without regard to financing, capital structure or income taxes. We also believe that
increases in these measures depict increased ability to attract financing and increase the valuation of our
business. We do not consider these measures to be substitutes for performance measures calculated in
accordance with GAAP. Instead, we believe that these are useful performance measures which should be
considered in addition to those measures reported in accordance with GAAP. Our committed lines of credit
contain covenants requiring a minimum EBIT to interest expense ratio.

The increase in these measures in 2004, as compared to 2003, was due to NEBS results of
operations, productivity improvements and other cost management efforts. The decrease in 2003, as




coinpared to 2002, was due prirhafily to the revenue decline and the increase in net pre-tax charges
discussed earlier under Restructuring Charges, Asset Impairments and Other Developments, partially offset
by productivity improvements and other cost management efforts.

EBITDA as a percentage of tevenue decreased in 2004, as compared to 2003, due to NEBS lower
margin business. NEBS has historically had lower operating margins than our other businesses because of
its non-check product mix and its greater reliance on direct mail and a direct sales force to acquire and
retain customers. ,

ACQUISITION OF NEW ENGLAND BUSINESS SERVICE, INC.

As discussed earlier, on June 25, 2004, we acquired all of the outstanding shares of NEBS for $44
per share and agreed to redeem all outstanding NEBS stock options for $44 per option share less the option
exercise price. As of December 31, 2004, substantially all of the direct costs of the acquisition had been
paid. The total purchase price for the acquisition was comprised of the following (dollars in thousands):

Cash payments for NEBS common Stock .......cceeueueueuennns $ 585,351
Cash payments to redeem NEBS stock options.................. 44,087
Direct costs of the acqUISItION ......c.veeieveiveeieiecerrerereeeens 10,351

Total purchase price........ccoveeeirrrnescreerrsereeeseeen $ 639,789
Amount paid through December 31, 2004.............. e $ 638,890
Cash acquired from NEBS ..o (14,031)
Payments for acquisition through December 31,

2004, net of cash acquired ................... e $ 624,859

_ To finance the acquisition, we utilized $475.0 million of an $800.0 million bridge financing
agreement, as well as commercial paper. We re-financed these borrowings in October 2004 when we
issued $600.0 million of long-term debt. Further details concerning this long-term debt can be found in
Liquidity, Capital Resources and Financial Condition. '

NEBS operating results are included in our consolidated results of operations from the date of
acquisition. In the fourth quarter of 2004, we finalized our allocation of the purchase price to the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values at the date of acquisition. This
allocation is reflected in our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2004.

" Our allocation of the purchase price reflects $30.2 million of restructuring accruals for NEBS
activities which we have decided to exit. These accruals primarily include severance payments, as well as
$2.8 million due under noncancelable operating leases on facilities which have been or will be vacated as

, we consolidate operations. The severance accruals include payments due 884 employees. This includes
employees in the Tucker, Georgia printing facility which was closed during the fourth quarter of 2004, the
Los Angeles, California facility which we plan to close by the end of 2005 and the Athens, Ohio facility
which we will begin ¢losing in 2005 and will be completely closed by mid-2006. Additionally, the accruals
include employees in various functional areas throughout the organization resulting from our shared
services approach to manufacturing and certain SG&A functions. The severance accruals also include
amounts due to certain NEBS executives under change of control provisions included in their employment

agreements, as we eliminate redundancies between the two companies. Restructuring payments are

~ expected to be substantially completed by the end of 2006, utilizing cash from operations. As a result of

these facility closures and employee reductions, we expect to realize cost savings of approximately $7
million in cost of goods sold and $18 million in SG&A expense in 2006, in comparison to NEBS historical
results of operations.

During the fourth quarter of 2004, we disposed of substantially all of the operations of NEBS
European businesses. This disposal reflects our intention to focus on our North American operations and
was completed on December 31, 2004. Net proceeds from the sale were $0.8 million, subject to subsequent
adjustment based on an audit of the companies’ December 31, 2004 balance sheets. No gain or loss was
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recognized on this disposition as the assets and liabilities were recorded at fair value on the acquisition
date. Also during the fourth quarter of 2004, we announced the planned sale of NEBS apparel business,
PremiumWear. This sale will allow us to focus our resources on the many critical initiatives underway
within Small Business Services. We anticipate that this sale will be completed in 2005. The results of
operations of these businesses are reflected as discontinued operations in our 2004 consolidated financial
statements.

The purchase price allocation resulted in goodwill of $498.5 million. We believe that the NEBS
_acquisition resulted in the recognition of goodwill primarily because of its industry position, the potential
to introduce products across multiple channels and the ability to realize cost synergies. The following
illustrates our allocation of the purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed (dollars in
thousands):

Cash and cash equivalents.........ccooevercrerreereernennen. $ 14,681
Trade accounts receivable ........oocvevivveeveercriveninnne. 71,563
Inventories and SUPPLIES........ocverrmrvereureerieneererencnes 38,293
Deferred inCOME tAXES.....cvvereevernurerrneeseneernessssneenenes 26,928
Other current assets .........cocevvevveenne rerererreenenrestans ’ 14,483
Long-term inVestments. ........cocerveeveeererncrernnieneennens 2,974
Property, plant and equipment ............cccovvrerrernnnren 59,236
Assets held for sale........ooveeinerreiirneee e 2,981
Intangibles ......coeoveeiircrcencnne, et 253,871
GOOAWIIL ..o 498,503
Other nON-CUITENE ASSELS....cveeeerenrerrnrirrereereereesiereenes 8,420
Accounts payable ... (30,124)
Accrued Habilities......covvrrrrvevrseersssesesserssissressesenns (92,164)
Long-term debt due within one year.......c...cocoveerennn (10,417)
Long-term debt.......ccccovviioeirerneneernneisicnennes (155,203)
Deferred inCOME taXES.....covveeeeiecreeereveicrivarserscisenes (56,960)
Other non-current liabilities .........c.ccoeniecrsiierennn ) (7,276)

Total purchase price ........c.cocvveeeereerecreneeens s . $ 639,789

SEGMENT RESULTS

Additional financial information regarding our business segments appears under the caption “Note
15: Business segment information” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements appearing in Part 11
of this report. '

Small Business Services

Small Business Services is comprised of the newly acquired NEBS business and our former
Business Services segment. This segment sells checks, forms and related products to more than six million
small businesses and home offices through direct response marketing, financial institution referrals and via
sales representatives, independent distributors and the Internet. The following table shows the results of
this segment for 2004 and 2003 (dollars in thousands):

Increase/(Decrease)

2004 2003 S %
Revenue......cccoveeeneinreeniieincnniene § 616345 $§ 238,625 $ 377,720 158.3%
Operating INCOME .....ccecerverrererrenenns 101,910 74,123 27,787 37.5%

% of revenue ... 16.5% © 311% — —

The NEBS acquisition contributed revenue of $363.2 million in 2004. Additionally, the growth in
revenue resulted from higher volume and price increases. Financial institution referrals increased due to the
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timing of client gains and losses and due to our focus on expanding the utilization of this program with our.
financial institution clients. Partially offsetting these improvements was the overall decline in the number
of checks being written due to the increasing use of alternative payment methods.

The increase in operating income was due to the acquisition of NEBS, the revenue growth and lower
discretionary spending, partially offset by increased customer care costs in support of the higher revenue
level. The decrease in operating margin was due to NEBS lower margin business. NEBS has historically
had lower operating margins than our other businesses because of its non-check product mix and its greater
reliance on direct mail and a direct sales force to acquire and retain customers.

The following table shows the results of this segment for 2003 and 2002 (dollars in thousands):

Increase/(Decrease)

2003 2002 $ %
ReVENUE.....coveecviecirretseesreceenn $ 238,625 § 210,726 S 27,899 13.2%
Operating inCome .....c.ceovevrverereccnrenens 74,123 65,319 8,804 13.5%

% Of TEVENUE ...ovivvvireieirvieeree, ‘ 31.1% 31.0% — —

The increase in revenue resulted from both higher unit volume and higher revenue per unit.
Financial institution referrals increased, and we began to realize the benefit of being the endorsed supplier
of business checks and forms for the Microsoft® Money and Microsoft Business Solutions products.
‘Additionally, revenue per unit increased due to improved selling techniques and price increases. Partially
offsetting these improvements was the overall decline in the number of checks being written due to
negative economic conditions and the increasing use of alternative payment methods.

The increase in operating income was due to the revenue increase, partially offset by higher
commissions resulting from increased financial institution referrals and business alliances, as well as higher
employee costs related to transforming our customer care organization from a service to a selling
environment. :

Financial Services

Financial Services sells personal and business checks, related products and check merchandising
services to financial institutions. Additionally, we offer enhanced services to our financial institution
clients, such as customized reporting, file management, expedited account conversion support and fraud
prevention. The following table shows the results of this segment for 2004 and 2003 (dollars in thousands):

Increase/(Decrease)
2004 2003 $ %
Revenue........ocoovervrvcnncencenrecnenennn $ 665373 § 699,250 $ (33,877) (4.8%)
Operating INCOME .......cooererrevrrerernnnn. 159,986 146,711 13,275 9.0%

% Of TEVENUE ..ooevvviviecieieire s 24.0% 21.0% — —

The decrease in revenue was primarily due to an overall decline in the number of checks being
written due to the increasing use of alternative payment methods, as well as competitive pricing pressure.
These revenue decreases were partially offset by increased sales of premium-priced licensed and specialty
check designs and additional value-added services, as well as a $7.7 million contract buy-out in the third
quarter of 2004.

The increase in operating income was the result of cost management efforts, including savings
realized from employee reductions, productivity improvements and lower discretionary spending, partially
offset by the revenue decline.
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The following table shows the results of this segment for 2003 and 2002 (dollars in thousands):

Increase/(Decrease)
2003 2002 $ %
REVENUE ..o $§ 699250 § 762,391 § (63,141) (8.3%)
Operating income .........ccovvvvivenenns 146,711 189,151 (42,440) (22.4%)

% OF TEVENUE ...occvvveeeerecve e 21.0% 24.8% — —

The decrease in revenue was due to continued competitive pricing pressure and lower volume
resulting from an overall decline in the number of checks being written due to the increasing use of
alternative payment methods and negative economic conditions. Additionally, the timing of financial
institution client gains and losses impacted this segment. These revenue decreases were partially offset by
increased sales of premium-priced licensed and specialty check designs and additional value-added
services.

The decrease in operating income was primarily the result of the revenue decline and higher
severance and asset impairment charges. Financial Services recorded net restructuring charges of $11.2
million in 2003, compared to net restructuring charges of $0.8 million in 2002. The 2003 restructuring
charges were for employee severance related to the closing of three check printing facilities, as well as
other employee reductions. The restructuring charges recorded in 2002 related to employee reductions in
both manufacturing and SG&A functions. Additionally, Financial Services recorded asset impairment
charges of $4.4 million in 2003. The net restructuring and asset impairment charges were discussed earlier
under Restructuring Charges, Asset Impairments and Other Developments. Partially offsetting these
decreases in operating income were lower discretionary spending and cost management efforts, lower
performance-based employee compensation, production efficiencies and $2.6 million related to the
curtailment gain discussed earlier under Restructuring Charges, Asset Impairments and Other
Developments.

Direct Checks ‘ A

Direct Checks sells checks and related products directly to consumers through direct mail and the
Internet. We use a variety of direct marketing techniques to acquire new customers in the direct-to-
consumer channel, including freestanding inserts in newspapers, in-package advertising, statement stuffers
and co-op advertising. We also use e-commerce strategies to direct traffic to our websites. Direct Checks
sells under the Checks Unlimited and Designer Checks brand names. The following table shows the results
of this segment for 2004 and 2003 (dollars in thousands):

Increase/(Decrease)

2004 2003 $ %
Revenue.....cceceevvvrenrercieeciee e § 285297 § 304266 § (18,969) (6.2%)
Operating iNCOME ....ovevererrirererrereresvennene 86,016 98,087 (12,071)  (12.3%)

% Of TEVENUE ....ovevveeeirieee e, 30.1% 32.2% — —

The decrease in revenue was due to lower unit volume resulting from an overall decline in the
number of checks being written, lower consumer response rates to direct mail advertisements, longer
reorder cycles due to our promotional strategies for multi-box orders and lower customer retention.
Partially offsetting the revenue pressures from the volume decline was an increase in revenue per order due
to price increases, the improved effectiveness of our selling techniques and continued strength in selling
premium-priced licensed and specialty check designs and additional value-added products and services.

The decrease in operating income was primarily due to the revenue decline and a $4.7 million
increase in advertising expense due to new product efforts, partially offset by productivity improvements
and cost management initiatives, including savings realized from employee reductions.
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The following table shows the results of this segment for 2003 and 2002 (dollars in thousands):

Increase/(Decrease)

2003 2002 $ %
Revenue.........oceveccnniniiineeeee, $ 304266 § 310,866 § (6,600) (2.1%)
Operating inCome .......c.cccvvvvrvrereeererennen, 98,087 90,461 7,626 8.4%

% Of TEVENUE ..oovvvvieeeeeiieeeeee e 32.2% 29.1% — —

-The decrease in revenue was due to lower unit volume resulting from an overall decline in the
number of checks being written resulting from the increasing use of alternative payment methods and
negative economic conditions, lower customer retention, lower consumer response rates to direct mail
advertisements and longer reorder cycles due to promotional strategies for multi-box orders. Partially
offsetting the revenue pressures from the volume decline was an increase in revenue per order due to
continued strength in selling premium-priced licensed and specialty check designs and additional value-
added services, as well as price increases.

The increase in operating income was due to efficiencies within the manufacturing and order entry
functions and cost management efforts, which more than offset the revenue decline.

LIQUIDITY, CAPITAL RESOURCES AND FINANCIAL CONDITION

As of December 31, 2004, we had cash and cash equivalents of $15.5 million. The following table
shows our cash flow activity for the last three years and should be read in conjunction with the
consolidated statements of cash flows (dollars in thousands):

2004 2003 2002
Continuing operations:

Net cash provided by operating activities..........coouverrererenenn. $ 307,591 § 181,467 $ 257,139
Net cash used by investing activities ........ccc.eeerrrerrercrnenn. (670,837) (24,883) (44,149)
Net cash provided (used) by financing activities ................ 369,963 (278,471) (97,706)

Effect of exchange rate change on cash........cccoevvevenerneeee. 1,155 — —

Net cash provided (used) by continuing operations............ 7,872 (121,887) 115,284

Discontinued Operations.............oceeeeererrrireenesennnns [T 4,652 — —

Net change in cash and cash equivalents...............occveeeeee, $ 12,524  $ (121,887) $ 115,284

The $126.1 million increase in cash provided by operating activities in 2004, as compared to 2003,
was due primarily to our cost management initiatives and productivity improvements, a $32.0 million
decrease in contract acquisition payments to financial institution clients within the Financial Services
segment, lower Direct Checks advertising spend in 2004 and a $12.9 million decrease in payments made
for profit sharing and pension contributions. Net cash provided by operating activities in 2004 was
negatively impacted $28.2 million due to NEBS severance payments, payments due to executive officers
under change of control agreements and profit sharing and pension payments related to NEBS pre-
acquisition results of operations. During 2004, cash inflows generated from net income less non-cash
expenses were utilized primarily to make income tax payments of $108.4 million, voluntary employee
beneficiary association (VEBA) trust contributions of $40.5 million, employee profit sharing and pension
contributions of $26.7 million, interest payments of $28.4 million and contract acquisition payments to
financial institution clients of $15.8 million.

The $75.7 million decrease in cash provided by operating activities in 2003, as compared to 2002,
was due primarily to the lower earnings discussed earlier under Consolidated Results of Operations,
changes in accounts payable, the amount and timing of advertising spending within our Direct Checks
segment and a $12.8 million increase in contract acquisition payments to financial institution clients within
the Financial Services segment. During 2003, cash inflows generated from net income less non-cash
expenses were utilized primarily to make income tax payments of $110.5 million, contract acquisition
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payments to financial institution clients of $47.7 million, employee profit sharing and pension contributions
of $39.6 million and VEBA trust contributions of $32.0 million. During 2002, cash inflows generated from
net income less non-cash expenses were utilized to fund income tax payments of $116.5 million, employee
profit sharing and pension contributions of $40.6 million, contract acquisition payments to financial
institution clients of $34.9 million and VEBA trust contributions of $25.5 million.

Significant cash inflows for each year were as follows (dollars in thousands):

) 2004 2003 2002
Net proceeds from short-term and long-term debt ...... $ 646,286 $ 288,050 $ 145,722

Net cash provided by operating activities of
CONUNUING OPETALIONS ...vvvvereeiasereernerieresierseesennnseene 307,591 181,467 257,139

Proceeds from shares issued under employee plans.... - 18,923 " 23,869 30,869

| Significant cash outflows for each year were as follows (dollars in thousands):
2004 2003 2002

Payments for acquisition, net of cash acquired............ § 624859 §  — % —
Payments on long-term debt...........cecvecrevenninresnsrnnes 167,050 1,743 1,723
Cash dividends paid to shareholders............coooooroveor.. 74302 80,453 92,940
Purchases of Capital @SSEtS...........vurverrerneerererreenianssenns 43,817 22,034 40,708
Payments for common shares repurchased 26,637 - 507,126 172,803,
Settlement of interest rate lock agreements 23,564 — 4,026

We believe that important measures of our financial strength are the ratio of EBIT to interest
expense, and the ratio of free cash flow'" to total debt.

EBIT to interest expense was 10.6 times for 2004, 16.5 times for 2003 and 68.0 times for 2002. Our
committed lines of credit contain covenants requiring a minimum EBIT to interest expense ratio on a four-
quarter trailing basis of 3.0 times. The decrease in 2004 was primarily due to higher interest expense
resulting from higher debt levels to fund the acquisition of NEBS and to fund share repurchases earlier in
the year. This ratio will continue to decrease through the first three quarters of 2005 due to re-financing of
a portion of our short-term debt with higher rate long-term debt and also higher debt levels. Nonetheless,
we believe the risk of violating our financial covenants is low as we expect solid profitability and cash flow
to continue. The decrease in 2003, as compared to 2002, was primarily due to higher interest expense
resulting from higher interest rates and debt levels primarily due to the issuance of $300.0 million of

@) Free cash flow is not a measure of financial performance under GAAP, We monitor free cash flow on an ongoing bass, as it
measures the amount of cash generated from our operating performance after investment initiatives and the payment of dividends.
It represents the amount of cash available for interest payments, debt service, general corporate purposes and strategic initiatives.
We do not consider free cash flow to be a substitute for performarice measures calculated in accordance with GAAP. Instead, we
believe that free cash flow is a useful liquidity measure which should be considered in addition to those measures reported in
accordance with GAAP. The measure of free cash flow to total debt is a liquidity measure which illustrates to what degree our free
cash flow covers our existing debt. Free cash flow is derived from net cash provided by operating activities of continuing
operations as follows (dollars in thousands):

2004 2003 2002
Net cash provided by operating activities of continuing
OPETATIONS evereeseereeressserersersseneneesareseseessresssssesesssesereesssmereee $ 307,591 3§ 181,467 $ 257,139
Purchases of capital assets.............. OO ON (43,817) (22,034) (40,708)
Cash dividends paid to shareholders.............. SRRV (74,302) (80,453) (92,940)
FIEE CASH TIOW...vvvvvuverrieeseneserersssessesisessssssesssessessssssssessissnserens $ 189,472 $ 78,980 3 123,491




long-term notes in December 2002. The comparable ratio of net income to interest expense was 6.0 times
for 2004, 10.0 times for 2003 and 42.2 times for 2002. Further information regarding EBIT was provided
earlier under Consolidated Results of Operations.

Free cash flow to total debt was 15.2% for 2004, 13.3% for 2003 and 40.1% for 2002. We calculate
free cash flow as cash provided by operating activities less purchases of capital assets and dividends paid to
shareholders. The increase in 2004, as compared to 2003, was primarily due to the increase in operating
cash flow discussed earlier. This impact was partially offset by the higher debt level as of December 31,
2004, due to financing required for the NEBS acquisition. The decrease in 2003, as compared to 2002, was
due to the higher level of debt outstanding as of December 31, 2003, which was utilized to fund share
repurchases, as well as the decrease in cash provided by operating activities discussed carlier. These
decreases were partially offset by the lower level of capital asset purchases in 2003 as we reduced
discretionary spending and the lower level of dividends paid due to fewer shares outstanding. The
comparable ratio of net cash provided by operating activities to total debt was 24.7% for 2004, 30.5% for
2003 and 83.4% for 2002.

. Total debt outstanding was comprised of the following (dollars in thousands):

December 31,

2004 2003

3.5% senior, unsecured notes due October 1, 2007, net of discount ......... $ 324815 § -
5.0% senior, unsecured notes due December 15, 2012, net of discount.... 298,494 298,304
5.125% senior, unsecured notes due October 1, 2014, net of discount..... v 274,399 —
2.75% senior, unsecured notes due September 15, 2006 ... 50,000 50,000
Variable rate senior, unsecured notes due November 4, 2005................... — 25,000
Long-term portion of capitz;ll lease obligations ........................................... 6,140 7316
Long-term portion 0f debt.............c..coevurvueriverrmecesesieesiorssssssssersnssnens 953,848 380,620
COMMETCIAl PAPET ....cuvevreriiiiriirierierer sttt ea e rs s s e 264,000 213,250
Variable rate senior, unsecured notes due November 4, 2005.........o......... 25,000 —
Capital lease obligations due within one year...........cccoecevveviicceinncenn, 1,359 1,074
TOtal debl.c.eoceci et $ 1,244207 § 594,944

In October 2004, we issued $325.0 miilion of 3.5% senior, unsecured notes maturing on October 1,
2007 and $275.0 million of 5.125% senior, unsecured notes maturing on October 1, 2014. The notes were
issued via a private placement under Rule 144A of the Securities Act of 1933. These notes were
subsequently registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) via a registration statement
which became effective on November 23, 2004. Interest payments are due each April and October.
Principal redemptions on the three-year notes may not be made prior to their stated maturity. The notes
include covenants that place restrictions on the issuance of additional debt that would be senior to the notes
and the execution of certain sale-leaseback agreements. The notes were issued at a discount from par value.
The resulting discount of $0.8 million is being amortized ratably as an increase to interest expense over the
terms of the notes. Proceeds from the offering, net of offering costs, were $595.5 million. These proceeds
were used to pay off commercial paper borrowings used for the acquisition of NEBS. The fair value of
these notes was $582.4 million as of December 31, 2004, based on quoted market prices.

In December 2002, we issued $300.0 million of 5.0% senior, unsecured notes maturing on
December 15, 2012. These notes were issued under our shelf registration statement covering up to $300.0
million in medium-term notes, thereby exhausting that registration statement. Interest payments are due
each June and December. Principal redemptions may be made at our election prior to their stated maturity.
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The notes include covenants that place restrictions on the issuance of additional debt that would be senior
to the notes and the execution of certain sale-leaseback agreements. The notes were issued at 99.369% of
par value. The resulting discount of $1.9 million is being amortized ratably as an increase to interest
expense over the ten-year term of the notes. Proceeds from the offering, net of offering costs, were $295.7
million. These proceeds were used for general corporate purposes, including funding share repurchases,
capital asset purchases and working capital. The fair value of these notes was $295.6 million as of
December 31, 2004, based on quoted market prices.

In September 2003, we issued $50.0 million of 2.75% senior, unsecured notes maturing on
September 15, 2006. The notes were issued under a shelf registration statement which became effective on .
July 8, 2003 and allows for the issuance of debt securities, from time to time, up to an aggregate of $500.0
million. Interest payments are due each March and September. Principal redemptions may be made at our
election prior to their stated maturity. The notes include covenants that place restrictions on the issuance of
additional debt that would be senior to the notes and the execution of certain sale-leaseback agreements.
Proceeds from the offering, net of offering costs, were $49.8 million. These proceeds were used for general
corporate purposes, including funding share repurchases, capital asset purchases and working capital. The
fair value of these notes was $49.4 million as of December 31, 2004, based on quoted market prices.

In November 2003, we issued $25.0 million of variable rate senior, unsecured notes maturing on
November 4, 2005, The notes were issued under the July 8, 2003 shelf registration statement. Interest
paymernts are due each February, May, August and November at an annual interest rate equal to the 3-
month London InterBank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus .05%. This interest rate is reset on a quarterly basis.
Principal redemptions may be made at our election prior to their stated maturity. The notes include
covenants that place restrictions on the issuance of additional debt that would be senior to the notes and the
execution of certain sale-leaseback agreements. Proceeds from the offering were $25.0 million. These
proceeds were used for general corporate purposes, including funding share repurchases, capital asset
purchases and working capital. The fair value of these notes was estimated to be $24.8 million as of
December 31, 2004, based on a broker quote.

During 2004, we entered into $450.0 million of forward starting interest rate swaps to hedge, or lock-
in, the interest rate on a portion of the $600.0 million debt we issued in October 2004. The termination of the
lock agreements yielded a deferred pre-tax loss of $23.6 million. This loss is reflected, net of tax, in
accumulated other comprehensive loss in our consolidatéd balance sheet as of December 31, 2004 and is
being reclassified ratably to our statements of income as an increase to interest expense over the term of the
related debt.

During 2002, we entered into two forward rate lock agreements to effectively hedge, or lock-in, the
annual interest rate on $150.0 million of the $300.0 million notes we issued in December 2002. Upon issuance
of the notes, these lock agreements were terminated, yielding a deferred pre-tax loss of $4.0.million, which is
reflected in accumulated other comprehensive loss in our consolidated balance sheets and is being reclassified
ratably to our statements of income as an increase to interest expense over the ten-year term of the notes.

We currently have a $500.0 million commercial paper program in place which carries a credit rating
of A2/P2. This credit rating was downgraded from A1/P1 during the second quarter of 2004 due to the -
additional debt we issued in conjunction with the acquisition of NEBS. If for any reason we were unable to
access the commercial paper markets, we would rely on our committed lines of credit for liquidity. The
daily average amount of commercial paper outstanding during 2004 was $344.7 million at a weighted-
average interest rate of 1.59%. As of December 31, 2004, $264.0 million was outstanding at a weighted-
average interest rate of 2.45%. The daily average amount of commercial paper outstanding during 2003
was $149.4 million at a weighted-average interest rate of 1.15%. As of December 31, 2003, $213.3 million
was outstanding at a weighted-average interest rate of 1.11%.

During 2004, we also utilized a bridge financing agreement to initially fund a portion of the NEBS
acquisition. The daily average amount outstanding under this bridge financing agreement during 2004 was
$62.3 million at a weighted-average interest rate of 2.07%. During the third quarter of 2004, we utilized
commercial paper borrowings to pay-off the bridge financing agreement. This agreement was terminated
during the fourth quarter of 2004.




We also have committed lines of credit which primarily support our commercial paper program. We
have a 364-day line of credit for $100.0 million which expires in July 2005 and carries a commitment fee of
ten basis points (.10%). We also have two five-year lines of credit. One five-year line of credit is for $175.0
million and expires in August 2007. The other line of credit is for $225.0 million and expires in July 2009.
Both five-year lines of credit carry commitment fees of 12.5 basis points (.125%). The credit agreements
governing the lines of credit contain customary covenants regarding the ratio of EBIT to interest expense
and levels of subsidiary indebtedness. No amounts were drawn on these lines of credit during 2004 or
during 2003, and no amounts were outstanding under these lines of credit as of December 31, 2004.

To the extent not needed to support outstanding commercial paper or letters of credit, we may
borrow funds under our committed lines of credit. As of December 31, 2004, $232.0 million was available
under our committed lines of credit for borrowing or for support of additional commercial paper, as follows
(dollars in thousands): ’

Total Expiration
available date
364-day line of credit .....occoovevivicnirinnnnas $ 100,000 July 2005
Five year line of credit .....c..ceveveereeirencanne. 175,000  August 2007
Five year line of credit .......ocoverereeirineenne. 225,000 July 2009
Total committed lines of credit ............... m
Commercial paper outstanding ................. (264,000)
Letters of credit outstanding ..........ccou...... (3,989)
Net available for borrowing as of 5-%

December 31,2004 .......cuvvvvernnn.

We also have an uncommitted bank line of credit for $50.0 million available at variable interest
rates. No amounts were drawn on this line of credit during 2004 or during 2003, and no amounts were
outstanding under this line of credit as of December 31, 2004.

Absent certain defined events of default under our committed credit facilities, there are no-
significant contractual restrictions on our ability to pay cash dividends.

In August 2003, our board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to 10 million shares of our
common stock. As of December 31, 2004, we had repurchased 2.1 million shares under this authorization.
Although this authorization remains in place, we will most likely not repurchase a significant number of
additional shares in the near future. Instead, we intend to focus on paying down the debt we issued to
complete the NEBS acquisition.

Changes in financial condition — The table included earlier under Acquisition of New England
Business Service, Inc. illustrates the allocation of the NEBS purchase price to the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. The acquisition of NEBS explains most of the significant changes in our balance sheet
from December 31, 2003.
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Contract acquisition costs of our Financial Services segment decreased $12.3 million from
December 31, 2003. These costs are recorded as non-current assets upon contract éxecution and are
" amortized, generally on the straight-line basis, as reductions of revenue over the related contract term.
Changes in contract acquisition costs during 2004 were as follows (dollars in thousands):

Balance, December 31, 2003 .....ocovviiierenerieeeneeeceneeesaeriesesesresessenses $ 96,085
Cash Payments. ..ot s 15,778
Change in aCCTUALS........o.eereeeieenne et beeee 6,490
AMOTHZAtION......corecriireereicnrt e ettt s en (34,528)

Balance, December 31, 2004 ......c.oovvverenrerieeiceeseseeteseesereeesresereanen $ 83,825

The number of checks being written has been in decline since the mid-1990s, which has contributed
to increased competitive pressure when attempting to retain or obtain clients. Beginning in 2001, as
competitive pressure intensified, both the number of financial institution clients requiring contract
acquisition payments and the amount of the payments increased. Although we anticipate that we will
continue to make contract acquisition payments, we cannot quantify future amounts with certainty. The

- amount paid is dependent on numerous factors such as the number and timing of contract executions and
renewals, the actions of our competitors, overall product discount levels and the structure of up-front
product discount payments versus providing higher discount levels throughout the term of the contract. We
anticipate that these payments will continue to be a significant use of cash. When the overall discount level
provided for in a contract is unchanged, contract acquisition costs do not result in lower net revenue. The
impact of these costs is the timing of cash flows. An up-front cash payment is made as opposed to
providing higher product discount levels throughout the term of the contract. Based on the contract
acquisition cost balance as of December 31, 2004, estimated amortization for each of the next five years
ending December 31 is as follows (dollars in thousands):

2005 . $ 27,523
2006.....iiieeninens 25,107
2007 . 15,673
2008, 11,349
2009, 4,033

Shareholders’ deficit was $178.5 million as of December 31, 2004. We are in a deficit position due 4
to the required accounting treatment for share repurchases. Share repurchases during the past three years
were as follows (dollars and shares in thousands):

2004 2003 2002
Dollar amount ................. $ 25520 $ 508,243 $ 172,803
Number of shares.............. 634 12,239 - 3,898

Given the strength of our financial position, as reflected in our cash flow and coverage ratios such as
EBIT to interest expense and free cash flow to total debt, we do not expect our shareholders’ deficit
position to result in any adverse reaction from rating agencies or others that would negatively affect our
liquidity or financial condition.
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CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

As of December 31, 2004, our contractual obligations were as follows (dollars in thousands):

Less One to Three More
than one three - to five than five
Total year years years years
-

Long-term debt and related interest... § 1,273,118 § 67,149 § 457313 § 58,188— $ 690,468

Commercial paper.........cooooeecvvreereenens 264,000 264,000 — — —
Capital lease obligations and
related INterest.....couvvereeererinreeerenenn, 9,520 2,067 3,946 3,507 —
Operating lease obligations................ 22,300 10,571 9,893 1,559 277
Purchase obligations ..........cccovereeeece. 284,097 81,168 59;275 43,704 99,950
Other long-term liabilities.................. 85,197 33,346 30,248 16,786 4,817
" Total....... ettt aeaae e e rans $ 1,938,232 § 458,301 §$ 560,675 § 123,744 $ 795,512

Long-term debt consists of the senior, unsecured notes discussed earlier under Liguidity, Capital
Resources and Financial Condition. The amounts presented in the table above for long-term debt include
both principal and interest payments, using the current interest rate of 2.26% for the $25.0 million variable
rate notes.

We currently have commitments under both operating and capital leases. Our capital lease
obligations bear interest at rates of 7.2% to 10.4% and are due through 2009. We have also entered into
operating leases on certain facilities and equipment.

Purchase obligations include amounts due under contracts with third party service providers. These
contracts are primarily for information technology services related to network servers, personal computers,
telecommunications, software development and support and help desk services. Additionally, purchase
obligations include amounts due under Direct Checks direct mail advertising agreements and royalty
agreements. We routinely issue purchase orders to numerous vendors for the purchase of inventory and
other supplies. These purchase orders are generally cancelable with reasonable notice to the vendor. As
such, these purchase orders are not included in the purchase obligations presented here. Certain of the
contracts with third party service providers allow for early termination upon the payment of specified
penalties. If we were to terminate these agreements, we would incur penalties of $66.2 million as of
December 31, 2004.

Other long-term liabilities consist primarily of amounts due for contract acquisition costs, workers’
compensation and deferred officers’ compensation. Of the $66.5 million reported as long-term liabilities in
our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2004, $14.7 million is excluded from the payments
shown in the table above. The excluded amounts include the following:

~ A portion of the amount due under our deferred officers’ compensation plan — Under this
plan, employees begin receiving payments upon the termination.of employment or disability,
and we cannot predict when these events will occur.

- Environmental remediation costs ~ During 2002, we purchased an environmental insurance
policy which covers pre-existing conditions from third-party claims and cost overruns for 30
years at owned, leased and divested sites, as well as any new conditions discovered at
currently owned or leased sites for ten years.. As a result, we expect to receive
reimbursements from the insurance company for environmental remediation costs we incur.
The related receivables from the insurance company are reflected in other current assets and
other non-current assets in our consolidated balance sheets in amounts equal to our
environmental liabilities.
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—  Items which will not be paid in cash, such as a deferred gain resulting from a 1999 sale-
leaseback transaction with an unaffiliated third party.

Total contractual obligations do not include the following:

- Payments to our defined contribution pension and 401(k) plans — The amounts payable
under our defined contribution pension plans and our 401(k) plans are dependent on the
number of employees providing services throughout the year, their wage rates and in the
case of the 401(k) plans, whether employees elect to participate in the plans.

— Payments to the Canadian pension plan — This plan is fully funded by a trust which we have
* established for this purpose. Trust assets can only be utilized to fund pension payments. The
assets of the trust have been invested. If these investments do not perform as expected, we
may be required to provide further funding to the trust. However, we cannot predict when,
or if, further funding will be required. The projected benefit obligation for this plan was $4.9
~ million as of December 31, 2004.

—  Profit sharing payments — The amounts payable under our profit sharing plans are dependent
on the financial performance of the company.

—  Payments for our retiree health care plans — Benefits paid under our retiree health care plan
are dependent on the level of medical costs incurred by plan participants. Additionally, we
~ have contributed funds to a trust for the purpose of funding our retiree health care plan.
Trust assets can be utilized only to pay medical costs of plan participants. Thus, we have the
option of paying retiree medical costs from the trust or from the general assets of the
company. '

— Income tax payments which will be remitted on our earnings, or

—  Contributions which may be made to the VEBA trust which we use to fund employee and
retirce medical and severance payments.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS/CONTINGENT COMMITMENTS

It has not been our practice to enter into off-balance sheet arrangements. In the normal course of
business we periodically enter into agreements that incorporate general indemnification language. These
indemnifications encompass such items as intellectual property rights, governmental regulations and/or
employment-related matters. Performance under these indemnities would generally be triggered by a breach of
terms of the contract or by a third-party claim. There have historically been no material losses related to such
indemnifications, and we do not expect any material adverse claims in the future. We have established a
formal contract review process to assist in identifying significant indemnification clauses.

We are not engaged in any transactions, arrangements or other relationships with unconsolidated
entities or other third parties that are reasonably likely to have a material effect on our liquidity, or on our
access to, or requirements for capital resources. In addition, we have not established any special purpose
entities.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

We have entered into no significant related party transactions during the past three years.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based
upon our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. We review the accounting policies used in
reporting our financial results on a regular basis. The preparation of these financial statements requires us
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to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses and the related disclosure of contingent assets-and liabilities. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate
our estimates, including those related to goodwill and indefinite-lived trade names, income taxes,
restructuring accruals and post-retirement benefits. We base our estimates on historical experience and on
various other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the result of which forms
the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Results may differ from these estimates due to actual outcomes being different
from those on which we based our assumptions. The estimates and judgments utilized are reviewed by
management on an ongoing basis and by the audit committee of our board of directors at the end of each
quarter prior to the public release of our financial results. We implemented one significant change to our
accounting policies during 2004. On January 1, 2004, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of
SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. This change in accounting principle is
discussed in further detail under Stock-Based Compensation.

APPLICATION OF CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Goodwill and indefinite-lived trade names — As of December 31, 2004, we had goodwill of $580.7
million, comprised of $498.5 million from the acquisition of NEBS and $82.2 million related to our Direct
Checks segment’s acquisition of Designer Checks in 2000. Goodwill is tested for impairment on at least an
annual basis and between annual evaluations if events or circumstances occur which could indicate that an
impairment has occurred. As discussed earlier under Segment Results, our Direct Checks segment has been
impacted by the decline in check usage, lower consumer response rates to direct mail advertisements,
longer re-order cycles due to multi-box promotional strategies and lower customer retention rates. To date,
we have been able to offset the impact of the resulting volume decline through improved selling
techniques, price increases and cost management efforts. However, eventually we may no longer be able to
offset the impact of continuing volume declines. Assuming the business conditions for Direct Checks
remain as they are and we are unable to offset the impact of continuing volume declines, eventually the
goodwill associated with the Designer Checks acquisition will be impaired, and we will be required to
reflect the impairment charge in our results of operations.

We also have indefinite-lived trade names of $59.4 million as of December 31, 2004, resulting from
the acquisition of NEBS. We will continually evaluate the remaining useful lives of these assets to
determine whether events and circumstances continue to support an indefinite useful life. If we
subsequently determine that one or more of these assets have a finite useful life, we will first test the asset
for impairment and then amortize the asset over its estimated remaining useful life.

The evaluation of asset impairment requires us to make assumptions about future cash flows over
the life of the asset being evaluated. These assumptions require significant judgment and actual results may
differ from assumed or estimated amounts.

Income taxes — When preparing our consolidated financial statements, we are required to estimate
our income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate. This process involves estimating our
actual current tax obligations based on expected income, statutory tax rates and tax planning opportunities
in the various jurisdictions in which we operate. In the event there is a significant unusual or one-time item
recognized in our results of operations, the tax attributable to that item would be separately calculated and
recorded in the period the unusual or one-time item occurred.

Tax law requires certain items to be included in our tax return at different times than the items are
reflected in our results of operations. As a result, the annual effective tax rate reflected in our results of
operations is different than that reported on our tax return (i.e., our cash tax rate). Some of these
differences are permanent, such as expenses that are not deductible in our tax return, and some differences
reverse over time, such as depreciation expense on capital assets. These timing differences result in
deferred tax assets and liabilities, which are included within our consolidated balance sheets. Deferred tax
assets generally represent items that can be used as a tax deduction or credit in our tax return in future
years for which we have already recorded the expense in our statements of income. We must assess the
likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income, and to the extent we
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believe that recovery is not likely, we must establish a valuation allowance against those deferred tax
assets. Deferred tax liabilities generally represent items for which we have already taken a-deduction in our
tax return but we have not yet recognized the items as expense in our results of operations. Significant
judgment is required in evaluating our tax positions, and in determining our provision for income taxes,
our deferred tax assets and liabilities and any valuation allowance recorded against our net deferred tax
assets.

We establish reserves when, despite our belief that the tax return positions are fully supportable,
certain positions are likely to be challenged and we may ultimately not prevail in defending those positions.
We adjust these reserves in light of changing facts and circumstances, such as the closing of a tax audit.
The effective tax rate includes the impact of reserve provisions and changes to reserves that are considered
appropriate, as well as related interest. Our reserves for contingent tax liabilities totaled $17.6 million as of
December 31, 2004, and are included in accrued liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets. These
reserves relate to various tax years subject to audit by taxing authorities. We believe that our current tax
reserves are adequate, and reflect the most probable outcome of known tax contingencies. However, the
ultimate outcome may differ from our estimates and assumptions and could impact the provision for
income taxes reflected in our consolidated statements of income. Unfavorable settlement of any particular
issue would require the use of cash. Favorable resolution could result in reduced income tax expense in our
consolidated statements of income in the future. ‘

During 2003, we reversed $7.3 million of previously established income tax reserves. A prior year
federal audit period was closed due to the expiration of the statute of limitations, and we reached
agreements with two states to favorably settle proposed income tax audit assessments. As a result, the
related reserves were no longer required.

During 2002, we reversed $12.9 million of previously established income tax reserves. During the
fourth quarter of 2002, the IRS completed its review of our income tax returns for 1996 through 1998.
Certain IRS rules were clarified in a manner favorable to us, and the related reserves were no longer
required. Substantially offsetting these reversals in 2002 was a $12.2 million charge for a valuation
allowance related to our deferred tax asset for capital loss carryforwards which expired in 2003. By the
fourth quarter of 2002, the predominance of negative evidence indicated that it was more likely than not
that the tax benefits associated with a majority of the capital loss carryforwards would not be realized as
certain tax planning strategies upon which we intended to rely were no longer considered to be prudent or
feasible. ‘ '

Restructuring accruals — Over the past several years, we have recorded restructuring accruals as a
result of facility closings and other cost management efforts. Cost management is one of our strategic
objectives and we are continually seeking ways to lower our cost structure. The acquisition of NEBS has
resulted in even larger restructuring accruals as we combine the two companies and exit certain activities.
These accruals primarily consist of employee termination benefits payable under our ongoing severance
benefit plan. We record accruals for employee termination benefits when it is probable that a liability has
been incurred and the amount of the liability is reasonably estimable. As such, judgment is involved in
determining when it is appropriate to record restructuring accruals. Additionally, we are required to make
estimates and assumptions in calculating the restructuring accruals, as many times employees choose to
voluntarily leave the company prior to their termination date or they secure another position within the
company. In these situations, the employees do not receive termination benefits. To the extent our
assumptions and estimates differ from actual employee behavior, subsequent adjustments to restructuring
accruals have been and will be required.

With regards to our 2003 employee reduction initiatives, we subsequently reversed $1.3 million of
the original restructuring accruals as a result of fewer employees receiving severance benefits than
originally estimated. No significant adjustments were made to the accruals related to our 2004 or 2002
employee reduction initiatives.

Post-retirement benefits — Our net post-retirement benefit expense was $5.1 million in 2004, $6.7
million in 2003 and $5.6 million in 2002. Qur business segments record post-retirement benefit expense in
cost of goods sold or SG&A expense, based on the composition of their workforces. Our post-retirement
benefit expense and liability are calculated utilizing various actuarial assumptions and methodologies.
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These assumptions include, but are not limited to, the discount rate, the expected long-term rate of return
on plan assets and the expected health care cost trend rate. The discount rate assumption is based on the
rates of return on high-quality, fixed-income instruments currently available whose cash flows match the
timing and amount of expected benefit payments, The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets and
the health care cost trend rate are based upon an evalnation of our historical trends and experience, taking
into account current and expected market conditions. The long-term rate of return on plan assets reflects
the average rate of earnings expected on the funds invested or to be invested to provide for expected
benefit payments. The health care cost trend rate represents the expected annual rate of change in the cost
of health care benefits currently provided due to factors other than changes in the demographics of plan
participants. If the assumptions utilized in determining our post-retirement benefit expense and liability
differ from actual events, our results of operations for future periods could be impacted.

In measuring the accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation as of December 31, 2004, we
assumed a discount rate of 5.75%. A 0.25 point change in the discount rate would increase or decrease our
annual post-retirement benefit expense by $0.4 million. In measuring the net post-retirement benefit
expense for 2004, we assumed an expected long-term rate of return on plan assets of 8.75%. A 0.25 point
change in this assumption would increase or decrease our annual post-retirement benefit expense by $0.2
million. ’ '

In measuring the accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation as of December 31, 2004, our
initial health care inflation rate for 2005 was assumed to be 10.75% and our uitimate health care inflation
rate for 2011 and beyond was assumed to be 5.25%. A one percentage point increase in the health care
inflation rate for each year would increase the accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation by $15.9
million and the service and interest cost components of our annual post-retirement benefit expense by $0.9
million. A one percentage point decrease in the health care inflation rate for each year would decrease the
accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation by $14.1 million and the service and interest cost "
components of our annual post-retirement benefit expense by $0.9 million.

When actual events differ from our assumptions or when we change the assumptions used, an
unrecognized actuarial gain or loss results. Unrecognized gains and losses are reflected in post-retirement
benefit expense over the average remaining service life of employees expected to receive benefits under the
plan, which is currently nine years. As of December 31, 2004, our unrecognized net actuarial loss was
$92.5 million. Of this amount, $31.5 million resulted from changes in the discount rate assumption. During
each of the last three years we have lowered our discount rate assumption due to decreases in interest rates.
As of December 31, 2004, $28.8 million of the unrecognized net actuarial loss resulted from changes in
our assumed health care cost trend rate. In recent years we have increased our heath care cost trend rate
assumption to reflect the current trend of increasing medical costs. Also as of December 31, 2004, §21.0
million of the unrecognized net actuarial loss resulted from differences between our expected long-term
rate of return on plan assets and the actual return on plan assets. Since this assumption takes a long-term
view of investment returns, there may be differences between the expected rate of return and the actual rate
of return on plan assets in the short-term. The remainder of the net actuarial loss amount primarily related
to differences between our assumed medical costs and actual experience and changes in the employee
population. ‘

During the fourth quarter of 2003, we amended our retiree health care plan to limit the number of
employees eligible for benefits under the plan. This change was discussed earlier under Restructuring
Charges, Asset Impairments and Other Developmenis and resulted in a curtailment gain of $4.0 million in
2003. This gain is reflected as a reduction of cost of goods sold of $1.4 million and a reduction of SG&A
expense of $2.6 million in our 2003 consolidated statement of income. This plan change resulted in a $2.5
million decrease in our 2004 post-retirement benefit expense.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In May 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (FSP) No. FAS 106-2, Accounting and
Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug Improvement and Modernization Act
of 2003. This FSP outlines the appropriate accounting treatment for the effects of the new Medicare law,
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including the required financial statement disclosures, and supersedes the previous guidance issued by the
FASB in January 2004. The new Medicare law introduces a prescription drug benefit under Medicare, as
well as a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree health care benefit plans that provide a benefit that is at least
actuarially equivalent to the Medicare plan. Our retiree medical plans do provide prescription drug
coverage which is at least actuarially equivalent to the Medicare plan. Effective April 1, 2004, we elected
to adopt the accounting treatment required by FSP No. FAS 106-2 utilizing the retroactive application
method. In accordance with this accounting guidance, we completed a re-measurement of our plan assets
and liabilities as of December 31, 2003. The federal subsidy provided for under the new Medicare law
resulted in a $9.5 million reduction in our accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation as of December
31, 2003 and resulted in a $1.0 million reduction in our post-retirement benefit expense for 2004.

In November 2004, the FASB ratified a consensus reached by the Emerging Issues Task Force
(EITF) regarding Issue No. 03-13, Applying the Conditions in Paragraph 42 of FASB Statement No. 144,
Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived Assets, in Determining Whether to Report
Discontinued Operations. This issue provides additional guidance concerning situations when the disposal
of a component of a business should be reported as discontinued operations in a company’s financial
statements. We applied the guidance contained in this issue when analyzing the businesses reported as
discontinued operations in our 2004 consolidated financial statements, as discussed earlier under
Acquisition of New England Business Service, Inc.

In December 2004, the FASB issued FSP No. FAS 109-1, Application of FASB Statement No. 109,
Accounting for Income Taxes, to the Tax Deduction on Qualified Production Activities Provided by the
American Jobs Creation Act of 2004. This FSP states that the tax deduction provided for under the new law
should be recorded as a special deduction and not as a reduction in the tax rate. Thus, the tax benefit of the
deduction is recognized in the periods the deduction is reported on the tax return. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities do not reflect the deductions to be taken in future years. Since the deduction is effective for
taxable years beginning after December 31, 2004, there was no impact on our 2004 provision for income
taxes. )

In December 2004, the FASB issued FSP No. FAS 109-2, Accounting and Disclosure Guidance for
the Foreign Earnings Repatriation Provision within the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004. This FSP
allows additional time for companies to determine how the new law affects a company’s accounting for
deferred tax liabilities on unremitted foreign eamings. The new law provides for a special one-time
deduction of 85% of certain foreign earnings that are repatriated and which meet certain requirements. We
are currently evaluating whether any of the earnings of our Canadian operations will be repatriated in
accordance with the terms of this law. The maximum amount of earnings that could be repatriated is
approximately $34 million, which would result in tax expense of approximately $3.5 million. We expect
our evaluation to be completed in the second quarter of 2005. ’

In December 2004, the FASB issued a revision to SFAS No. 123. The new statement is referred to as
SFAS No. 123(R) and is entitled Share-Based Payment. This new statement was discussed earlier under
Stock-Based Compensation.

OUTLOOK

We expect that 2005 revenue will be up from 2004, while operating income will be down. The fuil-year
impact of the NEBS acquisition and continued growth in revenues from our Small Business Services business
referral program will partially offset the decline in our other two business segments. Within Small Business
Services, we have provided extensive training to our sales associates to transition that organization from a
service to a selling environment. We have also continued to partner with our financial institution clients to
increase their participation in our business referral program. Additionally, the acquisition of NEBS expands
our product offerings, customer base and non-check revenue. Financial Services revenue is expected to
decrease approximately $110 million and operating margin is expected to decrease approximately four
percentage points due to the loss of a major financial institution client and continued pricing pressure. Our
operating margin is also expected to decrease as a full year of NEBS results of operations will be included in




our consolidated results. NEBS has historically had lower margins than our other businesses because of their
business model. Additionally, NEBS results of operations are expected to include $37 million of additional
acquisition-related amortization expense. As discussed earlier under Restructuring Charges, Asset
Impairments and Other Developments, we expect to realize approximately $27 million of net cost savings in
2005 from the closing of check printing facilities and other employee reductions. These savings are in
comparison to our 2004 results-of operations. However, it is becoming increasingly difficult to offset all of the
revenue loss in the Financial Services and Direct Checks segments through our cost management efforts. We
expect diluted earnings per share to be between $0.75 and $0.79 for the first quarter of 2005 and
approximately $3.30 for the full year.

We anticipate that operating cash flow will exceed $265 million in 2005, compared to $307.6 million in
2004, The decrease is due primarily to an expected increase in contract acquisition payments to financial
institution clients and higher payments in early 2005 for performance-based employee compensation related to
our 2004 operating performance. For 2005, we expect NEBS to contribute approximately $45 to $60 million
of operating cash flow after the increased interest payments resulting from financing the acquisition.

We expect to spend approximately $45 million on purchases of capital assets during 2005.
Approximately $20 million is projected to be devoted to maintaining our business and integration projects,
with the remainder targeted primarily for information technology initiatives.

Our strong cash flows allowed us to increase our quarterly dividend payment from $0.37 per share to
$0.40 per share in the first quarter of 2005. Although dividends are subject to board of director approval on an
ongoing basis, we currently expect no further changes to our dividend payment level. The 10 million share
repurchase authorization approved by our board of directors in August 2003 remains in place. We do not
intend to repurchase a significant number of additional shares in the near future, but intend to focus on paying
down the debt issued to complete the acquisition of NEBS. We expect to pay down approximately $180
million of debt during 2005. ‘

We intend to continue seeking cost saving opportunities throughout the company. One example is
the planned installation of the SAP® sales and distribution module in our order processing and call center
operations. This new system will reduce redundancy while standardizing systems and processes. This
project, which currently excludes the newly acquired NEBS business, is expected to be completed by the
end of 2005.

In addition, we will continue to focus over the next several months on the successful integration of
NEBS. We have announced our intention to utilize a shared services approach for both manufacturing and
certain SG&A functions. As a result of this strategy, we closed the Tucker, Georgia facility in December
2004 and announced other reductions in employees across functional areas. We also intend to close the
facility in Los Angeles, California by the end of 2005 and we plan to close the facility in Athens, Ohio by
mid-2006. Our shared services approach will likely result in the exit of further activities. To ensure that we
continue to meet customer expectations, significant analysis is required before additional plans can be
finalized. With the exit of these facilities and by taking advantage of other operational synergies, we
estimate that we will be able to eliminate at least $25 million of costs annually beginning in 2005, in
comparison to NEBS historical results of operations.

Beginning in 2006, we expect that the success of our Small Business Services segment will offset
the declines in our other two business segments. We anticipate growth in our Small Business Services
segment due to our larger customer base, expanded products and services, and additional cost synergies.

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (the Reform Act) provides a “safe harbor™ for
forward-looking statements to encourage companies to provide prospective information. We are filing this
cautionary statement in connection with the Reform Act. When we use the words or phrases “should result,”
“believe,” “intend,” “plan,” “are expected to,” “targeted,” “will continue,” “will approximate,” “is
anticipated,” “estimate,” “project” or similar expressions in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, in future filings
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with the SEC, in our press releases and in oral statements made by our representatives, they indicate forward-
looking statements within the meaning of the Reform Act.

We want to caution you that any forward-looking statements made by us or on our behalf are subject to
uncertainties and other factors that could cause them to be wrong. Some of these uncertainties and other
factors are discussed below under Certain Factors That May Affect Future Results (many of which have been
discussed in prior filings with the SEC). Although we have attempted to compile a comprehensive list of these
important factors, we want to caution you that other factors may prove to be important in affecting future
operating results. New factors emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for us to predict all of these
factors, nor can we assess the impact each factor or combination of factors may have on our business.

You are further cautioned not to place undue reliance on those forward-looking statements because
they speak only of our views as of the date the statements were made. We undertake no obligation to publicly
update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new mfomlatlon future events or
otherwise.

CERTAIN FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT FUTURE RESULTS

The check printing portion of the payments industry is mature and, if it declines faster than expected, it
could have a materially adversé impact on our operating results.

Check printing is, and is expected to continue to be, an essential part of our business and the principal
source of our operating income. We primarily sell checks for personal and small business use and believe that
there will continue to be a substantial demand for these checks for the foreseeable future. However, according
to our estimates, the total number of checks written by individuals and small businesses continued to decline
slightly in 2004, and the total number of personal, business and government checks written in the United
States has been in decline since the mid-1990s. We believe that the number of checks written will continue to
decline due to the increasing use of alternative payment methods, including credit cards, debit cards, smart
cards, automated teller machines, direct deposit, electronic and other bill paying services, home banking
applications and Internet-based payment services. However, the rate and the extent to which alternative
payment methods will achieve consumer acceptance and replace checks, whether as a result of legislative
developments, personal preference or otherwise, cannot be predicted with certainty. A surge in the popularity
of any of these alternative payment methods could have a material, adverse effect on the demand for checks
and a material, adverse effect on our business, results of operations and prospects.

We face intense competition in all areas of our business.

Although we are the leading check printer in the United States, we face considerable competition. In
addition to competition from alternative payment systems, we also face intense competition from other check
printers in our traditional financial institution sales channel, from direct mail sellers of checks, from sellers of
business checks and forms, from check printing software vendors and, increasingly, from Internet-based
sellers of checks to individuals and small businesses. Additionally, low-price, high volume office supply chain
stores offer standardized business forms, checks and related products to small businesses. The corresponding
pricing pressure placed on us has beén significant and has resulted in reduced profit margins. We expect these
pricing pressures to continue to impact our results of operations. We cannot assure you that we will be able to
compete effectively against current and future competitors. Continued competition could result in additional
price reductions, reduced profit margins, loss of customers and an increase in up-front cash payments to
financial institutions upon contract execution or renewal.

Continuing softness in direct mail response rates could have an adverse impact on our operating
results. ‘

Our Direct Checks segment and portions of our Small Business Services segment have experienced
declines in response and retention rates related to direct mail promotional materials. We believe that these
declines are attributable to a number of factors, including the decline in check usage, the overall increase in
direct mail solicitations received by our target customers, the gradual obsolescence of our standardized forms
products and in the case of our direct-to-consumer check business, the multi-box promotional strategies




employed by us and our competitors. To offset these impacts, we may have to modify and/or increase our
marketing and sales efforts, which could result in increased expense.

The profitability of our Direct Checks segment depends in large part on our ability to secure adequate -
advertising media placements at acceptable rates, as well as the consumer response rates generated by such
“advertising, and there can be no assurances regarding the future cost, effectiveness and/or availability of
suitable advertising media. Competitive pressure may inhibit our ability to reflect any of these increased costs
in the prices of our products. We can provide no assurance that we will be able.to sustain our current levels of
profitability in this situation.

Consolidation among financial institutions may adversely affect our ability to sell our products.

The number of financial institutions has declined due to large-scale consolidation in the last few years.
In recent months, financial institution consolidation activities have begun to increase once again. Margin
pressures arise from such consolidation as merged entities seek not only the most favorable prices formerly
offered to the predecessor institutions, but also additional discounts due to the greater volume represented by
the combined entity. This concentration greatly increases the importance of retaining'our major financial
institution clients and attracting significant additional clients in an increasingly competitive environment. The
increase in general negotiating leverage possessed by such consolidated entities also presents a risk that new
and/or renewed contracts with these institutions may not be secured on terms as favorable as those historically
negotiated with these clients. Although we devote considerable efforts toward the development of a ’
competitively priced, high quality suite of products and services for the financial services industry, there can
be no assurance that significant financial institution clients will be retained or that the loss of a significant
client can be counterbalanced through the addition of new clients or by expanded sales to our remaining
clients.

Standardized business forms and related products face technological obsolescence and changing
customer preferences.

Continual technological improvements have provided small business customers with alternative means
to enact and record business transactions. For example, the price and performance capabilities of personal
computers and related printers now provide a cost effective means to print low quality versions of business
forms on plain paper. Additionally, electronic transaction systems and off-the-shelf business software
applications have been designed to automate several of the functions performed by business forms products. If
we are unable to develop new products and services with comparable profit margins, our results of operations
could be adversely affected. :

We face uncertainty with respect to recent and future acquisitions.

We acquired NEBS in June 2004 and have stated that we expect to eliminate at least $25 million of
NEBS historical operating costs in 2005 as we integrate the two companies. We have also stated that,
beginning in 2006, we expect the growth of our Small Business Services segment to offset the impact of
pricing pressure and declining personal check usage in our other segments. The integration of any acquisition
involves numerous risks, including, among others, difficulties in assimilating operations and products,
diversion of management’s attention from other business concerns, potential loss of our key employees or key
employees of acquired businesses, potential exposure to unknown liabilities and possible loss of our clients
and customers or clients and customers of the acquired businesses. While we anticipate that we will be able to
achieve our stated objectives, we can provide no assurance that one or more of these factors will not
negatively impact our results of operations.

In regards to future acquisitions, we cannot predict whether suitable acquisition candidates can be
acquired on acceptable terms or whether any acquired products, technologies or businesses will contribute to
our revenues or earnings to any material extent. Significant acquisitions typically result in the incurrence of
contingent liabilities or debt, or additional amortization expense related to acquired intangible assets, and thus,
could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.
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Our failure to successfully implement a project we have undertaken to replace major portions of our
existing sales and distribution systems could negatively impact our business.

During 2005, we will continue to expand our use of the SAP software platform with the planned
installation of the SAP sales and distribution module. Once implemented, we expect the new system to
reduce redundancy while standardizing systems and processes and reduce our costs. This is a significant
information systems project with wide-reaching impacts on our internal operations and business. We can
provide no assurance that the amount of this investment will not exceed our expectations and result in
materially increased levels of expense. There is also no assurance that this initiative will achieve the
expected cost savings or result in a positive return on our investment. Additionally, if the new system does
not operate as intended, or is not implemented as planned, there could be disruptions in our business which
could adversely affect our results.

Forecasts involving future results reflect various assumptions that may prove to be incorrect.

From time to time, our representatives make predictions or forecasts regarding our future results,
including, but not limited to, forecasts regarding estimated revenues, earnings or earnings per share. Any
forecast regarding our future performance reflects various assumptions which are subject to significant
uncertainties, and, as a matter of course, may prove to be incorrect, Further, the achievement of any forecast
depends on numerous factors which are beyond our control. As a result, we cannot assure you that our
performance will be consistent with any management forecasts or that the variation from such forecasts will
not be material and adverse. You are cautioned not to base your entire analysis of our business and prospects
upon isolated predictions, and are encouraged to use the entire available mix of historical and forward-looking
information made available by us, and other information affecting us and our products and services, including
the factors discussed here.

In addition, independent analysts periodically publish reports regarding our projected future
performance. The methodologies we employ in arriving at our own internal projections and the approaches
taken by independent analysts in making their estimates are likely different in many significant respects. We
expressly disclaim any responsibility to advise analysts or the public markets of our views regarding the
current accuracy of the published estimates of independent analysts, If you are relying on these estimates, you
should pursue your own investigation and analysis of their accuracy and the reasonableness of the
assumptions on which they are based.

We may be unable to protect our rights in intellectual property.

Despite our efforts to protect our intellectual property, third parties may infringe or misappropriate our
intellectual property or otherwise independently develop substantially equivalent products and services. In
addition, designs licensed from third parties account for an increasing portion of our revenues, and there can
be no guarantee that such licenses will be available to us indefinitely or on terms that would allow us to
continue to be profitable with those products. The loss of intellectual property protectien or the inability to
secure or enforce intellectual property protection could harm our business and ability to compete. We rely on a
combination of trademark and copyright laws, trade secret protection and confidentiality and license
agreements to protect our trademarks, software and know-how. We may be required to spend significant
resources to protect our trade secrets and monitor and police our intellectual property rights.

We are dependent upon third party providers for certain significant information technology needs.

We have entered into agreements with third party providers for the provision of information technology
services, including software development and support services, and personal computer, telecommunications,
network server and help desk services. In the event that one or more of these providers is not able to provide
adequate information technology services, we would be adversely affected. Although we believe that
information technology services are available from numerous sources, a failure to perform by one or more of
our service providers could cause a disruption in our business while we obtain an alternative source of supply.

Legislation relating to consumer privacy protection could harm our business.

We are subject to regulations implementing the privacy and information security requirements of the
federal financial modemization law known as the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act and other federal regulation and
state law on the same subject. These laws and regulations require us to develop and implement policies to




protect the security and confidentiality of consumers’ nonpublic personal information and to disclose these
policies to consumers before a customer relationship is established and annually thereafter. These regulations
could have the effect of foreclosing future business initiatives.

More restrictive legislation or regulations have been introduced in the past and could be introduced in
the future in Congress and the states. We are unable to predict whether more restrictive legislation or
regulations will be adopted in the future. Any future legislation or regulations could have a negatlve impact on
our business, results of operations or prospects.

Laws and regulations may be adopted in the future with respect to the Internet, e-commerce or
marketing practices generally relating to consumer privacy. Such laws or regulations may impede the growth
of the Internet and/or use of other sales or marketing vehicles. As an example, new privacy laws could
decrease traffic to our websites, decrease telemarketing opportunities and decrease the demand for our
products and services. Additionally, the applicability to the Internet of existing laws governing property
ownership, taxation, libel and personal privacy is uncertain and may remain uncertain for a considerable
length of time.

We may be subject to sales and other taxes which could have adverse effects on our business.

In accordance with current federal, state and local tax laws, and the constitutional limitations thereon,
we currently collect sales, use or other similar taxes in state and local jurisdictions where our direct-to-
consumer businesses have a physical presence. One or more state or local jurisdictions may seek to impose
sales tax collection obligations on us and other out-of-state companies which engage in remote or online
commerce. Further, tax law and the interpretation of constitutional limitations thereon is subject to change. In
addition, any new operations of these businesses in states where they do not currently have a physical presence
could subject shipments of goods by these businesses into such states to sales tax under current or future laws.
If one or more state or local jurisdictions successfully asserts that we must collect sales or other taxes beyond
our current practices, it could have a material, adverse affect on our business. :

We may be subject to environmental risks.

Our check printing facilities are subject to many existing and proposed federal and state regulations
designed to protect the environment. In some instances, we owned and operated our check printing facilities
before the environmental regulations came into existence. We have sold former check printing facilities to
third parties and in some instances have agreed to indemnify the buyer of the facility for certain environmental
liabilities. We have obtained insurance coverage related to environmental issues at certain of these facilities.
We believe that, based on current information, we will not be required to incur additional material and
uninsured expense with respect to these sites, but unforeseen conditions could result in additional exposure at
" lesser levels.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

We are exposed to changes in interest rates primarily as a result of the borrowing activities used to
support our capital structure, maintain liquidity and fund business operations. We do not enter into financial
instruments for speculative or trading purposes. During 2004, we utilized commercial paper to pay off the
bridge financing agreement used to finance the NEBS acquisition, as well as to fund working capital
requirements. On October 1, 2004, we refinanced a portion of our commercial paper debt with fixed rate,
long-term debt. In addition, we have various lines of credit-available and capital lease obligations which are
due through 2009. The nature and amount of debt outstanding can be expected to vary as a result of future
business requirements, market conditions and other factors. As of December 31, 2004, our total debt was
comprised of the following (dollars in thousands): :

. Weighted

. -average
Carrying Fair - interest
amount value®” rate

Long-term notes maturing October 2007 ......covvvvveerrrenes $ 324815 $ 318923 3.50%

Long-term notes maturing December 2012 ..................... - 298,494 - 295,629 - 5.00%

Long-term notes maturing October 2014 ............cc..coveee.. 274,399 263,508 5.13%

Commercial PAPET .......cocoveeerrierecerer it 264,000 264,000 2.45%

Long-term notes maturing September 2006............c........ 50,000 49,397 2.75%

Long-term notes maturing November 2005 ...........cooovee 25,000 24,839 2.26%
Capital lease obligations maturing through September

2009t e s 7,499 7,499 10.33%

TOtAl debt ..ceveeverreicrrciererren e $ 1,244,207 § 1,233,795 3.98%

1 Based on quoted market rates as of December 31, 2004, except for our capital lease obligations which are shown at carrying value,

Based on the outstanding variable rate debt in our portfolio, a one percentage point increase in interest
rates would have resulted in additional interest expense of $4.4 million for 2004, $1.6 million for 2003 and
$1.5 million for 2002.

As a result of the acquisition of NEBS in June 2004, we are now exposed to changes in foreign
currency exchange rates. Investments in and loans and advances to foreign subsidiaries and branches, as well
as the operations of these businesses, are denominated in foreign currencies. The effect of exchange rate
changes is expected to have a minimal impact on our results of operations and liquidity, as NEBS foreign
operations represent a relatively small portion of our business.




Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Deluxe Corporation:

We have completed an integrated audit of Deluxe Corporation’s 2004 consolidated financial
statements and of its internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 and audits of its
2003 and 2002 consolidated financial statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Our opinions, based on our audits, are presented below.

Consolidated financial statements

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated
statements of income, comprehensive income, shareholders’ (deficit) equity and cash flows present fairly,
in all material respects, the financial position of Deluxe Corporation\and its subsidiaries at December 31,
2004 and 2003, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2004 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted
our audits of these statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit of
financial statements includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” as of January 1,
2004. ‘ ‘

Internal control over financial reporting

Also, in our opinion, management’s assessment, included in Management’s Report on Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A, that the Company maintained effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 based on criteria established in /uternal
Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO), is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on those criteria. Furthermore, in our
opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated
Framework issued by the COSO. The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective
internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express opinions on management’s assessment and on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We
conducted our audit of internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respects. An audit of internal control over financial reporting
includes obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s
assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and
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performing such other procedures as we consider necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets
of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements i accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that
receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company s assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or
detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to
the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

As described in Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, management
has excluded New England Business Service, Inc. from its assessment of internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2004 because it was acquired by the Company in a purchase business
combination during 2004. We have also excluded New England Business Service, Inc. from our audit of
internal control over financial reporting. New England Business Service, Inc. is a wholly-owned subsidiary
whose total assets and total revenues represent 64.3% and 23.2%, respectively, of the related consolidated
financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2004.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Minneapolis, Minnesota
March 16, 2005




DELUXE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Dollars in thousands, except share par value)

December 31,

2004 2003
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents........ccocrveverrinie e $ 15,492 % 2,968
Restricted cash ..., e ettt 517 —
Trade accounts receivable-net of allowances for uncollectible accounts.. 110,529 37,066
Inventories and supplies.........ccccocovnnenen. ettt 38,890 18,652
Deferred INCOME LAXES......vvivrieerieirreiresieitee e siaetasseesreesra e e e seaeseressenseans 13,531 258
Current assets of discontinued OPErations.............coe.eecverererererereesrerere. » 22,641 —
Other CUMTENT ASSELS....iiivuireeririieniiirineiresirreeresiaeessresbeeesseesssessnssrsessuessas 38,786 19,984
TOtAl CUITENE ASSELS..veiviiiiiriiririceiieisee et eereerre et sbeeraesseeseereetbeereeresarens 240,386 78,928
Long-term INVeStments ........c..coveriiririrenierscene e SRR 47,529 42,510
Property, Plant, and Equipment-net of accumulated depreciation ................. 158,162 123,615
Assets Held for Sale ...ttt et 7,719 —
Intangibles-net of accumulated amortization ............cooeeveviveveveece v, 297,184 78,161
GOOAWILL .ottt et es et estaaa et emenaa b b saens s 580,740 82,237
Non-Current Assets of Discontinued Operations...........ccceeevrvrerveeeercsivrennen. 6,964 —
Other Non-Current ASSEIS....oiviiviiiiiiierin e siresiee e ssscessteesiseessesssaeseeessrassanes 160,395 157,509
TOAL ASSELS ....vovvivreterireirte st etrieseecestnre e seseetesestesae s ebenesbeseeteseeseeneanas § 1499079 § 562,960
Current Liabilities:
ACCOUNES PAYADIE ....vcviviiiiiie ettt e e $ 72,984 S 46,694
AcCried HabIilItIES .....cveoveriii ittt rrae s 202,979 126,821
ShOrt-term debt ......ovevieiiiiiicereis ettt s seen e eeees 264,000 213,250
Long-term debt due within one Year ........cocevvvenirenvnieennerere e 26,359 1,074
Current liabilities of discontinued operations .........c.cvevvevvevenencne et 4,876 —
Total current Habilities ....ccovrvrriiiiecie et 571,198 387,839
Long-Term DEbt ......ccovevieciiiiiiie ettt st 953,848 380,620
Deferred INCOME TaXES .. .cooviiiiiieriiriieeriierieie et ettt et eve v esseesreevseeesaeaens 82,489 42,654
Non-Current Liabilities of Discontinued Operations........cocovevevecrrincneenene, _ 3,490 —
Other Non-Current LiabilitieS .....cccovviiiiiirveiiiii e ciiever e cvies st ee s 66,545 49,930
Commitments and Contingencies (Notes 9 and 12)
Shareholders’ Deficit:
Common shares $1 par value (authorized: 500,000,000 shares;
issued: 2004 — 50,265,695; 2003 — 50,173,067) ecvevvvecinrrnrecierenne 50,266 50,173
Additional paid-in Capital..........co.cov.ooveriveivemreereieeeereess e 20,761 —
Accumulated deficit ... (235,651) (345,950)
Unearned COMPENSAtION.......cervrviririreeeerieierermsreneereersensesessesererneseensenanes — 41
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net 0f taX.......cccevcevennieiinverienen, (13,867) (2,265)
Total shareholders’ deficit........occcoeninn. ettt ettt eat et (178,491) (298,083)
Total liabilities and shareholders’ deficit......ccvovvievceniricirennnnans $ 1,499,079 $ 562,960

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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DELUXE CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

. Year Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
REVENUE ..o $ 1,567,015 § 1,242,141 $ 1,283,983
Cost 0f 200dS 801 cvcvvvvveeierrcieireee e 535,949 425,965 435,794
GTOSS PrOfit..ccceiiriririeieeeiiee et e 1,031,066 816,176 848,189
Selling, general and administrative expense.................. 683,184 492,511 502,961
Asset impairment and net disposition (gains) losses..... (30) 4,744 297
Operating InCome .......cccoeveriverrnnencrinn. reere et erernen 347,912 318,921 344,931
Other iNCOME (EXPENSE) .....o.vvrvvinrrerriirrrerisisnimsesinsions 442 (669) ‘195
Tncome Before Interest and TaXes «oveeeevvevevieeovvereeeerereinenen 348,354 318,252 345,126
Interest EXPense ... veeereicieceie e (32,851) (19,241) (5,079
INtErest INCOME ... iviiie e, 1,370 369 675
Income Before Income Taxes .......vvveevvuvviveiiiirivreeennere e, 316,873 299,380 340,722
PrOVISion fOF iNCOME tAXES ..-.vv-rrrorcrorro 118225 _ 106908 _ 126,448
Income From Continuing Operations ...........ccveeverereucreennen. 198,648 192,472 214,274
Discontinued Operations:
Loss from Operations ............ceccvirvircvrivinicsneiinsnns ' (1,098) — —
Income tax benefit .......cccovvvnvriinii et 441 — —
Loss From Discontinued Operations ..........cccceveeeererencene. (657) — —
NEt INCOMIE. .. ettt seensb s rersstnerene e $ 197991 § 192472 § 214,274
Basic Earnings per Share: ‘
Income from continuing Operations.........c..cccovvveerernnns $ 396 $ 353 S 3.41
Loss from discontinued operations...........coceecvercnenennns (0.01) — -
Basic Earnings per Share .........occeveveeeeecnn v, $ 395 § 3.53. % 3.41
Diluted Earnings per Share: ‘
Income from continuing operations............cevrevininen. $ 393 § 349 § 3.36
Loss from discontinued operations .............cececvveerenenens (0.01) — —
Diluted Earnings per Share.........ccoeevvvvvevnernrerecnineresennes $ 392 § 349 S 3.36
Cash Dividends per Share.........ccoceevverecivienienieniieninens $ 1.48 § 148 § 1.48

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements




DELUXE CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Dollars in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
. 2004 2003 2002
NEt INCOME....oeecvicicriiieeriecteres ettt ettt eaea, $ 197,991 $ 192,472 § 214,274

Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income, Net of Tax:
Loss on derivative instruments:
Loss on derivative instruments arising during the year ... (14,803) — (2,496).
Less reclassification of loss on derivative
instruments from other comprehensive i income to net

INCOME . .veiieriiniiciie ettt enees v e, 771 221 10
Unrealized gains on securities: ' '
Unrealized holding gains arising during the year ............ 161 — S —
Less reclassification adjustments for gains included in ‘
0EL INCOME o.vcevereririrenre e e (51) L — —
Unrealized foreign currency translation adjustment........... 2,320 — —
Other Comprehensive (Loss) INCOME ......ccovvvvvrrerrcererccnn, (11,602) 221 (2,486)
Comprehensive INCOME .......coooviviieiiieiiiciccce e $ 186,389 $ 192,693 §$ 211,788

Related Tax Benefit (Expense) of Other Comprehensive
. (Loss) Income Included in Above Amounts:
Loss on derivative instruments:
Loss on derivative instruments arising during the year 3 8,762 $ — 3 1,530
Less reclassification of loss on derivative
instruments from other comprehensive income to net

HICOMIE. ..eveeiiieiccreeere ettt e r et e v e es e e esreereeereesne s . 456) (123) 6)
Unrealized gains on securities: '
Unrealized holding gains arising during the Vear ............ (108) — —
Less reclassification adjustments for gains included in
NEL INICOME . ...vvisiereee ettt se e sssaneeses, 34 ' — —

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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DELUXE CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ (DEFICIT) EQUITY
{Dollars and shares in thousands)

Retained Accumulated Total
Commmon shares Additional earnings other shareholders’
Number  Par paid-in (accumulated Unearned comprehensive equity
of shares  value  capital deficit) compensation loss (deficit)
Balance, December 31, 2001 ..... 64,102 18 64,102 |$ — 33 14,563 |$ (60)$ —|$ 78,605
Net INCOME ....ocvvvveevieereereereereens — — _ 214,274 — — 214,274
Cash dividends ......ccocveereneenenne, — — — (92,940 — — (92,940)
Common shares issued............... 1,255 1,255 1 30,295 — — — 31,550
Tax benefit of stock options ...... — — 8,648 — — — 8,648
Common shares repurchased..... (3,898 (3,898) (38,388 (130,517 (172,803)
- Other common shares retired..... (13 13y (555 — — — (568)
Stock-based compensation and
related amortization................. — — — — 36 — 36
Loss on derivatives, net of tax.... — — — — — (2,486 (2,486)
Balance, December 31, 2002..... 61,446 | 61,446 — 5,380 24 (2,486 64,316
Net INCOME vovvvvereerererierereerereenens — - — 192,472 - - 192,472
Cash dividends ......c..ccceeveererienen. — — — . (80,453 — - (80,453)
Common shares issued............... 1,041 1,041} 22,869 — - - 23,910
Tax benefit of stock options ...... — —_— 6,139 — - - 6,139
Common shares repurchased...... (12,239) (12,239) (32,655 (463,349 - - (508,243)
Other common shares retired.... 75y - (5 (3,006 — - - (3,081)
Stock-based compensation and -
related amortization................ — — 6,653 — (17 6,636
Loss on derivatives, net of tax ... — — — — — 221 T 221
Balance, December 31, 2003..... 50,173+ 50,173 — (345,950 41 (2,265 (298,083)
NEt INCOME ...eeeeerverrnrerareercanees — — — 197,991 — — 197,991
Cash dividends.........c.ccccvevnene — — — (74,302 — - (74,302)
Common shares issued............... 760 760 | 18,163 — —_ - 18,923
Tax benefit of stock options ...... — — 3,398 — — - 3,398
Common shares repurchased..... (634 ' (634) (11,496 (13,390 — - (25,520)
Other common shares retired..... (36 (36) (1,508 — — - (1,544)
Fair value of employee -
stock-based compensation ....... 3 3| 12,204 — 41 12,248
Loss on derivatives, net of tax ... — — — — — (14,032 (14,032)
Translation adjustment............... — — — — 2,320 2,320
Unrealized gain on securities, '
net of taX..c.oeeeevveceeneesrereeecn, — — — — — 110 110
Balance, December 31, 2004..... 50,266 18 50,266 8 20,761 § (235,651)% — 3 (13,867)$ (178,491)

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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DELUXE CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Dollars in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
Cash Flows from Operating Activities::
Net INCOME ..ovvovvvvreieirieiinnesd et e e e e e et abese e st s e teetreetaens h 197,991 § 192472 § 214,274
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided :
by operating activities of continuing operations: ,
Loss from discontinued 0perations..........o.veveeveccerenencenrerenrenenns 657 — —
DEPreciation .......c.ooieeicieiirirene et ettt ‘ 27,330 22,773 23,953
Amortization of intangibles ..o 66,526 37,309 34,252
Amortization of contract acquisition COStS ........covreeenrcrinerennen. 34,528 25,586 15,161
Employee stock-based compensation eXpense.........c.cc.covvenene. 12,248 954 3,102
Deferred income taxes............c...... PRI (2,654) (7,494) 11,104
Other non-cash items, NEt........cccevverveeriiriiiiere et 12,719 15,214 10,128
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects of
acquisition and discontinued operations:
Trade accounts receivable ..., S (15,295) (2,883) 4,778
Inventories and sUPPlies ......ccccccoevvviivievercerre e, 3,980 1,482 1,976
Other CUITENT ASSEES ......oivveceereeeeriereeeietrerereeeeereeveiesseeeeeens (61) 1,487 (5,766)
Contract acquisition Payments.........coccvereiiererenienereeveenes (15,778) (47,728) (34,890)
Deferred advertiSing COSIS .....ccevuvrriiiriereeceneniireerieeeeesenee 2,748 (11,786) 4,670
Other noN-CUrrent ASSELS .....cccereivurrereeeierieeererieeeesenre e (4,695) (10,346) (9,808)
Accounts payable ... 1,338 (10,095) 7,828
Accrued and other non-current liabilities ......c.ccocecnvnnnne : - (13,991) (25,478) (23,623)
Net cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations.. 307,591 181,467 257,139
Cash Flows from Investing Activities: ‘
Payments for acquisition, net of cash acquired .........c.ccccvvevrennnennen, (624,859) — —
Increase in restricted cash.......coooiieiicinni (517) — —
Purchases of capital assets............... et e (43,817) (22,034) (40,708)
ORCT 1ottt b e bttt e st (1,644) (2,849) (3,441
Net cash used by investing activities of continuing operations......... (670,837) (24,883) (44,149)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Net borrowings (payments) of short-term debt .........cocceeeviiiniirienennn. 50,750 213,250 (150,000)
Proceeds from long-term debt, net of debt issuance costs.................. 595,536 74,800 295,722
Payments on long-term debt.........ccocvvverieimiiniinceeciecee e (167,050) (1,743) (1,723)
Settlement of interest rate lock agreements..........c.cococoeeiiiiiiiennnns (23,564) — (4,026)
Change in book overdrafts ...........occvvveeieeirnivne e, (3,693) (1,068) (2,805)
Payments for common shares repurchased..........cccccoveevirrrereccrnnne. (26,637) (507,126) (172,803)
Proceeds from issuing shares under employee plans..........ccccoceceveeeens 18,923 23,869 30,869
Cash dividends paid to shareholders .............coovviiiieiiiiii (74,302) (80,453) (92,940)
Net cash provided (used) by financing activities of continuing .

ODETALIONS ..veiveeeeeeeeieetie et e e s eribe e s st e seres et e sbee st e e sreessasesanesnaEeneens 369,963 (278,471) (97.706)
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash .......coeveviiinininciicciinnene, _ - L1558 — —
Net Cash Provided by Discontinued Operations ..........coccoveveeevrencenenen 4,652 — —
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents..........cccoocoe.i. 12,524 (121,887) 115,284
Cash and Cash Equivalents: Beginning of Year.........ccccoe.ee. 2,968 124,855 9,571

Endof Year .....cccoovviiiiiveinnnn, $ 15,492 § 2,968 $§ 124,855

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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DELUXE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1: Significant accounting policies

Consolidation — The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Deluxe Corporation
and all majority owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts, transactions and profits have
been eliminated.

Use of estimates — We have prepared the accompanying consolidated financial statements in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. In this process,
it is necessary for us to make certain assumptions and related estimates affecting the amounts reported in
the consolidated financial statements and related notes. These estimates and assumptions are developed

'based upon all information available using our best efforts. However, actual results can differ from
assumed and estimated amounts.

Foreign currency translation — The financial statements of our foreign subsidiaries are measured in
the respective subsidiaries’ functional currencies and are translated into U.S. dollars. Assets and liabilities
are translated using the exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date. Revenue and expenses are
translated at the average exchange rates during the year. The resulting translation gains and losses are
reflected in accumulated other comprehensive loss in the shareholders” deficit section of our consolidated
balance sheets. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are recorded in other income and expense in
our consolidated statements of income.

Cash and cash equivalents — We consider all cash on hand, money market funds and other highly
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash and cash equivalents. The
carrying amounts reported in the consolidated balance sheets for cash and cash equivalents approximate
fair value. As a result of our cash management system, checks issued but not presented to the banks for
payment may create negative book cash balances. Such negative balances are included in accounts payable
and totaled $8.0 million as of December 31, 2004 and $8.8 million as of December 31, 2003.

Restricted cash — Restricted cash relates to the acquisition of New England Business Service, Inc.
(NEBS) in June 2004 (see Note 4). Upon acquisition, we were required to place on deposit the funds
needed to pay shareholders who did not tender their shares of NEBS common stock under our tender offer.
These shareholders must present their stock certificates in order to receive their portion of the funds. The
funds must remain on deposit for a period of nine months, after which time the funds will be returned to us,
and thereafter, any remaining unclaimed funds will be remitted to the appropriate governmental authority
under applicable escheat laws.

Trade accounts receivable — Trade accounts receivable are initially recorded at fair value upon the
sale of goods or services to customers. They are stated net of allowances for uncollectible accounts which
represent estimated losses resulting from the inability of customers to make the required payments. When
determining the allowances for uncollectible accounts, we take several factors into consideration including
the overall composition of accounts receivable aging, our prior history of accounts receivable write-offs,
the type of customer and our day-to-day knowledge of specific customers. Changes in the allowances for
uncollectible accounts are recorded as bad debt expense and are included in selling, general and
administrative (SG&A) expense in our consolidated statements of income.

Inventories — Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Beginning July 1, 2004,
approximate cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method for all inventories. Prior to July
1, 2004, we accounted for a portion of our inventories using the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method. This
change resulted in a decrease in cost of goods sold of $2.2 million, primarily in our Financial Services
segment. This equates to an increase in net income of $1.4 million, or $0.03 per diluted share. The effect of
this accounting change on prior periods was immaterial, as was the effect on the current year. As such, we
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did not restate prior period financial statements to reflect this change. We consider the FIFO method to be
preferable. The recently acquired NEBS business (see Note 4) also utilized the FIFO method, and now we .
have a consistent accounting methodology across the company. Additionally, the effect on net income of
utilizing the FIFO method is not significantly different than the results that would be obtained using the

" LIFO method. As of December 31, 2003, $8.2 million of total inventories was accounted for under the
LIFO method, and LIFO inventories were $2.7 million less than replacement cost.

Supplies — Supplies are stated at the lower of cost or market and consist of items not used directly in
the production of goods, such as maintenance and janitorial supplies utilized in the production area. Cost is
determined using the FIFO method.

Cash held for customers — As part of our Canadian payroll services business, we collect funds from
our clients for the payment of payroll and taxes. We hold these funds temporarily until payments are
remitted to the clients’ employees and the appropriate taxing authorities. These funds are reported as cash
held for customers and are included in other current assets in our consolidated balance sheets. These
amounts totaled $9.8 million as of December 31, 2004. The corresponding liability for these obligations is
included in accrued liabilities in our consolidated balance sheet. ‘

Long-term investments — Long-term investments consist primarily of cash surrender values of life
insurance contracts. The carrying amounts reported in the consolidated balance sheets for these
investments approximate fair value. Additionally, at December 31, 2004, long-term investments included
$3.4 million of investments acquired upon the acquisition of NEBS (see Note 4). These investments consist
primarily of domestic mutual funds. They are classified as available for sale and are carried at fair value,
based on quoted market prices. Unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, are reported in accumulated other
comprehensive loss in the shareholders’ deficit section of our consolidated balance sheets. Realized gains
and losses and permanent declines in value are included in other income and expense in the consolidated
statements of income. The cost of securities sold is determined using the average cost method.

Property, plant and equipment — Property, plant and equipment, including leasehold and other
improvements that extend an asset’s useful life or productive capabilities, are stated at historical cost.
Buildings are assigned 40-year lives and machinery and equipment are generally assigned lives ranging
from three to 11 years, with a weighted-average life of 8.7 years as of December 31, 2004. Buildings,
machinery and equipment are generally depreciated using accelerated methods. Leasehold and building
improvements are depreciated on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the property or the
life of the lease, whichever is shorter. Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. Gains or losses
resulting from the disposition of property, plant and equipment are included in asset impairment and net
disposition (gains) losses in the consolidated statements of income.

Intangibles — Intangible assets are stated at historical cost. Amortization expense is generally
determined on the straight-line basis over periods ranging from six months to 15 years, with a weighted-
average life of 6.1 years as of December 31, 2004. Additionally, certain trade name assets acquired as part
of the acquisition of NEBS (see Note 4) have been assigned indefinite lives. As such, these assets are not
amortized, but are subject to impairment testing on at least an annual basis. Gains or losses resulting from
the disposition of intangibles are included in asset impairment and net disposition (gains) losses in the
consolidated statements of income.

We capitalize costs of software developed or obtained for internal use, including website
development costs, once the preliminary project stage has been completed, management commits to
funding the project and it is probable that the project will' be completed and the software will be used to
perform the function intended. Capitalized costs include only (1) external direct costs of materials and
services consumed in developing or obtaining internal-use software, (2) payroll and payroll-related costs
for employees who are directly associated with and who devote time to the internal-use software project,
and (3) interest costs incurred, when material; while developing internal-use software. Costs incurred in
populating websites with information about the company or products are expensed as incurred.
Capitalization of costs ceases when the project is substantially complete and ready for its intended use. The
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carrying value of internal-use software is reviewed in accordance with our policy on impairment of long-
lived assets and amortizable intangibles.

During the first quarter of 2004, we revised the estimated useful lives for certain of our software and
production assets, as we expected that the assets would be replaced or retired sooner than originally
anticipated. The weighted-average useful life for these assets was shortened from 8.0 years to 6.8 years.
This change in accounting estimate resulted in increased depreciation and amortization expense of $§.4
million in 2004. This equates to a decrease in net income of $5.3 million, or $0.10 per diluted share.

Impairment of long-lived assets and amortizable intangibles — We evaluate the recoverability of
property, plant, equipment and amortizable intangibles not held for sale whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that an asset’s carrying amount may not be recoverable. Such circumstances could
include, but are not limited to, (1) a significant decrease in the market value of an asset, (2} a significant
adverse change in the extent or manner in which an asset is used or in its physical condition, or (3) an
accumulation of costs significantly in excess of the amount originally expected for the acquisition or
construction of an asset. We measure the carrying amount of the asset against the estimated undiscounted
future cash flows associated with it. Should the sum of the expected future net cash flows be less than the
carrying value of the asset being evaluated, an impairment loss would be recognized. The impairment loss
would be calculated as the amount by which the carrying value of the asset exceeds the fair value of the
asset. The estimate of fair value is based on various valuation techniques, including the discounted value of
estimated future cash flows. :

We evaluate the recoverability of property, plant, equipment and intangibles held for sale by
comparing the asset’s carrying amount with its fair value less costs to sell. Should the fair value less costs
to sell be less than the carrying value of the long-lived asset, an impairment loss would be recognized. The
impairment loss would be calculated as the amount by which the carrying value of the asset exceeds the
fair value of the asset less costs to sell.

The evaluation of asset impairment requires us to make assumptions about future cash flows over
the life of the asset being evaluated. These assumptions require significant judgment and actual results may
differ from assumed and estimated amounts.

Impairment of non-amortizable intangibles and goodwill — In accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, we evaluate the
carrying value of non-amortizable intangibles and goodwill during the third quarter of each year and
between annual evaluations if events occur or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce
the fair value of the reporting unit below its carrying amount. Such circumstances could include, but are

‘not limited to, (1) a significant adverse change in legal factors or in business climate, (2) unanticipated
competition, or (3) an adverse action or assessment by a regulator.

We measure the carrying amount of a non-amortizable intangible asset against its estimated fair
value. Should the estimated fair value be less than the carrying value of the asset being evaluated, an
impairment loss would be recognized. The impairment loss would be calculated as the amount by which
the carrying value of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset. The estimate of fair value is based on
various valuation techniques, including the discounted value of estimated future cash flows.

When evaluating whether goodwill is impaired, we compare the fair value of the reporting unit to
which the goodwill is assigned to its carrying amount. If the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its
fair value, then the amount of the impairment loss must be measured. The impairment loss would be
calculated by comparing the implied fair value of reporting unit goodwill to its carrying amount. In
calculating the implied fair value of goodwill, the fair value of the reporting unit is allocated to all of the
other assets and liabilities of that unit based on their fair values. The excess of the fair value of a reporting
unit over the amount assigned to its other assets and liabilities is the implied fair value of goodwill. An
impairment loss would be recognized when the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds its implied fair value.
Our evaluations of goodwill performed during 2004, 2003 and 2002 resulted in no impairment losses.
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Contract acquisition costs — We record contract acquisition costs when we sign or renew certain
contracts with our financial institution clients. These costs consist of cash payments or accruals related to
amounts paid or owed to financial institution clients by our Financial Services segment. Contract
acquisition costs are generally amortized as reductions of revenue on the straight-line basis over the related
contract term. Currently, these amounts are being amortized over periods ranging from two to eight years,
with a weighted-average life of 4.9 years as of December 31, 2004. Whenever events or changes occur that
impact the related contract, including significant declines in the anticipated profitability, we evaluate the
carrying value of the contract acquisition costs to determine if impairment has occurred. Contract
acquisition costs consist of balances relating to numerous financial institutions. Should a financial
institution cancel a contract prior to the agreement's termination date, or should the volume of orders
realized through a financial institution fall below contractually-specified minimums, we generally have a
contractual right to a refund of the remaining unamortized contract acquisition costs. These costs are
included in other non-current assets in the consolidated balance sheets.

Advertising costs — Deferred advertising costs include materials, printing, labor and postage costs
related primarily to direct response advertising programs of our Direct Checks and Small Business Services
segments. These costs are amortized as SG&A expense over periods (not exceeding 18 months) that
correspond to the estimated revenue streams of the individual advertisements. The actual revenue streams
are analyzed at least annually to monitor the propriety of the amortization periods. Judgment is required in
estimating the future revenue streams, espécially with regard to check re-orders which can span an
extended period of time. Significant changes in the actual revenue streams would require the amortization
periods to be modified, thus impacting our results of operations during the period in which the change
occurred and in subsequent periods. For our Direct Checks segment, approximately 70% of the costs of
individual advertisements are currently expensed within six months of the advertisement. The majority of
the deferred advertising costs of our Small Business Services segment are fully amortized ‘within six
months of the advertisement. Deferred advertising costs are included in other non-current assets in the
consolidated balance sheets.

During the first quarter of 2003, we reviewed our various marketing programs and the related
revenues generated from these programs. As a result of this review, we modified the estimated revenue
streams over which our deferred advertising costs are amortized. We shortened the amortization periods
from an average of 18 months to a maximum of 18 months, and we revised our pattern of amortization to
reflect the fact that due to the promotional strategies of our Direct Checks segment, a larger proportion of
revenues are generated from reorders than from initial orders. Additionally, the decline in check usage and
Direct Checks-promotional strategies for multi-box orders resulted in a lengthening of the check reorder
cycle. The net impact of these changes in accounting estimates resulted in a decrease in SG&A expense of
approximately $7 million during 2003. This equates to a $4.5 million increase in net income, or $0.08 per
diluted share. During 2004 and 2002, no material revisions were made to the amortization of deferred
advertising costs.

Major non-direct response advertising projects are expensed the first time the advertising takes
place, while other costs of non-direct response advertising are expensed as incurred. Catalogs provided to
financial institution clients of the Financial Services segment are accounted for as prepaid assets until they
are shipped to financial institutions. The total amount of advertising expense for continuing operations was
$118.1 million in 2004, $76.4 million in 2003 and $78.2 million in 2002.

Restructuring accruals — Over the past several years, we have recorded restructuring accruals as a
result of facility closings and cost management efforts. The acquisition of NEBS has also resulted in
restructuring accruals as we combine the two companies and exit certain activities. The primary component
of these charges has been employee termination benefits paid under our ongoing severance benefit plan.
We record charges for these employee termination benefits when it is probable that a liability has been
incurred and the amount of the liability is reasonably estimable. As such, judgment is involved in
determining when it is appropriate to record restructuring accruals. Additionally, we are required to make
estimates and assumptions in calculating the restructuring accruals, as many times employees choose to
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voluntarily leave the company prior to their termination date or they secure another position within the
company. In these situations, the employees do not receive termination benefits. To the extentour
assumptions and estimates differ from actual employee behavior, subsequent adjustments to restructuring
accruals have been and will be required. Restructuring accruals are included in accrued liabilities and other
non-current liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets. ’

Deferred income taxes — Deferred income taxes result from temporary differences between the
financial reporting basis of assets and liabilities and their respective tax reporting bases. Current deferred
tax assets and liabilities are netted in the consolidated balance sheets, as are long-term deferred tax assets
and liabilities. Future tax benefits are recognized to the extent that realization of such benefits is more
likely than not. ‘

Derivative financial instruments — We have used derivative financial instruments to hedge interest
rate exposures related to the issuance of long-term debt (see Note 12). We do not use derivative financial
instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

We recognize all derivative financial instruments in the consolidated financial statements at fair
value regardless of the purpose or intent for holding the instrument. Changes in the fair value of derivative
financial instruments are recognized periodically either in income or in sharéholders’ deficit as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive loss, depending on whether the derivative financial
instrument qualifies for hedge accounting, and if so, whether it qualifies as a fair value hedge or a cash
flow hedge. Generally, changes in fair values of derivatives accounted for as fair value hedges are recorded
in income along with the portion of the change in the fair value of the hedged items that relate to the
hedged risk. Changes in fair values of derivatives accounted for as cash flow hedges, to the extent they are
effective as hedges, are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss net of taxes. Changes in fair
values of derivatives not qualifying as hedges are reported in income.

Revenue recognition — Revenue is generally recognized when products are shipped or as services are
performed. Revenue includes amounts billed to customers for shipping and handling and pass-through
costs, such as marketing materials for which our financtal institution clients reimburse us. Costs incurred
for shipping and handling and pass-through costs are reflected in cost of goods sold. While we do provide
our customers with a right of return, revenue is not deferred. Rather, a reserve for sales returns is recorded
in accordance with SFAS No. 48, Revenue Recognition When Right of Return Exists, based on significant
historical experience. Our level of sales returns has not been significant historically.

At times, a financial institution client may terminate its contract with us prior to the end of the
contract term. In many of these cases, the financial institution is contractually required to remit a contract
buyout payment. Such payments are recorded as revenue when the termination agreement is executed,
provided that we have no further service or contractual obligations and collection of the funds is assured.

Revenue is presented in the consolidated statements of income net of rebates, discounts and
amortization of contract acquisition costs. These revenue reductions are discussed in our sales incentives
and contract acquisition costs accounting policies. Additionally, reported revenue for our Financial
Services segment does not reflect the full retail price paid by end-consumers to their financial institutions.
Revenue reflects the amounts paid to us by our financial institution clients.

Sales incentives — We enter into contractual agreements with financial institution clients for rebates
on certain products we sell. We record these amounts as reductions of revenue in the consolidated
statements of income and as accrued liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets when the related revenue
is recorded.

"At times we may also sell products at discounted prices or provide free products to customers when
they purchase a specified product. Discounts are recorded as reductions of revenue when the related
revenue is recorded. The cost of free products is recorded as cost of goods sold when the revenue for the
related purchase is recorded.
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Employee stock-based compensation — On January 1, 2004, we adopted the fair value recognition
provisions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. We are reporting this change in
accounting principle using the modified prospective method of adoption described in SFAS No. 148,
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure. Beginning in 2004, our results of
operations reflect compensation expense for all employee stock-based compensation, inclhiding the unvested
portion of stock options granted prior to 2004. This method results in the same amount of compensation
expense which would have been recognized had the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 been
applied from its original effective date. Prior to 2004, we accounted for our employee stock-based
compensation in accordance with Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees. Under this method of accounting, no compensation expense was recognized for stock
options or for our employee stock purchase plan. In accordance with the modified prospective method of
transition, results for prior years have not been restated to reflect this change in accounting principle. For 2003
and 2002, the pro forma net income and earnings per share information presented below was determined as if
we had accounted for our employee stock-based compensation under the fair value method of SFAS No. 123,

The fair value of options is estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.
During 2003, we modified the method used to determine the assumptions used in valuing options by utilizing
only historical data subsequent to the spin-off of our former eFunds segment in December 2000. Prior to 2003,
we did not have enough historical information subsequent to the eFunds spin-off to provide a statistically valid
sample of observations. The following weighted-average assumptions were used in valuing options issued:

2004 2003 2002
Risk-free interest rate (%0) ...ocooveveninccenns 36 29 4.8
Dividend yield (%) ...cocoveeeieiiiiiiicein 4.0 4.3 6.0
Expected volatility (%) ..covevvcverinvevenenennnn. 22.0 244 26.2
Weighted-average option life (vears).......... 5.5 6.0 6.0
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The weighted-average fair value of options granted was $6.64 per share in 2004, $6.06 per share in
2003 and $7.42 per share in.2002. The estimated fair value of the options is recognized as expense on the
straight-line basis over the options’ vesting periods. Options generally vest one-third each year over three
years. The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share as if the fair value
method had been applied to all outstanding and unvested awards in 2003 and 2002. The information
presented for 2004 reflects our actual results of operations.

Actual Pro Forma
(dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) 2004 2003 ;2002
Net income, as TePOTted ....eevevirririerienirereerireereereeens $ 197,991 $ 192,472 $ 214,274
Add employee stock-based compensation included in
net income: .

Stock options and employee stock purchase plan....... 6,924 ' —_ 303

Performance Shares ........ccooevvevevenerereneecrniennsinensnsreneas 447 — —

Restricted stock and restricted stock units.................. 4,877 954 2,799

TOtAL..oecivece e e, 12,248 954 3,102

Tax BENEfit. e, (4,569) (340) (1,151)
Employee stock-based compensation included in net

INCOME, NEL OF LAX.vvveeeeverereeeeeieteeeeeneeerereseeesnen e reseees ' 7,679 - 614 1,951
Deduct fair value employee stock-based compensation, '

NEE OF tAX otiiiiieeteee et s (7,679) (5,077) (5,239)
Pro forma Net iNCOME......c.ovveeireeeeeeeeeeeeeese e sereeeresesens $ 197991 §$ 188,009 § 210,986
Earnings per share:

Basic —as reported ......ocvreeicneicen e $ 395 § 353§ 3.41

PO fOIMa c..vceiiiccce ettt 3.95 3.45 3.36

Diluted — as reported............ et e bbb $§ 392 5§ 349 § 3.36

PO fOIMA ...t 3.92 342 332

Earnings per share — Basic earnings per share is based on the weighted-average number of common
shares outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings per share is based on the weighted-average number of
common shares outstanding during the year, adjusted to give effect to common stock equivalents such as
stock options and restricted stock units issued under our stock incentive plan and shares contingently
issuable under our performance share and officers” annual incentive compensation programs (see Note 10).

Comprehensive income — Comprehensive income includes charges and credits to shareholders’
equity that are not the result of transactions with shareholders. Our total comprehensive income consists of
net income, gains and losses on derivative instruments, unrealized gams and losses on securities and
foreign currency translation adjustments. The gains and losses on derivative instruments, the unrealized
gains and losses on securities and the foreign currency translation adjustments are reflected as accumulated
other comprehensive loss in our consolidated balance sheets and statements of shareholders’ deficit.
Accumulated other comprehensive loss was comprised of the following as of December 31 (dollars in
thousands):

2004 2003 2002

Unrealized loss on derivatives............... $ (16297) $ (2,265) § (2.4806)

Unrealized gain on securities................. . 110 — —

Translation adjustment............c.ccceevuenen, 2,320 — -
TOtaAl coveeereierreeirercrre e $ (13,867) $ (2,265) § (2,486)
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Recently adopted accounting pronouncements — In May 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (FASB) issued FASB Staff Position (FSP) No. FAS 106-2, Accounting and Disclosure
Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003.
This FSP outlines the appropriate accounting treatment for the effects of the new Medicare law, including
the required financial statement disclosures, and supersedes the previous guidance issued by the FASB in
January 2004. The new Medicare law introduced a prescription drug benefit under Medicare, as well as a
federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree health care benefit plans that provide a benefit that is at least
actuarially equivalent to the Medicare plan. Our retiree medical plans do provide prescription drug
coverage which is at least actuarially equivalent to the Medicare plan. Effective April 1, 2004, we elected
to adopt the accounting treatment required by FSP No. FAS 106-2 utilizing the retroactive application
method. As a result, our post-retirement benefit expense for the last three quarters of 2004 reflects the
impact of the new Medicare law. This impact is discussed in Note 11.

In November 2004, the FASB ratified a consensus reached by the Emerging Issues Task Force
(EITF) regarding Issue No. 03-13, Applying the Conditions in Paragraph 42 of FASB Statement No. 144,
Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived Assets, in Determining Whether to Report
Discontinued Operations. This issue provides additional g/uidance concerning situations when the disposal
of a component of a business should be reported as discontinued operations in a company’s financial
statements. We applied the guidance contained in this issue when analyzing the components of our
business reported as discontinued operations in our 2004 consolidated financial statements (see Note 5).

In December 2004, the FASB issued FSP No. FAS 109-1, Application of FASB Statement No. 109,
Accounting for Income Taxes, to the Tax Deduction on Qualified Production Activities Provided by the
American Jobs Creation Act of 2004. This FSP states that the tax deduction provided for under the new law
should be recorded as a special deduction and not as a reduction in the tax rate. Thus, the tax benefit of the
deduction is recognized in the periods the deduction is reported on the tax return. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities do not reflect the deductions to be taken in future years. Since the deduction is effective for
taxable years beginning after December 31, 2004, there was no impact on our 2004 provision for income
taxes:

In December 2004, the FASB issued FSP-No. FAS 109-2, Accounting and Disclosure Guidance for
the Foreign Earnings Repatriation Provision within the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004. This FSP
allows additional time for companies to determine how the new law affects a company’s accounting for
deferred tax liabilities on unremitted foreign earnings. The new law provides for a special one-time
deduction of 85% of certain foreign earnings that are repatriated and which meet certain requirements. We
are currently evaluating whether any of the earnings of our Canadian operations will be repatriated in

- accordance with the terms of this law. The maximum amount of earnings that could be repatriated is

approximately $34 million, which would result in tax expense of approximately $3.5 million. We expect
our evaluation to be completed in the second quarter of 2005.

Accounting pronouncements not yet adopted — In December 2004, the FASB issued a revision to SFAS
No. 123. The new statement is referred to as SFAS No. 123(R) and is entitled Share-Based Payment. The new
statement requires companies to recognize expense for stock-based compensation in the statement of income
and is effective for us on July 1, 2005. We do not expect the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R) to result in a
significant change in the compensation expense we currently recognize in our statements of income under
SFAS No. 123. ’
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Note 2: Supplementary balance sheet and cash flow information

Trade accounts receivable — Net trade accounts receivable was comprised of the following at
December 31 (dollars in thousands):

2004 2003
Trade accounts receivable.......ococvcrviiiecrceeennen '$ 115,728 $ 38,947
Allowances for uncollectible accounts ............... (5,199) - (1,881)

Trade accounts receivable —net............cco...... S 110,529 $ 37,066

Changes in the allowances for uncollectible accounts for continuing operations were as follows
(dollars in thousands):

Balance, December 31, 2001 .....ccovovivvereernennnns $ 1,428
Bad debt expense .....occoeeveneniiiininceniennnen 3,029
Write-offs, net of recoveries ..........ococvevvvennen. 2,607)

Balance, December 31, 2002 ........coovvvnveecnnenn. ' 1,850
Bad debt eXpense ........cocveeceivrririnierrninrenilunns 3,130
Write-offs, net of reCoOVeries .........ccuueveenenns 3,099)

Balance, December 31, 2003 ........ccoeeevveennens . 1,881
Bad debt expense .........ocoeniiiiiind s . 6,921
Write-offs, net of recoveries ........ovvvvervenen, . (3,603)

Balance, December 31,2004 .........ccovvviviveninnnn, $ 5,199

Inventories and supplies — Inventories and supplies were comprised of the following at December
31 (dollars in thousands):

‘ 2004 2003

RaW MALEIIalS ....ovevieeeevirsevenevesee v eesrerenens ' 12,377 $ 2,550
Semi-finished g00dS......c.oovevververnirnereniererienen 6,321 5,623
Finished g00ds......ccoccennrerneeerininines e, 11,732 975
Total INVENTOTIES.....vvveirerveeceiinirieeresereereneee 30,430 9,148
SUPPHES vvvvvvvveveeveevevsessessesssesessssssssssssaneesssessssnnennes | 8,460 9,504
Inventories and supplies.......oocvcercrrevrerrneennes $ 38,890 $ 18,652

Other current assets — Other current assets were comprised of the following at December 31 (dollars
in thousands):

2004 2003

Prepayment to voluntary employee beneficiary
ASSOCIALION tIUSE ..veevevvvvrerirreriveereereerererirere e $ 16,230 $ 12,657
Cash held for customers ..........ccoecvviivevevenennennn, : 9,759 —
Other ..o e e et 12,797 © 1,327
Other CUITENt ASSELS ...cvcvvvevvirenieirienssrerenerenes $ 38,786 $ 19,984
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Property, plant and equipment — Property, plant and equipment was comprised of the following at

December 31 (dollars in thousands):

, 2004 2003

Land and land Improvements...........coveeeeerreences $ 35290 $ 31,999

Buildings and building improvements................. 129,111 113,447

Machinery and equipment........co.ceovevveneerecrecnenn: © 287,238 273,739

TOMAl. oo 451,639 419,185
Accumulated depreciation.........c...ccoerervererrcnnnes (293,477) (295,570)

Property, plant and equipment — net .............. $ 158,162 $ 123,615

Assets held for sale — Assets held for sale include four Financial Services check printing facilities and
one Small Business Services printing facility which we closed during 2004, as well as one Small Business
Services facility which was closed prior to our acquisition of NEBS (see Note 4). We are actively seeking
buyers for these properties and expect to dispose of them within one year from the date they were closed.
Based on market research and appraisal information, we believe the fair values of the assets less costs to sell
equal or exceed the carrying values of the assets. As such, no impairment loss has been recognized for these

assets.

Assets held for sale were comprised of the following as of December 31, 2004 (dollars in thousands): .

Land and land improvements
Buildings and building improvements

Machinery and equipment

Accumulated depreciation

Assets held for sale — net

$ 2,341

. Intangibles — Intangibles were comprised of the following at December 31 (dollars in thousands):

2004 2003
Gross Net Gross Net
carrying Accumulated ‘carrying carrying Accumnlated carrying
amount amortization amount amount amortization amount
Indefinite lives:

Trade names .........ccovn... $ 59400 $ — 3 59,400 $ — ¥ — 3 —

Amortizable intangibles: ,
Internal-use sofiware........ 266,814 (180,005) 86,809 244 848 (169,286) 75,562
Customer lists .................. 108,950 (19,431) 89,519 5,050 (2,765) 2,285
Distributor contracts........ 30,900 (3,323) 27,577 — — —
Trade names ............co.e.... .30,200 (2,105) 28,0935 — — -
Other ..o, 7,185 (1,401) 5,784 877 (563) 314
Amortizable intangibles... 444,049 (206,265) 237,784 250,775 (172,614) 78,161
Intangibles..........cc.co.... $ 503,449 § (206,265) $ 297,184 $ 250,775 § (172,614) $ 78,161
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Total amortization of intangibles for continuing operations was $66.5 million in 2004, $37.3 million
in 2003 and $34.3 million in 2002. Based on the intangibles in service as of December 31, 2004, estimated
amortization expense for each of the next five vears ending December 31 is as follows (dollars in
thousands):

2005 i $ 73,269
2006 .o 47,783
S 2007 i, 33,830
2008 ..o 23,950
2009 . 13,069

In conjunction with the acquisition of NEBS (see Note 4), we acquired certain intangible assets. In
addition to these intangibles, we also acquired internal-use software in the normal course of business. The
following intangible assets were acquired during the years indicated (dollars in thousands):

2004 . 2003 2002
Weighted- Weighted- - Weighted-
average . average average
amortization amortization amortization
Amount period Amount period Amount _period
Indefinite lives: '
Trade names .....cocveveeeeenee $ 59,400 — $ — — % — ' —
Amortizable intangibles:
Customer listS........ooceevene. 103,900 6 years — — — —
Distributor contracts......... 30,900 9 years — — — —
Internal-use software ~ .
NEBS acquisition .......... 23,171 4 years — — — —
Internal-use software ~
other ..o, 32,917 "3 years 11,114 3 years 26,388 3 years
Trade names .....ccocveeeuee... 30,200 7 years —_ —_ — —
Other....ooviveiverinereens 6,308 11 years 11 3 years 165 3 years
Amortizable intangibles... 227,396 6 years 11,125 . 3 years 26,553 3 years
Intangibles......cccocerennne $ 286,796 $ 11,125 $ 26,553

Goodwill — Goodwill includes $82.2 million related to our Direct Checks segment as a result of the
acquisition of Designer Checks in 2000. This portion of goodwill is deductible for tax purposes. The
remainder relates to our acquisition of NEBS in June 2004 (see Note 4) and is allocated to our Small
Business Services segment. Changes in goodwill were as follows (dollars in thousands):

Balance, December 31, 2003 and 2002 ......cccoovveivrcenreiemirecveserenee e $ 82,237
Acquisition of NEBS (se€ NOte 4)......cccvcrircenrerneniiniamiernceinionnns 498,503
Balance, December 31, 2004 .......covveiveiiieieeeeceiesree et e $ 580,740
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Other non-current assets — Other non-current assets as of December 31 were comprised of the
following (dollars in thousands): '

2004 2003

Contract acquisition costs (net of accumulated amortization
of $43,199 and $41,608, respectively) .....c.cccvrverrrrcnnnene. $ 83,825 $ 96,085
Deferred advertising Costs........ovverevrerenrnenmenrenrerecrcnesnnnens 31,455 29,044
Prepaid post-retirement asset .....oc.ooeevereenerereseerennes e, 22,089 19,839
OHRET ..ttt st en sttt . 23,026 12,541
Other NON-CUITENE ASSELS......ccoveeveeerevreririecessrerieesteessnssenns $ 160,395 S 157,509

Changes in contract acquisition costs were as follows (dollars in thousands):

Balance, December 31, 2002 ......oooviviieiceeerereerreereve e e $ 55,259
Cash PAYMENLS ..o et 47,728
Change in ACCrUAlS........oevirienieieerr ettt e 18,684
AMOTTZATION ...t e eterer ettt s r st et en b (25,586)

Balance, December 31, 2003 .....o.oooieiiiieicieci e e 96,085
Cash PAYIMENTS ..ottt 15,778
Change in CCTUAIS. ........ciceeeieieeerie et 6,490
AMOTHIZALION .....evierveieietir e reerieiere et et sttt ses s e s esnseees 34,528)

Balance, December 31, 2004 ........ocovvomvivininieeice et st $ 83,825

Based on the contact acquisition costs balance as of December 31, 2004, estimated amortization for
each of the next five years ending December 31 is as follows (dollars in thousands):

2005 <.coveeeeeererrennn $ 27,523
2006 v 25,107
2007 cooooeeerrererenn C 15,673
2008 ..oveerererreren, 11,349
2009 . ovoeeeerere 4,033

Accrued liabilities — Accrued liabilities as of December 31 were comprised of the following (dollars
in thousands):

‘ ’ ' 2004 2003

Employee profit sharing and pension ........c.....ceccoveecnennnee $ 45,343 $ 22,075
REDALES ..vorivciii ettt s 29,504 21,253
Income taxes................. eerreree e ae et e st e s ta e b enaeb e tearenes 22,281 : 25,372
Accrued wages, including vacation .............ereecnnnns s 16,528 , 8,906
Restructuring due within one year (see Note 6) ......coveevine. 12,647 10,748
OHRET .ottt ess e es 76,676 38,467
Accrued Habilities .......ooocveeieie e $ 202,979 $ 126,821

Interest and income taxes paid — Cash payments for interest and income taxes for continuing
operations were as follows for the years ended December 31 (dollars in thousands):

: 2004 2003 2002
INErest Paid ....ccvverreririeinrericcee et $ 28,395 $ 19,180 $ 4,162
Income taxes paid...‘ ......................................................... 108,435 110,508 116,500
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Note 3: Earnings per share

The following table reflects the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share from continuing
operations (dollars and shares in thousands, except per share amounts):

2004 2003 2002

Eamings per share ~ basic:
Income from continuing Operations.......c...c.cceeveverveerernenne. $ 198,648 $ 192472 § 214,274
Weighted-average shares outstanding .........cccocveeevcvrenenn. 50,126 " 54,523 62,823

Earnings per share from continuing operations — basic ..... $ 396 § 353 % 3.41

Earnings per share — diluted:

Income from continuing Operations...........cceceevrericcreenenns $ 198,648 $ 192472 § 214274
Weighted-average shares outstanding ........cccccceecverecene 50,126 54,523 62,823
Dilutive impact of stock Options .......c.eceervnervercrnicirnenns 370 693 888
Shares contingently issuable .........coccovevreiereininienee s 53 12 36
Weighted-average shares and potential dilutive shares A

OUESTANAING ...veeeeereieeireere et e 50,549 55,228 63,747

Earnings per share from continuing operations — diluted... $ 393 % 349 §$ 3.36

During 2004, options to purchase a weighted- average of 1.8 million shares were outstanding but
were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share. During 2003 and 2002, options to
purchase a weighted-average of 1.2 million shares were excluded from the computation. These options
were excluded from the calculatxon of diluted earnings per share because their effect would have been
antidilutive.

Note 4: Acquisition of New England Business Service, Inc.

On June 25, 2004, we acquired all of the outstanding common stock of NEBS for $44 per share and
agreed to redeem all outstanding NEBS stock options for $44 per option share less the option exercise
price. As of December 31, 2004, substantially all of the direct costs of the acquisition have been paid. The
total purchase price for the acquisition was comprised of the following {dollars in thousands):

Cash payments for NEBS common stock........ccoceeeverrnnnne. § 585,351
Cash payments to redeem NEBS stock options .................. 44,087
Direct costs of the aCqUISItION.......c.coveverericrererrerererenencneas 10,351

Total purchase Price........cocovveieirieieeceenenenerereneae $ 639,789
Amount paid through December 31, 2004..........cccoeveeennee $ 638,890
Cash acquired from NEBS........cocccocneinineininieennee (14,031)
Payments for acquisition through December 31,

2004, net of cash acquired ..........cocoeveeiiiiecveieceeieiece e, $ 624,859

NEBS is a leading provider of products and services to small businesses. Its offerings include
checks, forms, packaging supplies, embossed foil anniversary seals, promotional products and other printed
material which are marketed through direct response marketing, financial institution referrals, independent
distributors, sales representatives and the Internet. We believe NEBS is a strategic fit, as we both serve
small business customers, and the acquisition expands our product offerings, customer base and non-check
revenue. NEBS results of operations are included in our Small Business Services segment, except for those
portions which are reported as discontinued operations (see Note 5).

To finance the acquisition, we utilized $475.0 million of an $800.0 million bridge financing
agreement, as well as commercial paper. During the third quarter of 2004, we utilized commercial paper to
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pay-off the bridge financing agreement and sﬁbsequently canceled this agreement. On October 1, 2004, we -
issued $600.0 million of long-term debt. The net proceeds from this debt of $595.5 million were utilized to
pay outstanding commercial paper. Further details concerning the long-term debt issued can be found in Note
12.

NEBS operating results are included in our consolidated results of operations from the acquisition
date. In the fourth quarter of 2004, we finalized our allocation of the purchase price to the assets acquired
and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values at the date of acquisition. This allocation is
reflected in our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2004. The purchase price allocation
resulted in goodwill of $498.5 million. We believe that the NEBS acquisition resulted in the recognition of
goodwill primarily because of its industry position, the potential to introduce products across multiple
channels and the ability to realize cost synergies. The following illustrates our allocation of the purchase
price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed (dollars in thousands):

Cash and cash equivalents........c..cccoueeerrecrerrrrenens $ 14,681
Trade accounts receivable.......c..ccocovvvrerecrniniineennn. 71,563
Inventories and SUpplies..........covvvencininnne s 38,293
Deferred iInCome tAXEeS......ccovvevveereeeerevnresrenereeresrennns 26,928
Other CUTent aSSETS ....ovvievereecvecrerreereerenresnesnnrereens 14,483
Long-term investments...........cocoveivininieninniiinens ‘ 2,974
Property, plant and equipment ... 59,236
Assets held forsale.........ccovnierninecncncireeiees 2,981
Intangibles ... 253,871
Goodwill........coecerienrens et et 498,503
Other NON-CUITENE ASSELS.....ovvcvcveveecrecr v eeeeeaeaeeenas 8,420
Accounts payable ..o (30,124)
Accrued liabilities.....cooeveereercrviiieiennieeienccreanee (92,164)
Long-term debt due within one year...........coc....... - {10,417)
Long-term debt.......cccooverviivrcniniincnncnaas (155,203)
Deferred inCOME tAXES.....c..ererercrernerrveerererreresencene ' (56,960)
Other non-current liabilities .........corveevrrrerenererne (7,276)
Total purchase price .......c...cvevevrecrrinsreerrersneesenne $ 639,789

" Subsequent to the initial allocation of the purchase price in June 2004, we decreased the amount
assigned to goodwill by $17.4 million. This was primarily the result of a $39.5 million increase in the fair
value assigned to identifiable intangible assets and a $17.4 million increase in the fair value assigned to
property, plant and equipment, partially offset by a $22.9 million increase in non-current deferred income
tax liabilities and a $19.1 million increase in restructuring accruals.

Information concerning the intangible assets acquired as part of this acquisition can be found in
'Note 2. Amortizable trade names and software are being amortized on the straight-line basis. The other
amortizable intangible assets are being amortized using accelerated methods. During 2004, we recorded
amortization of NEBS intangibles of $25.7 million in continuing operations.
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The following unaudited, pro forma financial information illustrates our estimated results of
operations as if the acquisition of NEBS had occurred as of the beginning of each period presented (dollars

in thousands):

2004 2003

REVENUE ...ttt e v e eee s e ere s saenre s srsereeae s, $ 1,889,482 $ 1,916,213

INEL ACOME vvveeerseeeveeeress oo sveereeseesesseeseessssesseseresee 183,351 171,224
Earnings per share:

BASIC covvveeveveeere et seeeve et st aes b s ne st sac bbb § 3.66 $ 3.14

DANLEd ..ottt e 3.63 3.10

NEBS 2003 results of operations included goodwill and asset impairment charges of $13.2 million
related to their apparel business. These charges are reflected in the above pro forma results of operations.
The pro forma results of operations are presented for comparative purposes only. They do not represent the
results which would have been reported had the acquisition occurred on the dates assumed and are not

necessarily indicative of future operating results.

Note S: Discontinued operations

During the fourth quarter of 2004, we disposed of substantially all of the operations of NEBS
European businesses. This disposal reflects our intention to focus on our North American operations
and was completed on December 31, 2004. Net proceeds from the sale were $0.8 million, subject to
subsequent adjustment based on an audit of the companies’ December 31, 2004 balance sheets. No
gain or loss was recognized on this disposition as the assets and liabilities were recorded at fair value

on the acquisition date.

Also during the fourth quarter of 2004, we announced the planned sale of NEBS apparel
business, PremiumWear. This sale will allow us to focus our resources on the many critical initiatives
underway within Small Business Services. We anticipate that this sale will be completed in 2005. The
results of operations of these businesses are reflected as discontinued operations in our 2004

consolidated financial statements.

The major classes of assets and liabilities of discontinued operations as of December 31, 2004 were

as follows (dollars in thousands):

Cash and cash eqUIValENts ........ccovrirercerereiie e $ 3
Trade accounts receivable.......ccovireeeinninevinenereere e 5,640
Inventories and SUPPLES.......coveereremririercerienicreee e sererene s 12,645
Deferred INCOIME TAXES ...oevrveerieeereer et st eeesesteessteeesesseesstenssreneesseresseens 2,442
Other CUITENE ASSELS ...oviveviieerieriiiereeee e re et snenne 1,911
Current assets of discontinued Operations ..........cveorerevrrrsisrsunsens 22,641
Property, plant and eqUIpment.......c.cocveercviennernevnenonnencsinesenene 2,514
Deferred INCOME TAXES ....eoviivieriiieierierieeeriere et ere st erene 4,450
Non-current assets of discontinued operations............cceovevneerennee 6,964
AccoUNtS PAYADLE .....oviverriiiiieiie e (1,373)
AcCTUed HADIHEIES ..vvvveiiirieee ittt sae st ot (3,493)
Long-term debt due within one year ...........ccocovvevecerennenvincninnionnes (10)
Current liabilities of discontinued operations........c.c.cuvveernreneens (4,876)
Long-term debt........coccvveinciin e 4)
Other non-current LHabilities...c..ovvvverveerisieieceec st sae e ‘ (3,486)
Non-current liabilities of discontinued operations ..........c..eovveveee (3,490)
Net assets of discontinued OPErations..........vocvevveerevreesrensernererinnes $ 21,239
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Revenue and loss from discontinued operations for 2004 were as follows (dollars in thousands):

REVEIIUEC .....cvivecviiiteeires ettt sttt b ere st et e saes et e etenssbensaseas $ 28,789
PIE-1AX 10SS couvivivieieiie et ete st r st ns s $ (1,098)
Income tax BENEfit........cccorerrenreiinmineeceiee e s 441
Net loss from discontinued OPErations ..........oveersvereeeerererensvnneen: $ (657)

Note 6: Restructuring' accruals

2004 restructuring charges — During 2004, we recorded restructuring charges of §5.7 million for
employee severance related to the closing of our Financial Services check printing facility located in
Dallas, Texas and our Direct Checks check printing facility located in Anniston, Alabama, as well as
reductions in various functional areas primarily within our Direct Checks and Financial Services segments.
The closure of the Dallas facility was primarily due to the loss of a major financial institution client whose
contract expired at the end of 2004, The other reductions were a result of the continuing decline in check
usage, as well as increased productivity. Both the Dallas and Anniston facilities were closed during the
fourth quarter of 2004. We expect the other employee reductions to be substantially completed during the

_first half of 2005. The restructuring charges included estimated severance benefits for 483 employees. The
related severance payments are being funded by cash from operations. Also during 2004, we reversed $1.3
million of previously recorded restructuring accruals due to fewer employees receiving severance benefits
than originally estimated. These restructuring charges and reversals are reflected as cost of goods sold of
$2.0 million and SG&A expense of $2.4 million in our 2004 consolidated statement of income.

2003 restructuring charges — During 2003, we recorded restructuring charges of $11.8 million for
employee severance related to the closing of three of our Financial Services check printing facilities and
other reductions in employees within Financial Services and our corporate support group. We were able to
close the three check printing facilities because of the expertise we have developed in logistics,
productivity and inventory management, as well as the decline in check usage. The other employee
reductions were the result of our ongoing cost management efforts. All three check printing facilities were
closed during 2004, and the other employee reductions were also substantially completed during 2004. In
total, 573 employees received a total of $10.7 million in severance payments, which were funded by cash
from operations. During 2003, we also reversed $0.4 million of previously established restructuring
accruals due to fewer employees receiving severance benefits than originally estimated. These restructuring
charges and reversals are reflected in our 2003 consolidated statement of income as cost of goods sold of
$5.0 million and SG&A expense of $6.4 million.

2002 restructuring charges — During 2002, we recorded restructuring charges of $1.5 million for
employee severance related primarily to manufacturing employees within our Financial Services segment
and various functional areas within our Direct Checks segment. These reductions were the result of our
ongoing cost management efforts and were completed during 2003. In total, 121 employees received $1.5
million in severance payments. During 2002, we also reversed $0.2 million of previously established
restructuring accruals. These restructuring charges and reversals are reflected in our 2002 consolidated
statement of income as cost of goods sold of $0.6 million and SG&A expense of $0.7 million.

Acquisition-related restructuring — As a result of the NEBS acquisition on June 25, 2004 (see Note
4), we assumed restructuring accruals of $1.3 million related to NEBS facility closings which were
completed prior to the acquisition. Employee severance payments related to these facility closings were
completed by the end of 2004, utilizing cash from operations. Additionally, we recorded restructuring
accruals of $30.2 million related to NEBS activities which are being exited as we combine the two
companies. The restructuring accruals include severance benefits and $2.8 million due under noncancelable
operating leases on facilities which have been or will be vacated as we consolidate operations. The
severance accruals include payments due 884 employees. This includes employees in the Tucker, Georgia
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printing facility which was closed during the fourth quarter of 2004, the Los Angeles, California facility
which we plan to close by the end of 2005 and the Athens, Ohio facility which we will begin closing in
2005 and will be completely closed by mid-2006. Additionally, the accruals include employees in various
functional areas throughout the organization resulting from our shared services approach to manufacturing
and certain SG&A functions. The severance accruals also include amounts due to certain NEBS executives
under change of control provisions included in théir employment agreements, as we eliminate redundancies
between the two companies. Restructuring payments are expected to be substantially completed by the end
of 2006, utilizing cash from operations. As these accruals were included in the liabilities recorded upon
acquisition, the related charges are not reflected in our consolidated statements of income.

Restructuring accruals of $16.9 million as of December 31, 2004 and $10.7 million as of December 31,
2003 are reflected in accrued liabilities and other non-current liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets. As

of December 31, 2004, 668 employees remained to be severed under our current initiatives.

Changes in the restructuring accruals were as follows (dollars in thousands):

NEBS
2001/2002 02003 2004 NEBS pre- acquisition
. initiatives initiatives initiatives acquisition related Total
Balance, December 31, 2001 ........... $ 3,231 $ —_ $ — $ — 3 — $ 3,231
Restructuring charges .........ccenuee 1,487 — — — = 1,487
Restructuring reversals ........cco.v.... (216) — ‘ — — — (216)
Severance paid.........cceeverrcreenennee. (3,347) — — — — (3,347)
Balance, December 31, 2002 ........... 1,155 — — — — 1,155
Restructuring charges ..........ccouue. — 11,794 R — — 11,794
Restructuring reversals .........c........ (241) (200) — — — (441)
Severance paid..........ccovvrnen. s (914) (846) — — — . (1,760)
Balance, December 31, 2003 ........... — 10,748 — — ) — 10,748
Restructuring charges ..........co....... — 180 5,515 — — 5,695
NEBS acquisition..........coveeeeennnens — — ‘ — 1,321 30,244 31,565
. Restructuring reversals .................. : — (1,120) (134) — — (1,254)
Severance paid.....cccvvirenrereneen: — (9,804) (3,030) (1,321) (15,688) (29,843)
Balance, December 31, 2004 ........... $ — $ 4 $ 2,351 $ — $ 14,556 $ 16911
The number of employees affected by the above initiatives was as follows:
‘ NEBS
2001/2002 2003 2004 acquisition
initiatives initiatives initiatives related Total

Balance, December 31, 2001 .......... 163 — — — 163
Restructuring charges..........c.ccveee. 121 — — — 121
Restructuring reversals.... 17) — — — (17)
Severance paid........c..ceeerirreerennnns ‘ (198) — — — (198)

Balance, December 31, 2002 ......... 69 — —_— — 69
Restructuring charges...... —_ 635 — — 635
Restructuring reversals.... 4) - (20) — — (24)
Severance paid........ccocvreereneernncen (65) (82) — — (147)

Balance, December 31, 2003 .......... — 533 — : —_ 533
Restructuring charges.............c...... — — 483 — 483
NEBS acquisition...........ooeeeeceneee — — — 884 ) 884
Restructuring reversals.................. — 42) (18) — (60)
Severance paid........c.cocceeereieerereene — (488) (425) ‘ (259) (1,172)

Balance, December 31, 2004 .......... — 3 40 625 668
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On a cumulative basis through December 31, 2004, the status of our restructuring accruals was as
follows (dollars in thousands):

NEBS
2001/2002 2003 2004 NEBS pre- acquisition
initiatives initiatives initiatives acquisition related Total
Original restructuring charge............ $ 5,651 $ 11,974 $ 5,515 3 1,321 $ 30,244 $ 54,705
Restructuring reversals .................. (457) (1,320) (134 - — — (1,911)
Severance paid............oecoioveeinnnl, (5,194) (10,650) (3,030) (1,321) (15,688) (35,883)
Balance, December 31, 2004 ........... $ — 3 4 $ 2,351 $ —  $ 14,556 $ 16911

We also incurred other costs related to facility closures, including equipment moves, training and
travel. These costs were expensed as incurred, primarily as cost of goods sold, and totaled $2.1 million. Of this
amount, $1.8 million was expensed in 2004 and $0.3 million was expensed in 2003.

Note 7: Asset impairment and net disposition (gains) losses

Asset impairment and net disposition (gains) losses for continuing operations were comprised of the
following (dollars in thousands):

2004 2003 2002
Asset Impairment 10SSES......covveviveenrnrnreeeninrenenans e $ — $ 528 % —
Recognition of deferred gam on sale-leaseback
ANSACTION. c.vvioeeriisi et (591) (359) (888)
ASSEt AISPOSILIONS .....eveviriiriieieireiriecr et enens 561 14 1,185

. Asset impairment and net disposition (gains) losses...... $ (30) $§ 4,744 § 297/

During 2003, we recorded asset impairment losses of $5.3 million, primarily in the Financial
Services segment. The impaired assets consisted of both manufacturing technologies and software. We had
been intending to implement the manufacturing technologies during 2003. However, having already
realized many efficiencies in our manufacturing function as a result of other initiatives, including the
implementation of lean manufacturing, the incremental benefits expected from these technologies no
longer warranted their implementation. The impaired software was intended.to replace several of our
existing systems and bring various areas of the company onto one platform. However, based on our
continuing evaluation of investment initiatives, we determined that the costs to implement the system and
the timeline for implementation did not result in an adequate return on our investment. The majority of the
impaired assets had no alternative uses and could not be sold to third parties. Thus, these assets were
written down to a carrying value of zero. Certain related hardware was sold to third parties and was written
down to their fair value less costs to sell. Of the total asset impairment losses, $3.6 million related to
property, plant and equipment and $1.7 million related to intangible assets.

During 1999, we entered into a sale/leaseback transaction with an unaffiliated third party. We sold
five facilities located in Shoreview, Minnesota and entered into leases for three of these facilities for
periods ranging from five to ten years. Two of the leases were operating leases and one was a capital lease.
The result of this sale was a $17.1 million gain, of which $10.6 million was deferred and is being
recognized in income over the lease terms in the case of the operating leases and over the life of the capital
asset in the case of the capital lease.

Note 8: Derivative financial instruments

During 2004; we entered into $450.0 million of forward starting interest rate swaps to hedge, or lock-
in, the interest rate on a portion of the $600.0 million debt we issued in October 2004 (see Note 12). The
termination of the lock agreements yielded a deferred pre-tax loss of $23.6 million. This loss is reflected, net
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of tax, in accumulated other comprehensive loss in our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2004
and is being reclassified ratably to our statements of income as an increase to interest expense over the term of
the related debt.

During 2002, we entered into two forward rate lock agreements to effectively hedge the annual
interest rate on $150.0 million of the $300.0 million notes issued in December 2002 (see Note 12). Upon
issuance of the notes, the lock agreements were terminated, yielding a deferred pre-tax loss of $4.0 million,
which is reflected in accumulated other comprehensive loss in our consolidated balance sheets and is being
reclassified ratably to our statements of income as an increase to interest expense over the ten-year term of
the notes. ' ’

Note 9: Provision for income taxes

The components of the provision for income taxes for continuing operations were as follows (dollars
in thousands):

2004 2003 2002

Current tax provision:
Federal....coooveeiievieiceie et $ 115,182 § 99,009 § 92,587
SEALE ..ottt et e st ne 14,552 15,393 13,072
TOLAL vttt ettt eb st bereaetene 129,734 114,402 105,659
Deferred tax (benefit) provision.........c.ovevevvirerrecriereenee © (11,509) (7,854) 8,561
Valuation allowance ..........ccoeovveminienieninienienrecrenienvennennes — 360 12,228
Provision for INCOME taXES .......ccvvvervrerimireensininnns $ 118,225 § 106908 § 126,448

The effective tax rate on pre-tax income from continuing operations differed from the U.S. federal
statutory tax rate of 35% as follows (dollars in thousands):

2004 2003 2002,

Income tax at federal statutory rate ........cccccevvirevcneane, $ 110906 $ 104,783 § 119,253
State income taxes net of federal income tax benefit....... 7,480 9,164 9,371
Valuation allowance ...........cocooveevieveveveveseseeeseese s — 360 12,228
Resolution of tax contingencies ...........ccovevvrvereercvrrrneenns (125) (7,300) (12,853)
OUhET oo cr et e s et st s n s st e ebe b esraes (36) (99) (1,551)
Provision for incomie taxes........couevevennnn. v $ 118225 § 106,908 § 126,448

We have established reserves for income tax contingencies. We establish reserves when, despite our
belief that the tax return positions are fully supportable, certain positions are likely to be challenged and we
may ultimately not prevail in defending those positions. We adjust these reserves in light of changing facts
and circumstances, such as the closing of a tax audit. Our effective tax rate includes the impact of reserve
provisions and changes to reserves that are considered appropriate, as well as related interest. Our reserves
for contingent tax liabilities totaled $17.6 million as of December 31, 2004 and $16.3 million as of
December 31, 2003, and are included in accrued liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets. These
reserves relate to various tax years subject to audit by taxing authorities. We believe that our current tax
reserves are adequate, and reflect the most probable outcome of known tax contingencies. However, the
ultimate outcome may differ from our estimates and assumptions and could impact the provision for
income taxes reflected in our consolidated statements of income. Unfavorable settlement of any particular
issue would require the use of cash. Favorable resolution could result in reduced income tax expense in our
consolidated statements of income in the future.

During 2003, we reversed $7.3 million of previously established income tax reserves. A prior year
federal audit period was closed due to the expiration of the statute of limitations, and we reached
agreements with two states to favorably settle proposed income tax audit assessments. As a result, the
related reserves were no longer required. Also during 2003, we recorded a $0.4 million charge for a
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valuation allowance related to our deferred tax asset for capital loss carryforwards which expired in 2003.

During the fourth quarter of 2002, the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) completed its review of our
income tax returns for 1996 through 1998. As a result, we reversed $12.9 million of previously established
income tax reserves. Certain IRS rules were clarified in a. manner favorable to us, and the related reserves
were no longer required. Substantially offsetting these reversals in 2002 was a $12.2 million charge for a
valuation allowance relating to our deferred tax asset for capital loss carryforwards. At December 31, 2002,
we had capital loss carryforwards of approximately $33.0 million which expired in 2003. By the fourth
quarter of 2002, the predominance of negative evidence indicated that it was more likely than not that the
tax benefits associated with a majority of the capital loss carryforwards would not be realized as certain tax
planning strategies upon which we intended to rely were no longer considered to be prudent or feasible.

Tax effected temporary differences which gave rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities at December
31 were as follows (dollars in thousands):

2004 2003

Deferred Deferred tax Deferred Deferred tax

tax assets liabilities tax assets liabilities
Intangible assets.........ccocevvviveecriiennn, $ — 8 70,890 § — 5 26,168
Property, plant and equipment ............. — 11,860 — 6,405
Deferred advertising costs .................. ‘ — 11,638 — 10,490
Prepaid Services .......ovovvceivrnirereninnenen, — 10,153 — 10,353
GoodWill ..o, — 8,185 — 4,266
Employee benefit plans............cc......... 12,093 — 3,603 —
Miscellaneous reserves and accruals ... 11,624 — 6,901 —
INVENLOTIES .ooovvvvee i, 4,753 — 3,316 —
Allother...cooeviiiiecice e, 16,168 870 3,247 1,781
Total deferred taxes.........ocevvvenenne, $ 44,638 $ 113,596 $ 17,067 $ 59,463

As of December 31, 2004, we had state net operating loss carryforwards of $47.8 million, excluding
discontinued operations (see Note 5). These loss carryforwards expire at various dates up to 2024. We also
had Canadian operating loss carryforwards of $1.0 million which expire at various dates between 2006 and
2009.

Note 10: Employee benefit and stock-based compensation plans

Stock purchase plan — Our current employee stock purchase plan became effective on February 1,
2002, with the first purchase occurring on July 31, 2002. Under the plan, eligible employees may purchase
Deluxe common stock at 85% of the lower of its fair market value at the beginning or end of each six-
month purchase period. On January 1, 2004, we adopted the fair value method of accounting for employee
stock-based compensation. As a result, compensation expense of $0.7 million was recognized in 2004
related to our stock purchase plan. Prior to 2004, in accordance with APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees, we did not recognize compensation expense for the difference between the
employees’ purchase price and the fair value of the stock. During 2004, 100,241 shares were issued at a
price of $33.88. During 2003, 119,260 shares were issued at prices of $32.38 and $34.26. During 2002,
60,520 shares were issued at a price of $33.06.

Through January 31, 2002, we maintained a non-qualified employee stock purchase plan that
allowed eligible employees to purchase Deluxe common stock at 75% of its fair market value on the first
business day following each three-month purchase period. Compensation expense was recognized for the
difference between the employees’ purchase price and the fair value of the stock and was $0.3 million in
2002. Under this plan, we issued 26,788 shares at a price of $34.00 in 2002.
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Stock incentive plan — Under our stock incentive plan, stock-based awards may be issued to
employees via a broad range of methods, including non-qualified or incentive stock options, restricted
stock and restricted stock units, stock appreciation rights and other awards based on the value of Deluxe
common stock. During 2004, we implemented changes to our long-term compensation strategy. Rather
than using stock options as the exclusive form of long-term incentive, we are now utilizing a combination
of stock options, performance shares and restricted stock, as authorized under this plan. The plan reserved
8.5 million shares of common stock for issuance, with 4.8 million of these shares still available for
issuance as of December 31, 2004. :

All options granted under the plan allow for the purchase of shares of common stock at prices equal
to their market value at the date of grant. Options become exercisable in varying amounts generally
beginning one year after the date of grant, with one-third vesting each year over three years. In the case of
qualified retirement, death, disability or involuntary termination, options vest immediately. Employees
forfeit unvested options when they voluntarily terminate their employment with the company. Terms vary,
but generally options may be exercised up to seven years following the date of grant. On January 1, 2004,
we adopted the fair value method of accounting for employee stock-based compensation. As a result,
compensation expense of $6.3 million was recognized in 2004 related to stock options. Compensation
expense is recorded over the three-year vesting period. Prior to 2004, in accordance with APB Opinion No.
25, we did not recognize compensation expense for stock options.

Information regarding options issued under the current and all previous plans is as follows:

Weighted-
Number of average
shares exercise price
Outstanding at December 31, 2001 .......coererrrnines 3,548,854 § 23.05
GLanted .......oocvereriirieeiree vt eeeree s esibs s e, 1,251,349 47.64
EXercised ..oooveeveiinieririinieee st seessseenns (1,150,888) 24.21
Canceled ..ocoeervereneeiinirrr s (118,300) 29.46
Qutstanding at December 31, 2002 ......cccoceeennne, 3,531,015 ‘ 31.17
Granted ......ccoveveeeeeererre e 1,375,650 38.58
EXErcised ..cooveevereenininiiniencnssreneesresennenee evvereenes (858,764) 23.03
Canceled ... e (200,716) 26.83 -
Outstanding at December 31, 2003 ........coceeeveeene. 3,847,185 35.87
Granted .......coocevevrverrinienrerreereeresresrsesseeeseseens 199,126 42.35
EXercised ..coverreninieiie e, (538,972) © 28.81
Canceled ..o (256,843) 42.51
Outstanding at December 31, 2004 ........coccevererenne. 3,250,496 36.84

Options for the purchase of 1,955,950 shares were exercisable at December 31, 2004 at a weighted-
average exercise price of $33.80, 1,471,102 shares were exercisable at December 31, 2003 at a weighted-
average exercise price of $30.33 and 1,528,341 shares were exercisable at December 31, 2002 at a
weighted-average exercise price of $24.17.
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For options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2004, the exercise price ranges and
average remaining lives were as follows:

Options outstanding. Options exercisable
Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
average average average
Number remaining exercise Number exercise
Range of exercise prices  outstanding life price exercisable __price
$16.00 t0 $32.99 .....cvnen. e 933,712 3.7 years $ 21.74 933,712 § 21.74
$33.00t0 $44.99 ...ovrrienennn 1,292,185 5.3 years 39.17 324,780 38.70
$45.00 t0 $47.67 ..oovveveenn 1,024,599 4.1 years 47.67 697,458 47.67
Total ... 3,250,496 4.5 years 36.34 1,955,950 33.80

Under our 2004 performance share grant, the level of shares earned is contingent upon attaining
specific performance targets over a three-year period. The fair value of the performance shares granted is
equal to the market price of our stock at the date of grant. Compensation expense is recorded over the three-
year performance period based on our estimate of the number of shares which will be earned by the award
recipients. Compensation expense of $0.4 million was recognized for these awards during 2004,

We also utilize restricted stock and restricted units when compensating employees. In addition to
those awards made under our stock incentive plan, officers may elect to receive a portion of their
compensation in the form of restricted stock. Compensation expense for these awards is recorded over the
applicable service period. We issued 70,819 restricted shares and restricted stock units at a weighted-
average fair value of $42.12 in 2004, 70,536 restricted shares and restricted stock units at a weighted-
average fair value of $39.49 in 2003 and 61,785 restricted shares and restricted stock units at a weighted-
average fair value of $45.52 in 2002. These awards generally vest over periods ranging from one to three
years. Compensation expense recognized for these issuances was $4.9 million in 2004, $1.0 million in
2003 and $2.8 million in 2002.

Profit sharing, defined contribution and 401(k) plans — We maintain a profit sharing plan, defined
contribution pension plans and plans established under section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code to provide
retirement benefits for certain employees. These plans cover substantially all full-time and some part-time
employees with at least 15 months of service. We also provide cash bonus programs which cover all
employees. " '

Contributions to the profit sharing and defined contribution plans are made solely by Deluxe and are
remitted to the plans’ respective trustees. Benefits provided by the plans are paid from accumulated funds
of the trusts. In 2004, 2003 and 2002, contributions to the defined contribution pension plan equaled 4% of
. eligible compensation. Contributions to the profit sharing plan vary based on the company’s performance.
Under the 401(k) plans, employees could contribute up to the lesser of $13,000 or 50% of eligible wages
during 2004. In addition, employees 50 years of age or older were able to make additional contributions of
up to $3,000 during 2004. During 2004 we sponsored two 401(k) plans and an employee savings plan
which covers our Canadian employees. We match 100% of the first 1% of wages contributed and 50% of
the next 4% of wages contributed by employees participating in the Deluxe 401(k) plan. We matched at
least 50% of the first 3% of wages contributed by employees participating in the NEBS 401(k) and the
Canadian employee savings plans. During 2005, the Deluxe and NEBS 401(k) plans will be merged. All
employee and employer contributions are remitted to the plans’ respective trustees and benefits provided
by the plans are paid from accumulated funds of the trusts. Payments made under the cash bonus programs
vary based on the company’s performance and are paid in cash directly to employees.

Employees are provided a broad range of investment options to choose from in investing their profit

sharing, defined contribution and 401(k) plan funds. Investing in Deluxe common stock is not one of these
options, although funds selected by employees may at times hold Deluxe common stock.
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Expense recognized in the consolidated statements of income for these plans was as follows (dollars
in thousands): ‘ . ‘

2004 2003 2002

Profit sharing/cash bonus plans............cccceccceeennnnenene. $ 28,709 § 12,102 $ 30,548
Defined contribution pension plan........c.cocecvcevervveverennenn. 8,066 8,228 8,925
AOT(K) PIAMLcreere e eereeeeeeessessseseeeresseeseesseseeereess s 7,880 - 4,922 4,933

Deferred compensation plan — We have a non-qualified deferred compensation plan that allows
eligible employees to defer a portion of their compensation. Participants can elect to defer up to a
maximum of 100 percent of their base salary plus up to 50 percent of their bonus for the year., The
compensation deferred under this plan is credited with earnings or losses measured by the mirrored rate of
return on investments elected by plan participants. Each participant is fully vested in all deferred
compensation and earnings. A participant may elect to receive deferred amounts in one payment or in
monthly installments upon termination of employment or disability. Our total liability under this plan was
$15.4 million as of December 31, 2004 and $9.0 million as of December 31, 2003. These amounts are
reflected in accrued liabilities and other long-term liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. We fund
this liability through investments in company-owned life insurance policies, as well as debt and equity
securities. These investments are included in long-term investments in the consolidated balance sheets and
totaled $17.7 million as of December 31, 2004 and $13.8 million as of December 31, 2003.

Voluntary employee beneficiary association trust — We have formed a voluntary employee
beneficiary association (VEBA) trust to fund employee and retiree medical and severance costs.
Contributions to the VEBA trust are tax deductible, subject to limitations contained in the Internal Revenue
_ Code. VEBA assets primarily consist of fixed income investments. We made contributions to the VEBA
trust of $40.5 million in 2004, $32.0 million in 2003 and $25.5 million in 2002. The excess of assets in our
VEBA trust over the amount of incurred but not reported claims was $16.2 million as of December 31,
2004 and $12.7 million as of December 31, 2003. This amount is reflected in other current assets in our
consolidated balance sheets. : ‘

Note 11: Pension and other post-retirement benefits

We have historically provided certain health care benefits for a large number of retired employees.
Employees included in the plan become eligible for benefits if they attain the appropriate years of service
and age while working for Deluxe. During 2002, we eliminated retiree health care benefits for all new
employees hired after December 31, 2001. During the fourth quarter of 2003, we amended our retirce
health care plan to further limit the number of employees eligible for benefits under the plan. In order to
receive the current level of benefits, employees must reach 20 years of service and 75 points (total of age
and years of service) prior to January 1, 2006. Employees reaching 20.years of service and 75 points
between January 1, 2006 and December 31, 2008 are eligible for the current level of benefits; however,
their premiums will not be reduced once they become eligible for Medicare as is currently the case.
Employees reaching 20 years of service and 75 points after December 31, 2008 must pay the full cost of
coverage if they elect to participate in our health care plan. As a result of this plan change, we recognized a
curtailment gain of $4.0 million during 2003. This gain is reflected as a reduction of cost of goods sold of
$1.4 million and a reduction of SG&A expense of $2.6 million in our 2003 consolidated statement of
income.

In addition to the changes in employee eligibility, we also enacted certain other plan amendments in
2003. These amendments encompassed such changes as increasing prescription drug plan co-payments,
" increasing deductibles and offering new consumer-driven insurance plans.

In December 2003, a law was enacted which introduced a prescription drug benefit under Medicare,

as well as a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree health care benefit plans that provide a benefit that is at
least actuarially equivalent to the Medicare plan. Our retiree medical plan does provide prescription drug
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coverage which is at least actuarially equivalent to the Medicare plan. Effective April 1, 2004, we began
reflecting the impact of this new law in our post-retirement benefit expense, utilizing the retroactive
application method outlined in FSP No. FAS 106-2, Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related fo
the Medicare Prescription Drug Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003. In accordance with this
accounting guidance, we completed a re-measurement of our plan assets and liabilities as of December 31,
2003. The federal subsidy provided for under the new Medicare law resulted in a $9.5 million reduction in
our accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation as of December 31, 2003 and resulted in a $1.0 miilion
. reduction in our post-retirement benefit expense in 2004.

NEBS also sponsors a plan which provides post-retirement health and dental care benefits for officers
and health and insurance benefits for certain employees of two NEBS subsidiaries, Safeguard Business
Systems, Inc.'and PremiumWear, Inc. As of the date of acquisition, the accumulated post-retirement benefit
obligation for these plans was $2.7 million.

In addition to our post-retirement benefit plans, NEBS has a supplemental executive retirement plan
(SERP) and a pension plan which covers certain Canadian employees. As of the date of our acquisition of
NEBS (see Note 4), the projected benefit obligation for-these plans was $14.2 million.

Obligations and funded status — The following table summarizes the change in benefit obligation
and plan assets during 2004 and 2003 (dollars in thousands):

Post-
retirement
medical Pension
: plans ‘plans
Benefit obligation, December 31, 2002 ......ccccevvveveene, $ 118,888 $ —
SELVICE COSL.uviiririirieriirreriiess e e nesevteaeevenvsnasnans e 2,556 —
TNLETESt COSL.uiiiiiniiiiiietece e e s 7,796 —
Actuarial 10SSeS —NEt........covvirurviirireciecniree e, 26,367 —
Plan amendments .......oe.vveeereiesieeienieceeseeeessesenens (11,500) —
Effect of curtailment .............ccooorvverrorerienrennsson (22,692) —
Benefits paid from the VEBA trust (see Note 10).... (10,234) —
Benefit obligation, December 31, 2003 .......c.ccvvvennnn, 111,181 —
Service coSt..vuvvrnnnnn. ettt e e 786 139
TNtETESE COStarrrireiiitieiier i ectrree e et e eanees 6,012 457
Actuarial 1088€5 ~NEL......ccooiviiiiiieiriececeeer e, ' 15,418 20
Acquisition of NEBS (see Note 4)......ccoocvvvvinerccnrenen. 2,743 14,231
Benefits paid from the VEBA trust (see Note 10)
and company funds ..., (9,267) (3,124)
Translation adjustment...............ccoceviieiiiineinns — 401
Benefit obligation, December 31, 2004 .......c..ccoeevevnen $ 126,873 $ 12,124
Fair value of plan assets, December 31, 2002 ............. $ 51318 $ —
Actual return on plan assets...........cocoveeineinn, 15,883 —
Fair value of plan assets, December 31,2003 ............. 67,201 —
Actual return (loss) on plan assets ..........ccoeeieeenenn . 9,315 (15)
Acquisition of NEBS (see Note 4)..c.occvvererenirvrenen - 2,454
Company contributions...........ccceveeveveircnncniscennen g — 4,022
Benefits and expenses paid....... et — (3,182)
Translation adjustment.........c.ccovenee. et - 297
Fair value of plan assets, December 31, 2004 ....... s $ 76,516 $ 3,576
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Plan assets of our post-retirement medical plans do not include the assets of the VEBA trust
discussed in Note 10. Plan assets consist only of those assets invested in a trust established under section
401(h) of the Internal Revenue Code. These assets can be used only to pay retiree medical benefits,
whereas the assets of the VEBA trust may be used to pay medical and severance benefits for both active
and retired employees.

The funded status of our plans as of December 31 was as follows (dollars in thousands):

Post-retirement medical Pension
plans plans

‘ 2004 2003 2004

Benefit obligation ........c.ccocveeevinreninnnns $ 126,873 § 111,181 $ 12,124
Less:
Fair value of plan assets (debt and -

EQUITY SECULTLIES ) 1.vruvirevererinnerriinrienes 76,516 67,201 3,576
Unrecognized prior service benefit...... (20,901) (23,551) —
Unrecognized net actuarial loss............ 92,505 87,370 185
Fourth quarter contributions................ 47 — 3,414
Translation adjustment.............lvccceceee — — 13

(Prepaid) accrued benefit cost ................ §  (21,294) § (19,839) $ 4,936

Of the $21.3 million prepaid benefit cost as of December 31, 2004, a liability of $0.8 million relates
to the PremiumWear apparel business. As this business is reported as discontinued operations (see Note 5),
this liability is included in non-current liabilities of discontinued operations in our consolidated balance
sheet. ‘

The unrecognized prior. service benefit for our post-retirement medical plans resulted from the 2003
curtailment and other plan amendments. These changes resulted in a reduction of the accumulated post-
retirement benefit obligation. This reduction is first used to reduce any existing unrecognized prior service
cost, then to reduce any remaining unrecognized transition obligation. The excess is the unrecognized prior
service benefit, which will be amortized on the straight-line basis over the average remaining service
period of employees expected to receive benefits under the plan, which is currently nine years.

The unrecognized net actuarial loss of our post-retirement medical plans results from experience
different from that assumed or from changes in assumptions. As of December 31, 2004, $31.5 million of
the unrecognized net actuarial loss resulted from changes in the discount rate assumption. This amount was
$30.2 million as of December 31, 2003. As of December 31, 2004, $28.8 million of the unrecognized net
actuarial loss resulted from changes in our assumed health care cost trend rate. This amount was $18.6
million as of December 31, 2003. Also as of December 31, 2004, $21.0 million of the unrecognized net
actuarial loss resulted from differences between our expected long-term rate of return on plan assets and
the actual return on plan assets. This amount was $23.9 million as of Decémber 31, 2003. Because this
assumption takes a long-term view of investment returns, there may be differences between the expected
rate of return and the actual rate of return on plan assets in the short-term. The remainder of the net
actuarial loss amount primarily related to differences between our assumed medical costs and actual
experience and changes in the employee population.
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Net pension and post-retirement benefit expense — Net pension and post-retirement benefit expense
for the years ended December 31 consisted of the following components (dollars in thousands):

Pension

Post-retirement benefit plans plans
2004 2003 2002 2004
SEIVICE COSE cvvvvvreiereierreeeeerereesrieseverenerns $ 786 .§. 2,556 § 1,876 $ 139
Interest COSt .ovvrrinnniiiaiiieirieeieee e 6,012 7,796 6,650 457
Expected return on plan assets ............. (6,376) (4,450) (5,588) (88)
Amortization of transition obligation ... — 419 421 —
Amortization of prior service (benefit) 4 ' :
COSE covrrerereecereetie et st rrrnaeenie e srnesraes (2,617) 362 362 —
Recognized amortization of net '
actuarial 10SSeS.....cocevviiiiieeiiiieecireee 7,345 4,082 1,917 —
Total periodic benefit expense.......... ‘ 5,150 10,725 5,638 508
Curtailment gain .........c..ccco.orvvvoereevirnns (33) (4,000) — —
Net periodic benefit expense ............ $ 5117 $ 6,725 § 5,638 $ 508

Actuarial assumptions — A September 30 measurement date is used for the calculations related to
our pension and post-retirement benefit plans.

In measuring benefit obligations as of December 31, the following assumptions were used:

: 2004 2003
DISCOUNT TAtE....vvieirire et 5.75% 6.00%

In measuring net periodic benefit expense for the years ended December 31, the following
assumptions were used:

Pension
Post-retirement medical plans plans
2004 2003 2002 2004
Discount rate ..........ccoeeveveenrerienvennennn, 6.00% 6.75% 7.25% 6.00%
Expected return on plan assets .......... 8.75% 8.75% 9.50% 6.00%

In determining the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets, we first study historical markets.
We then use this data to estimate future returns assuming that long-term historical relationships between
equity and fixed income investments are consistent with the widely accepted capital market principle that
assets with higher volatility generate a greater return over the long run. We evaluate current market factors
such as inflation and interest rates before we determine long-term capital market assumptions. We also
review historical returns to check for reasonableness and appropriateness.

In measuring benefit obligations and net periodic benefit expense for our post-retirement medical
plans, the following assumptions for health care cost trend rates were used:

2004 2003 2002

Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year..... 10.75% 9.25% 10.25%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to

decline (the ultimate trend rate).......ccoccvvvireecnenn, 5.25% 5.25% 5.00%

Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate ...... 2011 2009 ' 2008
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Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for health
care plans. A one-percentage-point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the
following effects (dollars in thousands):

One- One-
percentage- percentage-
___point increase ___point decrease
Effect on total of service and interest cost............... $ 914 $ 864
Effect on benefit obligation........cocevceervivrnecneenee, 15,896 14,126

Plan assets ~ The allocation of plan assets by asset category as of December 31 was as follows:

Post-retirement medical Pension
_plans plans
2004 2003 2004
Equity securities ........coovvivnnerniinnn 85% 83% 57%
Debt Securities ...oovvvevevivererenerinennane, 15% "17% 39%
Cash and cash equivalents................ — — 4%
Total oveveeeecceeree e 100% 100% 100%

Our original post-retirement health care plan and the defined benefit component of the Canadian
pension plan have assets that are intended to meet long-term obligations that extend for several decades. In
order to meet these obligations, we employ a total return investment approach using a mix of equity and
fixed income investments to maximize the long-term return for both of these plans within a prudent level of
risk. Risk tolerance is established through careful consideration of plan liabilities, plan fuhded status and
current corporate financial condition. Given the modest size of the defined benefit component of the
Canadian pension plan, a pooled balance fund is utilized for the investment of these assets.

Because of the long-term benefit payments horizon, we have set a target allocation for our post-
retirement health care which is biased toward equities securities. For the U.S. plan, our target is 80%
equity securities and 20% fixed income securities. Within equity securities, we target the following
allocation: 30% large capitalization equities, 20% small capitalization equities, 15% mid-capitalization
equities and 15% international equities. When available within each of these equity groups, the assets are
split equally among growth and value investments. A similar target allocation applies to the defined benefit
component of our Canadian pension plan. Within this plan, the following allocation ranges are targeted by
the investment manager: 20% to 45% Canadian equities, 25% to 50% Canadian fixed income securities,
15% to 35% global equities, and 0% to 20% cash and cash equivalents.

~ The investment of the assets of the defined benefit component of the Canadian pension plan
conforms to the Statement of Investment Policies & Procedures for the Canadian pension plan. The
pension committee that oversees the Canadian pension plan reviews and conforms the policy annually. The
target allocations were determined by modeling the risk/return trade-offs among asset classes utilizing
assumptions about expected annual return, expected volatility/standard deviation of returns and expected
correlations with all other asset classes. Plan assets are not invested in real estate, private equity or hedge
funds and are not leveraged beyond the market value of the underlying investments. Investment risk is
measured and monitored on an ongoing basis through quarterly investment portfolio reviews, annual
liability measurements and periodic asset/liability studies.

Cash flows — We are not contractually obligated to make contributions to post-retirement medical
plan assets, and we do not anticipate making any such contributions during 2004. However, we do
anticipate that we will pay benefits of $9.1 million during 2005 utilizing the assets of the VEBA trust (see
Note 10).

Prior to our acquisition of NEBS, the SERP was unfunded and the Canadian pension plan was
partially funded. During 2004, we fully funded the SERP obligation with investments in company-owned
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life insurance policies. The cash surrender value of these policies is included in long-term investments in
the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2004 and totaled $6.0 million. Also during 2004, we
made cash contributions of $6.7 million to pay benefits under the SERP plan, and we funded $0.7 million
to the Canadian pension plan. We plan to contribute additional cash of $1.0 million to these plans during
2005.

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected
to be paid during the years indicated (dollars in thousands):

Post-retirement medical plans Pension plans

Gross * Medicare Net
benefit subsidy benefit Gross benefit

payments expected payments payments

2005.....c.c.... $ 9,120 $ — $ 9,120 $ 597
2006............... 9,735 837 8,898 453
2007 ....ccovenne 10,382 . 893 9,489 475
2008............... 10,505 903 9,602 470
2009............... 10,717 922 9,795 477
2010-2014 ... 54,737 4,706 50,031 2,576

Note 12: Debt, other commitments and contingencies

Debt — Debt outstanding as of December 31 was as follows (dollars in thousands):

2004 2003

3.5% senior, unsecured notes due October 1, 2007, net of discount........ . $ 324815 h) —
5.0% senior, unsecured notes due December 15, 2012, net of discount... 298,494 298,304
5.125% senior, unsecured notes due October 1, 2014, net of discount..... 274,399 : —
2.75% senior, unsecured notes due September 15, 2006 ...........ccocevnan.e.. ) 50,000 50,000
Variable rate senior, unsecured notes due November 4, 2005 .................. — 25,000
Long-term portion of capital lease obligations ............cccouerervencirncnnnnne 6,140 7,316
Long-term portion 0f debt........cc.cccvrrrncniccsnieerre s 953,848 380,620
ComMErcial PAPET .....cvvevrerecrrerirere et ereesr e 264,000 213,250
Variable rate senior, unsecured notes due November 4, 2005 .................. 25,000 —
Capital lease obligations due within one year..... e 1,359 1,074
Total debt........coueeeee.. ettt ea ettt b et e b et e bt e b s et ea s st § 1,244,207 $ 394,944

In October 2004, we issued $325.0 million of 3.5% senior, unsecured notes maturing on October 1,
2007 and $275.0 million of 5.125% senior, unsecured notes maturing on October 1, 2014. The notes were
issued via a private placement under Rule 144A of the Securities Act of 1933. These notes were
subsequently registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) via a registration statement
which became effective on November 23, 2004. Interest payments dare due each April and October.
Principal redemptions on the three-year notes may not be made prior to their stated maturity. The notes
include covenants that place restrictions on the issuance of additional debt that would be senior to the notes
and the execution of certain sale-leaseback agreements. The notes were issued at a discount from par value.
The resulting discount of $0.8 million is being amortized ratably as an increase to interest expense over the
terms of the notes. Proceeds from the offering, net of offering costs, were $595.5 million. These proceeds
were used to pay off commercial paper borrowings used for the acquisition of NEBS (see Note 4). The fair

- market value of these notes was $582.4 million as of December 31, 2004, based on quoted market prices.
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In December 2002, we issued $300.0 million of 5.0% senior, unsecured notes maturing on
December 15, 2012. These notes were issued under our shelf registration statement covering up to $300.0
million in medium-term notes, thereby exhausting that registration statement. Interest payments are due
each June and December. Principal redemptions may be made at our election prior to their stated maturity.
The notes include covenants that place restrictions on the issuance of additional debt that would be senior
to the notes and the execution of certain sale-leaseback agreements. The notes were issued at 99.369% of
pat value. The resulting discount of $1.9 million is being amortized ratably as an increase to interest
expense over the ten-year term of the notes. Proceeds from the offering, net of offering costs, were $295.7
million. These proceeds were used for general corporate purposes, including funding share repurchases,
capital asset purchases and working capital. The fair value of these notes was $295.6 million at December
31, 2004, based on quoted market prices.

In September 2003, we issued $50.0 million of 2.75% senior, unsecured notes maturing on
September 15, 2006. The notes were issued under a shelf registration statement which became effective on
July 8, 2003 and allows for the issuance of debt securities, from time to time, up to an aggregate of $500.0
million. Interest payments are due each March and September. Principal redemptions may be made at our
election prior to their stated maturity. The notes include covenants that place restrictions on the issuance of
additional debt that would be senior to the notes and the execution of certain sale-leaseback agreements.
Proceeds from the offering, net of offering costs, were $49.8 million. These proceeds were used for general
corporate purposes, including funding share repurchases, capital asset purchases and working capital. The
fair value of these notes was $49.4 million at December 31, 2004, based on quoted market prices.

In November 2003, we issued $25.0 million of variable rate, senior, unsecured notes maturing on
November 4, 2005. The notes were issued under the July 8, 2003 shelf registration statement. Interest
payments are due each February, May, August and November at an annual interest rate equal to the 3-
month London InterBank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus .05%. This interest rate is reset on a quarterly basis.
Principal redemptions may be made at our election prior to their stated maturity. The notes include
covenants that place restrictions on the issuance of additional debt that would be senior to the notes and the
execution of certain sale-leaseback agreements. Proceeds from the offering were $25.0 million. These
proceeds were used for general corporate purposes, including funding share repurchases, capital asset
purchases and working capital. The fair value of these notes was estimated to be $24.8 million at December
31, 2004, based on a broker quote.

Our capital lease obligations bear interest at rates of 7.2% to 10.4% and are due through 2009. We
have also entered into operating leases on certain facilities and equipment. Future minimum lease payments
under our capital obligations and noncancelable operating leases as of December 31, 2004 were as follows
(dollars in thousands):

Capital Operating
leases leases

2005 oo 5. 2,067 ©$ 10,571
2006 .o et 1,938 7,520
2007 e s 2,008 2,373
2008 ..ottt 2,004 1,055
2009 ... 1,503 504
2010 and thereafter.........coocerviiieeiiecnne, — 277

Total minimum lease payments ................... ' 9,520 $ 22,300
Less portion representing interest.................. (2,021)

Present value of minimum lease payments.. 7,499
Less current portion .........o.veeveeneenenieceenenes (1,359)

Léng-term portion of obligation................... 3 6,140 .

Total future minimum lease payments under capital and noncancelable operating leases have not
been reduced by minimum sublease rentals due in the future under noncancelable subleases. As of




December 31, 2004, minimum sub-lease rentals related to capital leases were $5.0 million and $3.0 million
was related to operating leases. :

The composition of rental expense for continuing operations for the years ended December 31 was
as follows (dollars in thousands): :

) 2004 2003 2002

Minimum rentals ......ccoveeeieveireneercre e, $ 14,786  $ 8,832 $ 10,195
Sublease rentals.........cccoverveivcverinnire e (1,647) (1,397) (1,321)

Net rental eXpense....oecvevvrverrerrerereenennn, $ 13,139 § 7,435 $ 3,874

Depreciation of the assets under capital leases is included in depreciation expense in the
consolidated statements of cash flows. The balance of leased assets as of December 31 was as follows
(dollars in thousands): ' :

2004 2003

Buildings and building improvements................. $ 11,574 $ 11,574

Machinery and equipment........co.ccevervnicererins , 734 —

Totalcoerroververreen e 12,308 11,574
Accumulated depreciation................... eerereeeenennas (7,100) (5,653)

Net assets under capital leases .........c.coeuune. $ 5,208 3 5,921

As of December 31, 2004, we had a $500.0 million commercial paper program in place. The daily
average amount of commercial paper outstanding during 2004 was $344.7 million at a weighted-average
interest rate of 1.59%. As of December 31, 2004, $264.0 million was outstanding at a weighted-average
interest rate of 2.45%. The daily average amount of commercial paper outstanding during 2003 was $149.4
million at a weighted-average interest rate of 1.15%. As of December 31, 2003, $213.3 million was
outstanding at a weighted-average interest rate of 1.11%.

During 2004, we also utilized a bridge financing agreement to initially fund a portion of the NEBS
acquisition. The daily average amount outstanding under this bridge financing agreement during 2004 was
$62.3 million at a weighted-average interest rate of 2.07%. During the third quarter of 2004, we utilized
commercial paper borrowings to pay-off the bridge financing agreement. This agreement was terminated
during the fourth quarter of 2004. : '

We also have committed lines of credit which primarily support our commercial paper program. We

“have a 364-day line of credit for $100.0 million which expires in July 2005 and carries a commitment fee of
ten basis points (.10%). We also have two five-year lines of credit. One five-year line of credit is for $175.0
million and expires in August 2007. The other line of credit is for $225.0 million and expires in July 2009.
Both five-year lines of credit carry commitment fees of 12.5 basis points (.125%). The credit agreements
governing the lines of credit contain customary covenants regarding the ratio of earnings before interest and
taxes (EBIT) to interest expense and levels of subsidiary indebtedness. No amounts were drawn on these lines
of credit during 2004 or during 2003, and no amounts were outstanding under these lines of credit as of
December 31, 2004.
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To the extent not needed to support outstanding commercial paper or letters of credit, we may borrow
funds under our committed lines of credit. As of December 31, 2004, $232.0 million was available under our
committed lines of credit for borrowing or for support of additional commercial paper, as follows (dollars in
thousands):

Tota{l Expiration
available date
364-day line of credit ......c.ccovvvnvinnninninnn, $ 100,000 July 2005
Five year line of credit .......ocoecuverevrnnnincn, 175,000  August 2007
Five year line of credit ........cccocovercrerneenne, 225,000 July 2009
Total committed lines of credit ............ .. 500,000
Commercial paper outstanding ................. (264,000)
Letters of credit outstanding ..................... (3,989)
Net available for borrowing as of ‘
December 31,2004 ........ccoovcenrernnnen, $ 232,011

We also have an uncommitted bank line of credit for $50.,O million available at variable interest rates.
No amounts were drawn on this line of credit during 2004 or during 2003, and no amounts were outstanding
under this line of credit as of December 31, 2004. ’

Absent certain defined events of default under our committed credit facilities, there are no
significant contractual restrictions on our ability to pay cash dividends.

Indemnifications — In the normal course of business we periodically enter into agreements that
incorporate general indemnification language. These indemnifications encompass such items as intellectual
property rights, governmental regulations and/or employment-related matters. Performance under these
indemnities would generally be triggered by a breach of terms of the contract or by a third-party claim.
There have historically been no material losses related to such indemnifications, and we do not expect any
material adverse claims in the future. "

Environmental matters — We are currently involved in environmental compliance, investigation and
remediation activities at some of our current and former sites, primarily check printing facilities of our
Financial Services segment which have been sold over the past several years. Remediation costs are
accrued on an undiscounted basis when the obligations are either known or considered probable and can be
reasonably estimated. Remediation or testing costs that result directly from the sale of an asset, and which
we would not have otherwise incurred, are considered direct costs of the sale of the asset. As such, they are
included in our assessment of the carrying value of the asset.

Accruals for environmental matters were $7.8 million as of December 31, 2004 and $7.7 million as
of December 31, 2003, and primarily related to facilities which have been sold. These accruals are included
in accrued liabilities and other long-term liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. Accrued costs
consist of direct costs of the remediation activities, primarily fees which will be paid to outside engineering
and consulting firms. Although recorded accruals include our best estimates, our total costs cannot be
predicted with certainty due to various factors such as the extent of corrective action that may be required,
evolving environmental laws and regulations and advances in environmental technology. Where the
available information is sufficient to estimate the amount of the liability, that estimate is used. Where the
information is only sufficient to establish a range of probable liability and no point within the range is more
likely than any other, the lower end of the range is used. We do not believe that the range of possible
outcomes could have a material effect on ourfinancial condition, results of operations or liquidity.

As of December 31, 2004, all costs included in our environmental accruals are covered by an
environmental insurance policy which we purchased during 2002. As such, we do not anticipate any
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significant net cash outlays with regard to environmental matters. The insurance policy covers pre-existing
conditions from third-party claims and cost overruns for 30 years at owned, leased and divested sites, as
well as any new conditions discovered at currently owned or leased sites for ten years. The policy is limited
to total costs incurred of $22.9 million. We consider the realization of recovery under the insurance policy
to be probable based on the insurance contract in place with a reputable and financially-sound insurance

.company. As we expect all costs included in our environmental accruals to be reimbursed by the insurance

company and our environmental accruals include our best estimates of these costs, we have recorded
receivables from the insurance company within other current assets and other non-current assets in
amounts equal to our environmental accruals.

Litigation — We are a party to legal actions and claims arising in the ordinary course of business and
have recorded SG&A expense within the appropriate business segment when the expected outcome of
these matters is either known or considered probable and can be reasonably estimated. Qur accruals do not
include related legal and other costs expected to be incurred in defense of legal actions. Based upon
information presently available, we believe that our accruals for these routine actions and claims are
adequate. Although recorded accruals include our best estimates, we cannot predict the resolution of these
matters with certainty. We believe, however, that it is unlikely that any identified matters, either
individually or in the aggregate, will have a material adverse effect on our annual results of operations,
financial position or liquidity.

Note 13: Common stock purchase rights

On February 5, 1988, we declared a distribution to shareholders of record on February 22, 1988, of
one common stock purchase right for each outstanding share of common stock. These rights were governed
by the terms and conditions of a rights agreement entered into as of February 12, 1988. That agreement
was amended and restated as of January 31, 1997 and further amended as of January 21, 2000 (Restated
Agreement).

Pursuant to the Restated Agreement, upon the occurrence of certain events, each right will entitle the
holder to purchase one share of common stock at an exercise price of $150. In certain circumstances
described in the Restated Agreement, if (i) any person becomes the beneficial owner of 15% or more of the
company’s common stock, (i1) the company is acquired in a merger or other business combination or (iii)
upon the occurrence of other events, each right will entitle its holder to purchase a number of shares of
common stock of the company, or the acquirer or the surviving entity if the company is not the surviving
corporation in such a transaction. The number of shares purchasable will be equal to the exercise price of
the right divided by 50% of the then-current market price of one share of common stock of the company, or
other surviving entity (i.e., at a 50% discount), subject to adjustments provided in the Restated Agreement.
The rights expire January 31, 2007, and may be redeemed by the company at a price of $.01 per right at
any time prior to the occurrence of the circumstances described above.

Note 14: Shareholders’ deficit

We are in a shareholders” deficit position primarily as a result of the required accounting treatment
for our share repurchase programs. Share repurchases are reflected as reductions of shareholders’ equity in the
consolidated balance sheets. Under the laws of Minnesota, our state of incorporation, shares which we
repurchase are considered to be authorized and unissued shares. Thus, share repurchases are not presented as a
separate treasury stock caption in our consolidated balance sheets, but are recorded as direct reductions of
additional paid-in capital and retained earnings.

In January 2001, our board of directors approved a plan to purchase up to 14 million shares of our
common stock. These repurchases were completed in June 2002 at a cost of $463.8 million. In August
2002, our board of directors approved the repurchase of an additional 12 million shares. These repurchases
were completed in September 2003 at a cost of $503.2 million. In August 2003, the board authorized the
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repurchase of up to 10 million additional shares of our common stock. Through December 31, 2004, 2. 1
million of these additional shares had been repurchased at a cost of $85.0 million.

Note 15: Business segment information

We operate three business segments: Small Business Services, Financial Services and Direct Checks.

Our Small Business Services segment consists of the newly acquired NEBS business (see Note 4), as well as
our former Business Services segment. Small Business Services sells checks, forms and related products to
small businesses and home offices through direct response marketing, financial institution referrals, sales

. representatives, independent distributors and the Internet. Financial Services sells checks, related products and
check merchandising services to financial institutions. Direct Checks sells checks and related products directly
to consumers through direct mail and the Internet. All three segments operate primarily in the United States.
Small Business Services also has operations in Canada. No single customer accounted for more than 10% of
revenue in 2004, 2003 or 2002.

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in Note 1. Corporate
expenses are allocated to our segments based on segment revenues. No corporate expenses have been
allocated to the NEBS portion of our Small Business Services segment, as NEBS operations have not yet been
integrated into our corporate functions. The corporate allocation includes expenses for various support
activities such as executive management, human resources and finance and includes depreciation and
amortization expense related to corporate assets. The corresponding corporate asset balances are not allocated
to the segments. Corporate assets consist primarily of cash, deferred tax assets, investments and internal-use
software related to corporate activities.

‘We are an integrated enterprise, characterized by substantial intersegment cooperation, cost
allocations and the sharing of assets. Therefore, we do not represent that these segments, if operated
independently, would report the operating income and other financial information shown. k

The following is our segment information for the years ended December 31 (dollars in thousands):

Reportable business segments

Small
Business Financial Direct

Services Services Checks Corporate Consolidated
Revenue from external customers: 2004... $ 616,345 $§ 665,373 8 285297 § — 3 1,567,015
' 2003 .... 238,625 699,250 - 304,266 — 1,242,141
- 2002.... 210,726 762,391 310,866 ¢ 1,283,983
Operating income: 2004..... 101,910 159,986 86,016 — 347,912
2003 .... 74,123 146,711 98,087 — 318,921
2002.... 65,319 189,151 90,461 — 344,931

Depreciation and amortization :
expense: 2004 .... 40,303 43,753 9,800 — 93,856
2003 .... 5,588 46,028 8,466 — 60,082
2002.... 4,402 46,151 7,652 — 58,205
Total assets: 2004 .... 995,460 224,637 135,739 143,243 1,499,079
2003.... 33,513 273,098 147,308 109,041 ' 562,960
2002.... 36,542 282,617 140,023 209,791 668,973
Capital purchases: 2004.... 2,914 7,923 2,689 30,291 43,817
' 2003.... 1,749 10,697 3,323 6,265 22,034
2002.... . 4,979 29,401 3,49 2,832 ‘ 40,708
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Revenue by product was as follows (dollars in thousands):

2004 2003 2002

Checks and related services ..........oevenenee, $ 1,187,178 $ 1,108,880 $ 1,144,605
Other printed products .............cecovevererernnce. 116,632 21,276 20,262
Accessories and promotional products ....... 263,205 111,985 119,116
Total TEVENUE ....covveeerererrireeeerrrineerererenens § 1,567,015 $ 1,242,141 $ 1,283,983

We had no international operations in 2003 or 2002. The following information for 2004 is
classified based on the geographic location of our subsidiaries (dollars in thousands):

Revenue from external customers:
United States.......cccovvivieeorenesercnrerreensen e U
FOTCIZN .oviniiiiiiceenecie ettt et
TOtal TEVENUE ...c.vviceiiriiciee v ein e

Long-lived assets:
United StAtes ......covvviiirireiecrs oo
FOreign . .ooviiiiiiiininie e st
Total long-lived assets .........cocecveeincerinciiiencceiiinnn

$

1,536,717

30,298

$

$
$

1,567,015

1,239,471
19,222

1,258,693
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DELUXE CORPORATION

SUMMARIZED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)
(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

2004 Quarter Ended :
March 31 June 30 September 30 December 3
REVEIUC ..ot ees e rsnens $ 308,832 $ 309,068 $ 472,199 $ 476,916
GrOSS PIOfit....ccoveereceereeereeesieseneeserseesi e 201,946 206,444 310,436 312,240
NEE INCOME oot erer et 47,662 45,988 57,5050 46,836
Earnings per share: , ‘
BASIC evreeereeeeeee et enen 0.95 0.92 1.150 0.93
DIIUEd oo 0.94 0.91 1.140 0.92
Cash dividends per share............cooevernee. 0.37 0.37 0.37 0.37
2003 Quarter Ended
' March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
Revenue.......ovnen.... ettt ettt $ 317,199 $ 309,556. $ 314,869 $ 300,517
GIOSS PrOfil...ceveomrecreeresreerieerseeessenesenens 207,375 202,838 208,895 197,068
NEt TACOME evorvvereiereeeeeee e eeeeere v isenenes 49,979 44,893 T 58,182@ 39,418®
Earnings per share: ‘ 4
BASIC cvvvvereee e, < 0.84 0.81 1.10% 0.78%
DIIEE oo, 0.83 0.80 1.09? 0.77®

Cash dividends per share.............ccevvevenne, 0.37 037" : 0.37 0.37

() 2004 third quarter results include revenue of $7.7 million from a contract buy-out, as well as a reduction in cost of
goods sold of $2.2 million related to a change from the last-in, first-out method to the first-in, first-out method of
accounting for a portion of our inventories.

2003 third quarter results include the reversal of $7.3 million of previously established income tax reserves.

2003 fourth quarter results include asset impairment charges of $4.7 million related to manufacturing technologies
and software investments and restructuring charges of $9.0 million related to the planned closing. of two Financial
Services check printing facilities and reductions in other employees within Financial Services and our corporate
support group. Results also include a curtailment gain of $4.0 million resuiting from changes made to our retiree health
care plan.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure. -

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures — As of the end of the period covered by this report (the
Evaluation Date), we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of
management, including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the
design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the 1934 Act)). Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer
and the Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of the Evaluation Date, our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or
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submit under the 1934 Act is recorded, processed, summarlzed and reported within the time periods specified
in applicable rules and forms.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting — The management of Deluxe
Corporatlon is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internial control over financial
reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or
detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to
the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2004. In making this assessment, it used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control — Integrated Framework. Based on
this assessment we have concluded that, as of December 31, 2004, our internal control over financial reporting
was effective based on those criteria.

Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal controls over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2004 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent reglstered public
accounting firm, as stated in their report which appears herein.

Management has excluded New England Business Service, Inc. (NEBS) from its assessment of
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 because we acquired NEBS in a purchase
business combination during 2004. NEBS is a wholly-owned subsidiary whose total assets and total
revenues represent 64.3% and 23.2%, respectively, of the related consolidated financial statement amounts
as of and for the year ended December 31, 2004.

Item 9B. Other Information.
No change in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with our
assessment during the quarter ended December 31, 2004, has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to

materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Managemient’s assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005 will
include NEBS. :
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PART II1

Except where otherwise noted, the information required by Items 10 through 14 is incorporated by
reference from our definitive proxy statement, to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
within 120 days of our fiscal year-end, with the exception of the executive officers section of Item 10,
which is included in Part I, Ttem 1 of this report.

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant.

See Part I, Item 1 of this report “Executive Officers of the Registrant.” The sections of the proxy
statement entitled “Item 1: Election of Directors,” “Board Structure and Governance—Audit Committee
Expertise; Complaint Handling Procedures,” “Board Structure and Governance—Meetings and
Committees of the Board of Directors—Audit Committee,” “Stock Ownership and Reporting—Section
16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance™ and “Board Structure and Governance—Code of
Ethics and Business Conduct” are incorporated by reference to this report.

The full text of our Code of Ethics and Business Conduct (Code of Ethics) is posted on the Investor
Relations page of our website at www.deluxe.com under the “Corporate Governance” caption. We intend
to satisfy the disclosure requirement under Item 10 of Form 8-K regarding an amendment to, or waiver
from, a provision of the Code of Ethics that applies to the Company’s principal executive officer, principal
financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller or persons performing similar functions by
posting such information on our website at the address and location specified above.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The sections of the proxy statement entitled “Compensation of Executive Officers—Summary
Compensation Table,” “Compensation of Executive Officers—Stock Options,” “Compensation of
Executive Officers—Long-Term Incentive Awards,” “Board Structure and Governance—Director
Compensation” and “Compensation of Executive Officers—Retention Agreements, Severance Agreements
and Change of Control Arrangements” are incorporated by reference to this report.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related
Stockholder Matters.

The section of the proxy statement entitled “Stock Ownership and Reporting—Security Ownership
of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management™ is incorporated by reference to this report.

90




The following table provides information concerning all of our equity cdmpensation plans as of
December 31, 2004:

Equity Compensation Plan Information -
' Number of securities
remaining available
for future issuance

Number of securities under equity
to be issued upon Weighted-average compensation plans
exercise of exercise price of (excluding securities
outstanding options,  outstanding options,  reflected in the first
Plan category - warrants and rights. "warrants and rights column)
"Equity compensation plans :
approved by shareholders 3,291,401 $36.38 - 9,483,303
Equity compensation plans not ‘
approved by shareholders None "~ None None
Total 3,291,401 $36.38 9,483,303

) Includes awards granted under our 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended, and our previous stock
incentive plan, adopted in 1994. The number of securities to be issued upon exercise of outstanding
options, warrants and rights includes outstanding stock options of 3,250,496 and restricted stock
unit awards of 40,905, .

@ Includes 4,719,979 shares reserved for issuance under our Amended and Restated 2000 Employee
Stock Purchase Plan. Of this total, 3,282,967 shares remain available, in the aggregate, for grants
of restricted stock, restricted stock units and performance awards under our 2000 Stock Incentive
Plan. ; '

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.

Not applicable.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

The sections of the proxy statement entitled “Fiscal Year 2004 Audit and Independent Auditors—
Fees Paid to Independent Auditors™ and “Fiscal Year 2004 Audit and Independent Auditors—Policy on
Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Independent Auditor Fees and Services” are incorporated by reference
to this report. ' '
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PARTIV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) Financial Statements and Schedules

The financial statements are set forth under Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Financial
statement schedules have been omitted since they are either not required or not applicable, or the required
information is shown in the consolidated financial statements or notes.

 (b) Exhibit Listing

The following exhibits are filed as part of or are incorporated in this report by reference:

Exhibit - Method of
Number Description _ Filing
1.1 Purchase Agreement, dated September 28, 2004, by and among us and J.P. *

Morgan Securities Inc. and Wachovia Capital Markets, LLC, as
representatives of the several initial purchasers listed in Schedule 1 of the
Purchase Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on October 4, 2004)

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of May 17, 2004, by and among us, *
Hudson Acquisition Corporation and New England Business Service, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit (d)(1) to the Deluxe Corporation
Schedule TO-T filed with the Commission on May 25, 2004)

3.1 Articles of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to the Annual Report on *
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1990)

32 Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Quarterly Report on *
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 1999)

4.1 Amended and Restated Rights Agreement, dated as of January 31, 1997, by o
and between us and Norwest Bank Minnesota, National Association, as
Rights Agent, which includes as Exhibit A thereto, the form of Rights
Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Amendment No. 1 on
Form 8-A/A-1 (File No. 001-07945) filed with the Commission on February
7, 1997)

4.2 Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Rights Agreement, entered into *
as of January 21, 2000, between us and Norwest Bank Minnesota, National
Association as Rights Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to
Amendment No. 1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended June 30, 2000)

4.3 First Supplemental Indenture dated as of December 4, 2002, by and between *
us and Wells Fargo Bank Minnesota, N.A. (formerly, Norwest Bank
Minnesota, National Association), as trustee (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 to the Form 8-K filed with the Commission on December 5, 2002)
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4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

4.11

10.1

Indenture, dated as of April 30, 2003, by and between us and Wells Fargo
Bank Minnesota, N.A. (formerly Norwest Bank Minnesota, National
Association), as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.8 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-104858) filed with
the Commission on April 30, 2003) '

Credit Agreement dated as of August 19, 2002, among us, Bank One, N.A. as
administrative agent, The Bank of New York as syndication agent, Wachovia
Bank, N.A. as documentation agent and the other financial institutions party
thereto, related to a $175,000,000 5-year revolving credit agreement
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002)

Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of July 22, 2004 among us, Bank One,
NA as administrative agent, Credit Suisse First Boston as Syndication Agent,
The Bank of New York, the Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi, Ltd., and Wachovia
Bank, National Association as documentation agents and the other financial
institutions party thereto, related to a $100,000,000 364-day revolving credit
agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.8 to the Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2004)

Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of July 22, 2004 among us, Bank One,
NA as administrative agent, Credit Suisse First Boston as Syndication Agent,
The Bank of New York, the Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi, Ltd., and Wachovia
Bank, National Association as documentation agents and the other financial
institutions party thereto, related to a $225,000,000 5-year revolving credit
agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.9 to the Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2004)

Form of Officer’s Certificate and Company Order authorizing the 2007
Notes, series B (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.7 to the Registration
Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 333-120381) filed with the
Commission on November 12, 2004)

Specimen of 3% senior notes due 2007, series B (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 4.8 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No.
333-120381) filed with the Commission on November 12, 2004)

Form of Officer’s Certificate and Company Order authorizing the 2014
Notes, series B (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.9 to the Registration
Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No. 333-120381) filed with the
Commission on November 12, 2004)

Specimen of 5 1/8% notes due 2014, series B (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.10 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Registration No.
333-120381) filed with the Commission on November 12, 2004)

Deluxé Corporation 2004 Annuél Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 2004)**
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10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

- 10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

Deluxe Corporation 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, as Amended (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q) for the

~ quarter ended June 30, 2002)**

Amended and Restated 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2001)**

Deluxe Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan (2001 Restatement)
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2001)**

First Amendment of the Deluxe Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan
(2001 Restatement) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Form S-8
filed January 7, 2002)**

Second Amendment to the Deluxe Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan
(2001 Restatement) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002)**

Deluxe Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan Trust (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Form S-8 filed January 7, 2002)**

Deluxe Corporation Executive Deferred Compensation Plan for Employee
Retention and Other Eligible Arrangements (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.24 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 2000)**

Deluxe Corporation Supplemental Benefit Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit (10)(B) to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1995)** ’

First Amendment to the Deluxe Corporation Supplemental Benefit Plan
(2001 Restatement) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001)**

Description of modification to the Deluxe Corporation Non-Employee
Director Retirement and Deferred Compensation Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 1997)**

" Description of Non-employee Director Compensation Arrangements,

effective as of January 1, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on January 3,
2005)**

Form of Severance Agreement entered into between Deluxe and the
following executive officers: Ronald E. Eilers, Anthony C. Scarfone,
Richard L. Schulte, Douglas J. Treff, Wamer F. Schlais, Guy C. Feltz,
Katherine L. Miller, Stuart Alexander and Luann Widener (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year

. ended December 31, 2000)**
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10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21
| 10.22
10.23
12.1
211
231
24.1
31.1

312

Power of Attorney

Severance Agreement entered into effective March 1, 2001 between Deluxe
and Lawrence J. Mosner (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000)**

Executive Retention Agreement between Deluxe and Lawrence J. Mosner
dated April 2, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2001)**

Transition Agreement between Deluxe and Lawrence J. Mosner dated March
7, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the Commission on March 10, 2005)**

Form of Executive Retention Agreement entered into between Deluxe and the

- following executive officers: Lawrence J. Mosner, Ronald E. Eilers, Anthony

C. Scarfone, Richard L. Schulte, Douglas J. Treff, Warner F. Schlais, Guy C.
Feltz and Luann Widener (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000)**

Form of Agreement for Awards Payable in Restricted Stock Units
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the Commission on January 28, 2005)**

Form of Non-employee Director Ndn-qualiﬁed Stock Option Agreement**
Form of Non-employee Director Restricted Stock Award Agreement**
Form of Non-qualified Stock Option Agreement**

Form of Performance Award Agreement**

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement**

Statement re: Computation of Ratios

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

CEO Certification of Periodic Report pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

CFO Certification of Periodic Report pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Filed
herewith

Filed
herewith

Filed
herewith

Filed
herewith

Filed
herewith

Filed
herewith

Filed
herewith

Filed
herewith

Filed
herewith

Filed
herewith

Filed
herewith
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32.1 CEO and CFO Certification of Periodic Report pursuant to Section 906 of the  Furnished
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 v _ herewith

*Incorporated by reference

**Denotes compensatory plan or management contract

Note to recipients of Form 10-K: Copies of exhibits will be furnished upon written request and
payment of reasonable expenses in furnishing such copies.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly

authorized. .
N

DELUXE CORPORATION

Date: March 16, 2605 » By: _/s/ Lawrence J. Mosner
Lawrence J. Mosner
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by
the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated on March 16, 2005.

Signature Title
By /s/ Lawrence J. Mosner Chief Executive Officer
Lawrence J. Mosner (Principal Executive Officer)
By _/s/Douglas J. Treff ' Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Douglas J. Treff , (Principal Financial Officer) '
By _/s/ Katherine L. Miller Vice President, Controller and Chief Accounting Officer
Katherine L. Miller : (Principal Accounting Officer)
*
Ronald E. Eilers Director
%
T. Michael Glenn v " Director
* .
Charles A. Haggerty Director
*
Isaiah Harris, Jr. Director
*
William A. Hawkins, III Director
*
Cheryl Mayberry McKissack Director
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*

Stephen P. Nachtsheim

*

Mary Ann O’Dwyer

*

Martyn R. Redgrave -

%

Robert C.-Salipante

*By: /s/ Lawrence J. Mosner

Lawrence J. Mosner
Attorney-in-Fact

Director

Director

Director

Director
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EXHIBIT INDEX

The following exhibits are filed as part of this report:

Exhibit

Number
10.19
10.20
10.21

10.22

10.23
12.1
21.1
23.1
24.1
31.1

31.2

321

Page
Description Number
Form of Non-employee Director Non-qualified Stock Option Agreement
Form of Non-employee Director Restricted Stock Award Agreement
Form of Non-qualified Stock Option Agreement
Form of Performance Award Agreement
Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement
Statement re: Computation of Ratios
Subsidiaries of the Registrant
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouhtin’g Firm
Power of Attorney

CEO Certification of Periodic Report pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

CFO Certification of Periodic Report pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

CEO and CFO Certification of Periodic Report pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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Quarterly stock data

The chart below shows the per share closing price ranges for the
Company's common stock for the past two fiscal years as quoted on
the New York Stock Exchange.

Quarter-End
Stock Price High Low Close
2004
Quarter 4 §42.20 $36.02 $37.33
Quarter 3 45.09 39.95 41.02
Quarter 2 43.60 40.05 43.50
Quarter 1 42.91 38.47 40.10
2003
Quarter 4 §42.21 $38.51 $41.33
Quarter 3 48.10 39.89 40.14
Quarter 2 48.46 40.00 44.80
Quorter ] 42.52 35.14 40.13

Stock exchange
Deluxe Corporation common stock is traded on the DLX

New York Stock Exchange under the symbol DLX.

Required Mings NYSE

We have submitted the required Annual CEQ

Certification to the New York Stock Exchange; and filed as exhibits to
the 10-K, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer certi-
fications required by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Ad.

Annual meeting

Shareholders are invited to attend Deluxe’s annual shareholder
meeting on Wednesday, April 27, 2005. It will be held in the Deluxe
headquarters building, 3680 North Victoria St., Shoreview, Minn. a
2:00 p.m.

Form 10-K avaflable
A complete copy of the Form 10-K annual report the Company files
with the SEC is posted on the Company’s Web site,
hitp://www.deluxe.com, or may be obtained without charge by send-
ing a written request to:

Stuart Alexander

Vice President, Investor Relations and Public Affairs

Deluxe Corporation

PO. Box 64235

St. Paul, MN 55164-0235

(651) 483-7358

Shareholder ingquiries
Requests for additional information should be sent to corporate head-
quarters to the attention of Stuart Alexander ot the above address.

Executive offices :
Street address: Mailing address:

3680 North Victoria Street PO. Box 64235
Shoreview, MN 55126-2966 St. Paul, MN 55164-0235
(651) 483-711"

L4

Stock ownership and record keeping

- Wells Fargo

Shareowner Services

Street address: Mailing address:

161 N. Concord Exchange  PO. Box 64854

St. Paul, MN 55075 St. Paul, MN 55164-0854

(800) 468-9716 www.wellsfargo.com/shareownerservice
(651) 450-4064

Planned dates for quarterly earnings releases
April 28, July 28, October 27 (2005); January 26 (2006)

Acguiring information

You can find the latest company press releases regarding financial
results, dividend news, and other information about Deluxe, as well
as the annual report, 10-K, 10-Q, proxy statement, and other SEC fil-
ings on the Web site, htfp://www.deluxe.com. To request printed ver-
sions of these same materials, call (651) 483-7358.

Deluxe Web sites
www.deluxe.com
www.deluxeforms.com
www.checksunlimited.com
www.designerchecks.com
www.delforms.com
www.nebs.com
www.checks.com
www.chiswick.com
www.russellandmiller.com
www.premiumwear.com
www.nebs.ca

Forward-looking statements

Statements made in this report concerning the Company’s or man-
agement's intentions, expectations, or predictions about future result
or events are “forward looking statements” within the meaning of th
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such statements
reflect management’s current expectations or beliefs, and are subject
to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual future results to dif-
fer materially from those projected. Additional information about
various factors that could cause actual results to differ from those pre
sented are contained in the Company’s annual report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2004, which has been filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission and is posted on our Web site,
www.deluxe.com.



